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Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is not contained herein, and will not 
be contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any 
amendment to this Form 10-K.     �  

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting company. See the 
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):  
   

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).     Yes   �     No     
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necessarily a conclusive determination for other purposes.  

As of January 31, 2014, there were approximately 33.0 million shares of the Registrant’s Common Stock outstanding.  
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Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

MARIN SOFTWARE INCORPORATED  
FORM 10-K  

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2013  
TABLE OF CONTENTS  

   
          Page   
PART I.       1    

Item 1.     Business      1    
Item 1A.     Risk Factors      8    
Item 1B.     Unresolved Staff Comments      27    
Item 2.     Properties      27    
Item 3.     Legal Proceedings      27    
Item 4.     Mine Safety Disclosures      27    

PART II.       27    
Item 5.     Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities      27    
Item 6.     Selected Financial Data      29    
Item 7.     Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations      32    
Item 7A.     Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk      52    
Item 8.     Financial Statements and Supplementary Data      53    
Item 9.     Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure      53    
Item 9A.     Controls and Procedures      54    
Item 9B.     Other Information      54    

PART III.       54    
Item 10.     Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance      54    
Item 11.     Executive Compensation      54    
Item 12.     Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters      55    
Item 13.     Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence      55    
Item 14.     Principal Accountant Fees and Services      55    

PART IV.       55    
Item 15.     Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules      55    

   Index to Consolidated Financial Statements      F-1    
Signatures        



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations,” contains forward-looking statements regarding future events and our future results that are subject to the safe harbors created under 
the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. All statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K other than 
statements of historical fact, including statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position, our business strategy and 
plans, and our objectives for future operations, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 1995. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” and similar expressions are intended 
to identify forward-looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections 
about future events and trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short-term and long-
term business operations and objectives, and financial needs. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties 
and assumptions, including those described in the “Risk Factors” section. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing 
environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor can we assess the impact of all 
factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those 
contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the future events and trends 
discussed in this report may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-
looking statements. We undertake no obligation to revise or publicly release the results of any revision to these forward-looking statements, 
except as required by law. Given these risks and uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking 
statements.  

As used in this report, the terms “Marin,” “Registrant,” “we,” “us,” “our,” and “the Company” mean Marin Software Incorporated and its 
subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise.  
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PART I  
   

We provide a leading cloud-based digital advertising management platform that enables advertisers and agencies to improve the 
performance of their online advertising campaigns.  

Our Revenue Acquisition Management platform is an analytics, workflow, and optimization solution for marketing professionals, enabling 
them to effectively manage digital advertising campaigns across search, display, social and mobile. With our platform, customers can:  
   

   

   

Our platform is integrated with leading publishers such as Baidu, Bing, Facebook, Google, Yandex and Yahoo! Japan. Additionally, we 
have integrations with more than 30 leading web analytics and ad-serving solutions, and key enterprise applications, enabling our customers to 
more accurately measure the return on investment of their marketing programs.  

Our software platform serves as a system-of-record for advertising performance, sales and revenue data, allowing advertisers to connect 
the dots between advertising spend and revenue outcomes. Through an intuitive interface, we enable our customers to simultaneously run large-
scale digital advertising campaigns across multiple publishers and channels, making it easy for marketers to create, publish, modify and optimize 
campaigns in real time.  

Our predictive bid management and optimization technology also allows advertisers to forecast outcomes and optimize campaigns across 
multiple publishers and channels to achieve their business goals. Our optimization technology enables advertisers to easily and rapidly increase 
ad spend on those campaigns, publishers and channels that are performing well while reducing investment in those that are not. This category of 
solutions, which we refer to as Revenue Acquisition Management, enables businesses to intelligently and efficiently measure, manage, and 
optimize their digital advertising spend to achieve desired business results.  

Headquartered in San Francisco, we were founded in 2006. The mailing address of our headquarters is 123 Mission Street, 25th Floor, San 
Francisco, California 94105 and our telephone number at that location is (415) 399-2580. Today our customers collectively manage more than 
$6 billion in annualized ad spend on our platform, making us the largest independent digital advertising management solution.  

Benefits of our Solution  

Our Revenue Acquisition Management platform helps advertisers improve their ability to acquire customers and revenue by optimizing 
their digital advertising campaigns.  

Business Benefits  

Financial lift . The combination of optimized digital ad campaigns, workflow efficiencies and better decision making enables our 
customers to increase volume of revenues or leads, gain higher profits, improve advertising return on investment, and lower costs of customer 
acquisition.  

Efficiencies and time savings . Utilizing our software solution, customers are able to automate manual and time-intensive tasks such as 
reporting, analysis, campaign creation and bidding, allowing advertisers to focus on campaign strategy, expansion and optimization.  
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

  •   measure the effectiveness of their advertising campaigns through our proprietary reporting and analytics capabilities; 

  •   manage and execute campaigns through our intuitive user interface and underlying technology that streamlines and automates key 
functions, such as ad creation and bidding, across multiple publishers and channels; and 

  •   optimize campaigns across multiple publishers and channels in real time based on market and business data to achieve desired 
revenue outcomes using our predictive bid management technology. 
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Better business decision making.  Our Revenue Acquisition Management platform enables advertisers to manage campaigns to focus on 
higher order business objectives, such as profit margin, and quickly filter and compare large data sets to uncover valuable insights and improve 
business outcomes.  

Key Strengths  

Robust and flexible integration.  Our Revenue Acquisition Management platform enables marketers to aggregate and analyze key data 
from large-scale digital advertising campaigns and related business information systems. This allows marketers to create a system-of-record that 
can be used to reliably attribute revenue to specific programs, understand the purchase path, and assess customer lifetime value.  

Big data analytics.  Advertisers often have to manually parse through large data sets to uncover opportunity and waste in their digital 
programs. We provide sophisticated analytics capabilities, which enables advertisers to quickly and programmatically review large data sets, 
identify outliers and trends, and take appropriate action.  

Real-time, cross-publisher campaign management.  Our software solution enables customers to simultaneously run large-scale digital 
advertising campaigns across multiple publishers and channels, making it easy for marketers to create, publish, modify and optimize campaigns 
in real time using a single interface.  

Predictive bid management and optimization.  Our bid management technology allows marketers to optimize campaigns across multiple 
publishers and channels to achieve their business goals, such as increasing revenues or decreasing the cost per lead or cost per customer 
acquired. Advertisers can also forecast and adjust outcomes using our predictive bidding technology.  

Intuitive interface offering visibility and control.  Our intuitive interface is designed to simplify the daily workflow requirements of online 
marketers, including managing multiple campaigns, performing real-time analytics and collaborating with multi-user teams.  

Experienced team committed to customer success.  With offices in nine countries, we have a global team experienced in both digital 
advertising and enterprise software, enabling us to effectively meet the needs of large and sophisticated advertisers.  

Scalable cloud-based architecture.  We deliver our cloud-based platform using a purpose-built technology foundation designed to support 
enterprise-scale data sets and transaction volumes. Our technology allows customers to aggregate, store and process large amounts of data while 
maintaining high levels of application availability and responsiveness.  

Offered Solutions  

Our cloud-based digital advertising management platform enables our customers to measure, manage and optimize their digital marketing 
campaigns to improve performance of their online advertising campaigns, realize efficiencies and time savings, and make better business 
decisions. We currently offer two editions of our platform that leverage the same underlying technology.  
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  •   Enterprise Edition . Targeting large advertisers and agencies, Marin Enterprise is designed to provide digital advertisers with the 
power, scale and flexibility required to manage large-scale advertising campaigns. 

  •   Professional Edition . Targeting mid-market advertisers and agencies, Marin Professional is designed for rapid deployment and 
offers customers a complete workflow, analysis and optimization solution for managing digital advertising. 
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Marin’s Revenue Acquisition Management Platform – Product Schematic  
   

  

Our software platform is comprised of the following modules:  

Optimization . Our Optimization module helps advertisers manage bids across publishers to meet revenue goals and identify opportunities 
for campaign improvements leading to improved financial performance and efficiencies. Key capabilities of our Optimization module include:  
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•   Predictive Bidding.  Our predictive bid management solution allows advertisers to calculate bids across any number of ad units, 

including ads with little or no data, using statistical methods. Users can set business level goals, such as meeting a given return on 
advertising investment, and bids can be optimized down to a granular ad unit level. 

  
•   Multi-Event Conversion . Many online advertisers have multi-step purchase funnels where an online user might first fill out a lead 

form and then make a purchase. We provide advertisers the flexibility to measure multiple conversion events, and calculate discrete 
bids based on the value of each event in the conversion funnel. 

  
•   Revenue Attribution.  A customer purchasing a product online may have been exposed to digital ads across search, social, display and 

mobile, making revenue attribution difficult. Our Optimization module enables advertisers to accurately attribute revenue across 
multiple channels, leading to deeper insights and better bidding outcomes. 

  
•   Financial Forecasting.  Our Optimization module enables advertisers to run what-if scenarios so they can change their bidding 

strategies or budget allocations, and understand the impact on the overall program. 
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Reporting and Analytics . Our Reporting and Analytics module enables advertisers to report results at a business level and analyze cross-
channel performance trends, leading to improved visibility and significant time savings. Key capabilities of our Reporting and Analytics module 
include:  
   

   

   

   

Campaign Management .  Our Campaign Management module provides the digital advertiser with a unified interface to create, manage 
and optimize campaigns across a broad range of publishers, leading to greater efficiencies and increased flexibility. Key capabilities of our 
Campaign Management module include:  
   

   

   

   

Connect .  Our Connect module helps advertisers automate and streamline their ability to capture revenue, cost and audience data from a 
range of sources such as ad servers, analytics systems, CRM platforms, publishers and third party databases. Through proprietary integrations 
across multiple data sources, our Connect module enables advertisers to have a holistic picture of their digital advertising campaigns leading to 
financial lift and time savings. Key capabilities of our Connect module include:  
   

   

   

Technology & Supporting Platform  

We designed our cloud-based platform to support large global advertisers. The majority of our software is written in Java. Our hardware 
consists of industry-standard servers and network infrastructure. Our standard  
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  •   Executive Dashboards.  Our dashboards provide an at-a-glance view of digital campaign performance with key performance 
indicators (KPIs), such as conversions, revenue or profits, as well as performance and budget trends. 

  •   Automated Reporting and Alerts.  Users can set up automated reports to simplify reporting and analysis workflows, including triggers 
that notify advertisers when key metrics vary outside of optimal ranges. 

  •   Dimension Reporting.  Advertisers can tie digital campaigns to higher-level constructs such as business lines, product categories and 
geographic regions, resulting in clear visibility into business level metrics and KPIs, such as the profitability of a product category. 

  
•   Cross-Channel Analysis . Our cross-channel analysis capabilities enable advertisers to understand the consumer path to purchase, 

leading to better insights into channel performance and the value of cross-channel advertising. 

  •   Cross-Publisher Editing.  Allows advertisers to create and edit campaigns, creative, bids, and budgets in bulk across publishers and 
accounts. 

  •   Audience Targeting . Allows advertisers to target specific audiences across a variety of dimensions such as age, gender, region, 
interests, device and the social graph. 

  •   Creative Optimization . Enables advertisers to test ad copy, images, and landing pages to identify combinations that maximize 
revenue outcomes. 

  
•   Campaign Expansion . Provides users with unique insights to rapidly grow marketing programs through ad unit expansion workflow 

and automated generation of new campaigns based on client defined rules. 

  •   Revenue Connect . With Revenue Connect, performance marketers can see into their purchase funnels, bridge offline sales to online 
advertising, and optimize to customer lifetime value. 

  
•   Audience Connect . Powered by our partner ecosystem, Audience Connect, combines an advertiser’s first party data with thousands 

of attributes of audience data such as purchase intent, demographics and behavioral insights, enabling advertisers to build customer-
centric programs across all digital marketing channels 

  
•   Channel Connect . Using Channel Connect, advertisers can incorporate data from multiple publishers, including new and smaller 

publisher networks into our platform thereby gaining a single source from which to measure performance, track revenue, and 
optimize bidding. 



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

operating system is Linux. Our software platform is character-set, language, currency, and time-zone independent. Our technology platform has 
the following key benefits:  

Scalability . Our software platform is designed to handle billions of ad units across thousands of advertisers, while delivering a responsive 
browsing and editing experience. As the number of advertisers and resulting computing and storage requirements grow, we can add hardware to 
the platform to accommodate growing demand. We believe the hardware we use is available from multiple sources and hence we do not expect 
to have any temporal delays, or sourcing challenges. Further, we do not expect any liquidity or capital limitations that would materially impact 
our ability to scale our platform.  

Availability . Our customers are highly dependent on the availability of our platform, which is designed to be available 24x7, 365 days a 
year. We operate our own hardware and use third-party data centers that offer server redundancy, back-up communications and power and 
physical security.  

Security . Our software platform manages a large quantity of customer data. We employ technologies, policies and procedures to protect 
customer data. Our third-party data center has SSAE 16 attestations.  

Customers  

We market and sell our solutions to advertisers directly and through advertising agencies that use our platform on behalf of their 
customers. Advertisers that we serve through our relationships with agencies have historically represented about half our revenues. There were 
no customers that accounted for greater than 10% of our revenues in 2013, 2012 or 2011.  

Competition  

The digital advertising platform market is highly competitive, fragmented, and subject to changes in both technology and customer 
behavior. We face significant competition today and expect competition to intensify in the future. To maintain and improve our competitive 
position, we must keep pace with the evolving needs of our customers and continue to develop and introduce new modules, features and services 
in a timely and efficient manner.  

We currently compete with large, well-established companies, such as Adobe Systems Incorporated and Google Inc. (through its wholly-
owned subsidiary DoubleClick), and privately-held companies, such as Acquisio Inc., which focuses solely on agencies, and Kenshoo Ltd. We 
also compete with in-house proprietary tools and custom solutions, including spreadsheets.  

We believe the principal competitive factors in our market include the following:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Our ability to remain competitive will largely depend on our ongoing performance in the areas of our solution breadth and customer 
support.  
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  •   solution quality, breadth, flexibility and functionality; 

  •   tangible platform benefits; 

  •   level of customer satisfaction and our ability to respond to customer needs rapidly; 

  •   breadth and quality of advertiser and agency relationships; 

  •   ability to innovate and develop new or improved products and modules; 

  •   ability to respond to changes in publishers’  application program interfaces, or APIs; 

  •   brand awareness and reputation; and 

  •   size of customer base. 
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Sales and Marketing  

We sell our solutions directly to advertisers and to agencies in a wide range of industries through our global sales team. Our sales cycle can 
vary substantially by advertiser and agency, but typically is one to nine months. We have a number of account executive sales teams organized 
by geography and market segments. We also have account managers who are responsible for long-term customer satisfaction and retention, 
renewal, and driving the expansion of the use of our platform.  

Our marketing team is focused on driving awareness and demand generation across major markets. This team provides thought leadership 
in the form of white papers, benchmarking reports, bylines, presenting at industry conferences and speaking to the press. In addition, they are 
responsible for the creation of field enablement assets such as case studies, blog posts and corporate collateral.  

Research and Development  

Innovation is key to our success. Our research and development team is responsible for the design, development, and maintenance of our 
platform. Our research and development process emphasizes frequent, iterative and incremental development cycles, and we typically release 
new features every month. Within the research and development team, we have several highly aligned, independent sub-teams comprised of six 
to twelve team members that focus on particular feature sets of our solutions. Each of these sub-teams includes engineers, quality assurance 
specialists and product managers responsible for the initial and ongoing development of each sub-team’s feature sets. Total research and 
development expense was $20.7 million, $14.0 million and $7.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.  

Employees  

As of December 31, 2013, we had a total of 500 regular full-time employees, including 154 employees located outside the United States. 
None of our employees is represented by a labor union or covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We have not experienced any work 
stoppages, and we consider our relations with our employees to be good.  

Intellectual Property  

Our intellectual property rights are a key component of our success. We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright, unfair 
competition and trade secret laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions, to establish, maintain and protect our 
proprietary rights.  

As of December 31, 2013, we had two issued patents and two patent applications pending in the United States.  

We own and use trademarks on or in connection with our products and services, including one trademark registered with the European 
Union and Australia and unregistered common law marks and pending trademark applications in the United States, China, Japan and Singapore. 
We have also registered numerous Internet domain names.  

Available Information  

The mailing address of our headquarters is 123 Mission Street, 25th Floor, San Francisco, California 94105 and our telephone number at 
that location is (415) 399-2580. Our website is www.marinsoftware.com. Through a link on the Investor Center section of our website, we make 
available the following filings as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”): our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and any 
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange  
   

6  



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

Act of 1934. All such filings are free of charge. The information posted to our website is not incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
The public may read and copy any materials that we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, 
DC 20549. The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC 
also maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file 
electronically with the SEC at www.sec.gov.  
   

7  



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including those described below, which could adversely 
affect our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial conditions, and the trading price of our common stock.  

Risks Related to Our Business  

We have a history of losses and we may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future.  

We have incurred significant losses in each fiscal year since our incorporation in 2006. We experienced net losses of $35.9 million during 
2013. As of December 31, 2013, we had an accumulated deficit of $113.2 million. The losses and accumulated deficit were due to the substantial 
investments we made to grow our business and acquire customers. We anticipate that our cost of revenues and operating expenses will increase 
substantially in the foreseeable future as we continue to invest to grow our business and acquire customers and develop our platform and new 
functionality. These efforts may prove more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in increasing our revenues 
sufficiently to offset these higher expenses. Many of our efforts to generate revenues from our business are new and unproven, and any failure to 
increase our revenues or generate revenues from new solutions could prevent us from attaining or increasing profitability. Furthermore, to the 
extent we are successful in increasing our customer base, we could also incur increased losses because costs associated with entering into 
customer contracts are generally incurred up front, while customers are billed over the term of the contract generally through our usage-based 
pricing model. We do not expect to be profitable in 2014 and we cannot be certain that we will be able to attain profitability on a quarterly or 
annual basis, or if we do, that we will sustain profitability.  

Our limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate our current business and future prospects.  

Although we began our operations in March 2006, we did not begin generating substantial revenues until 2009. Our limited operating 
history may make it difficult to evaluate our current business and our future prospects. We have encountered and will continue to encounter risks 
and difficulties frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly developing and changing industries, including challenges in forecasting 
accuracy, determining appropriate investments of our limited resources, market acceptance of our existing and future solutions, competition from 
established companies with greater financial and technical resources, acquiring and retaining customers, managing customer deployments and 
developing new solutions. Our current operations infrastructure may require changes in order for us to achieve profitability and scale our 
operations efficiently. For example, we may need to automate portions of our solution to decrease our costs, ensure our marketing infrastructure 
is designed to drive highly qualified leads cost effectively and implement changes in our sales model to improve the predictability of our sales 
and reduce our sales cycle. If we fail to implement these changes on a timely basis or are unable to implement them due to factors beyond our 
control, our business may suffer. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in addressing these and other challenges we may face in the 
future.  

Our usage-based pricing model makes it difficult to forecast revenues from our current customers and future prospects.  

We have a usage-based pricing model where most of our fees are calculated as a percentage of customers’ advertising spend managed on 
our platform. This pricing model makes it difficult to accurately forecast revenues because our customers’ advertising spend managed by our 
platform may vary from month to month based on the variety of industries in which our advertisers operate, the seasonality of those industries 
and fluctuations in our customers’ advertising budgets or other factors. Our contracts with our direct advertiser customers generally contain a 
minimum monthly fee, which is generally greater than one-half of our estimated monthly revenues from the customer at the time the contract is 
signed, and, as a result, the monthly minimum may not be a good indicator of our revenues from that customer. In addition, advertisers that use 
our platform through our agency customers typically do not have a minimum monthly spend amount or a minimum term during which they must 
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use our platform and, as a result, the ability to forecast revenues from these advertisers is difficult. Additionally, if we overestimate usage, we 
may incur additional expenses in adding infrastructure, without a commensurate increase in revenues, which would harm our gross margins and 
other operating results.  

The market for digital advertising management solutions is relatively new and dependent on growth in various digital advertising 
channels. If this market develops more slowly or differently than we expect, our business, growth prospects and financial condition would be 
adversely affected.  

The market for digital advertising management solutions such as ours is relatively new and these solutions may not achieve or sustain high 
levels of demand and market acceptance. While search and display advertising has been used successfully for several years, marketing via new 
digital advertising channels such as mobile and social media is not as well established. The future growth of our business could be constrained 
by both the level of acceptance and expansion of emerging digital advertising channels, as well as the continued use and growth of existing 
channels, such as search and display advertising. Even if these channels become widely adopted, advertisers and agencies may not make 
significant investments in solutions such as ours that help them manage their digital advertising spend across publisher platforms and advertising 
channels. It is difficult to predict customer adoption rates, customer demand for our platform, the future growth rate and size of the digital 
advertising management solutions market or the entry of competitive solutions. Any expansion of the market for digital advertising management 
solutions depends on a number of factors, including the growth of the digital advertising market, the growth of social and mobile as advertising 
channels and the cost, performance and perceived value associated with digital advertising management solutions. If digital advertising 
management solutions do not achieve widespread adoption, or there is a reduction in demand for digital advertising caused by weakening 
economic conditions, decreases in corporate spending or otherwise, it could result in reduced usage, which could decrease revenues or otherwise 
adversely affect our business.  

If we are unable to maintain our relationships with, and access to, publishers, our business will suffer.  

We currently depend on relationships with various publishers, including Baidu, Bing, Criteo, Facebook, Google, Yandex and Yahoo! 
Japan . Our subscription services interface with these publishers’ platforms through APIs, such as the Google AdWords API. We are subject to 
the publishers’ standard API terms and conditions, which govern the use and distribution of data from these publishers’ platforms. Our business 
significantly depends on having access to these APIs, particularly the Google AdWords API, which the substantial majority of our customers 
use, on commercially reasonable terms and our business would be harmed if any of these publishers discontinue or limit access to their 
platforms, modify their terms of use or other policies or place additional restrictions on us as API users, or charge API license fees for API 
access. Moreover, some of these publishers, such as Google, market competitive solutions for their platforms. Because the publishers control 
their APIs, they may develop competitive offerings that are not subject to the limits imposed on us through the API terms and conditions. 
Currently, restrictions in these API agreements limit our ability to implement certain functionality, require us to implement functionality in a 
particular manner or require us to implement certain required minimum functionality, causing us to devote development resources to implement 
certain functionality that we would not otherwise include in our subscription services and to incur costs for personnel to provide services to 
implement functionality that we are prohibited from automating. Publishers update their API terms of use from time to time and new versions of 
these terms could impose additional restrictions on us. In addition, publishers continually update their APIs and may update or modify 
functionality, which requires us to modify our software to accommodate these changes and to devote technical resources and personnel to these 
efforts which could otherwise be used to focus on other priorities. Any of these outcomes could cause demand for our products to decrease, our 
research and development costs to increase, and our results of operations and financial condition to be harmed.  

Our growth depends in part on the success of our relationships with advertising agencies.  

Our future growth will depend, in part, on our ability to enter into successful relationships with advertising agencies. Identifying agencies 
and negotiating and documenting relationships with them requires significant time  
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and resources. These relationships may not result in additional customers or enable us to generate significant revenues. Our contracts for these 
relationships are typically non-exclusive and do not prohibit the agency from working with our competitors or from offering competing services. 
We generally bill agencies for their customers’ use of our platform, but the agency’s customer has no direct contractual commitment to make 
payment to us. Furthermore, some of these agency contracts include provisions whereby the agency is not liable for making payment to us for 
our subscription services if the agency does not receive a corresponding payment from its client on whose behalf the subscription services were 
rendered. These provisions may result in longer collections periods or our inability to collect payment for some of our subscription services. If 
we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our relationships with these agencies on commercially reasonable terms, or if these 
relationships are not profitable for us, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenues could be impaired and our operating 
results would suffer.  

We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.  

The overall market for digital advertising management solutions is rapidly evolving, highly competitive, complex, fragmented, and subject 
to changing technology and shifting customer needs. We face significant competition in this market and we expect competition to intensify in the 
future. We currently compete with large, well-established companies, such as Adobe Systems Incorporated and Google Inc. (through its wholly-
owned subsidiary DoubleClick), and privately-held companies, such as Acquisio Inc., which focuses solely on agencies, and Kenshoo Ltd. We 
also compete with in-house proprietary tools and custom solutions, including spreadsheets. Increased competition may result in reduced pricing 
for our solutions, longer sales cycles or a decrease of our market share, any of which could negatively affect our revenues and future operating 
results and our ability to grow our business.  

A number of competitive factors could cause us to lose potential sales or to sell our solutions at lower prices or at reduced margins, 
including, among others:  
   

   

   

   

We cannot assure you that we will be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors. If we cannot compete 
successfully, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be negatively impacted.  

Our business depends on our customers’ continued willingness to manage advertising spend on our platform.  

In order for us to improve our operating results, it is important that our customers continue to manage their advertising spend on our 
platform, increase their usage and also purchase additional solutions from us. In the case of our direct advertiser customers, we offer our 
solutions primarily through subscription contracts and generally bill customers over the related subscription period, which is generally one year 
or longer. During the term of their contracts, our direct advertiser customers generally have no obligation to maintain or increase their 
advertising spend on our platform beyond a specified minimum monthly fee, which is typically set at the time the contract is  
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  •   potential customers may choose to develop or continue to use internal solutions rather than paying for our solutions or may choose to 
use a competitor’s solution that has different or additional technical capabilities; 

  •   companies may enter our market by expanding their platforms or acquiring a competitor; 

  
•   some of our competitors, such as Adobe and Google, have greater financial, marketing and technical resources than we do, allowing 

them to leverage a larger installed customer base, adopt more aggressive pricing policies, and devote greater resources to the 
development, promotion and sale of their products and services than we can; and 

  •   companies marketing search, social, display, mobile or web analytics services could bundle digital advertising management solutions 
or offer such products at a lower price as part of a larger product sale. 
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signed and is generally greater than half of the monthly amount we anticipate the customer will spend. Our direct advertiser customers have no 
renewal obligation after the initial or then-current renewal subscription period expires, and even if customers renew contracts, they may decrease 
the level of their digital advertising spend managed through our platform, resulting in lower revenues from that customer. Advertisers that we 
serve through our arrangements with our advertising agencies generally do not have any contractual commitment to use our platform. Our 
customers’ usage may decline or fluctuate as a result of a number of factors, including, but not limited to, their satisfaction with our platform and 
our customer support, the frequency and severity of outages, the pricing of our, or competing, solutions, the effects of global economic 
conditions and reductions in spending levels or changes in our customers’ strategies regarding digital advertising. Due to our limited historical 
experience, we may not be able to accurately predict future usage trends. If our customers renew on less favorable terms or reduce their 
advertising spend on our platform, our revenues may grow more slowly than expected or decline.  

We incur upfront costs associated with onboarding advertisers to our platform and may not recoup our investment if we do not maintain the 
advertiser relationship over time.  

Our operating results may be negatively affected if we are unable to recoup our upfront costs for onboarding new advertisers to our 
platform. Upfront costs when adding new advertisers generally include sales commissions for our sales force, expenses associated with entering 
customer data into our platform and other implementation-related costs. Because our customers, including direct advertisers and agencies, are 
billed over the term of the contract, if new customers sign contracts with short initial subscription periods and do not renew their subscriptions, 
or otherwise do not continue to use our platform to a level that generates revenues in excess of our upfront expenses, our operating results could 
be negatively impacted. In cases in which the implementation process is particularly complex, the revenues resulting from the customer under 
our contract may not cover the upfront investment, so if a significant number of these customers do not renew their contracts, it could negatively 
affect our operating results.  

Because we generally bill our customers over the term of the contract, near term decline in new or renewed subscriptions may not be 
reflected immediately in our operating results.  

Most of our revenues in each quarter are derived from contracts entered into with our customers during previous quarters. Consequently, a 
decline in new or renewed subscriptions in any one quarter may not be fully reflected in our revenues for that quarter. Such declines, however, 
would negatively affect our revenues in future periods and the effect of significant downturns in sales and market acceptance of our solutions, 
and potential changes in our rate of renewals or renewal terms, may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future periods. In 
addition, we may be unable to adjust our cost structure rapidly, or at all, to take account of reduced revenues. Our subscription model also makes 
it difficult for us to rapidly increase our total revenues through additional sales in any period, as revenues from new customers must be earned 
over the applicable subscription term based on the value of their monthly advertising spend.  

We have been dependent on our customers’ use of search advertising. Any decrease in the use of search advertising or our inability to 
further penetrate mobile, social and display advertising channels would harm our business, growth prospects, operating results and financial 
condition.  

Historically, our customers have primarily used our solutions for managing their search advertising, including mobile search advertising, 
and the substantial majority of our revenues are derived from advertisers that use our platform to manage their search advertising. We expect that 
search advertising will continue to be the primary channel used by our customers for the foreseeable future. Should our customers lose 
confidence in the value or effectiveness of search advertising, the demand for our solutions may decline. In addition, our failure to achieve 
market acceptance of our solution for the management of mobile, social and display advertising spend would harm our growth prospects, 
operating results and financial condition.  
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Our sales cycle can be long and unpredictable and require considerable time and expense, which may cause our operating results to 
fluctuate.  

The sales cycle for our solutions, from initial contact with a potential lead to contract execution and implementation, varies widely by 
customer, but is typically one to nine months. Some of our customers undertake a significant evaluation process that frequently involves not only 
our solutions but also those of our competitors, which has in the past resulted in extended sales cycles. Our sales efforts involve educating our 
customers about the use, technical capabilities and benefits of our platform. In addition, under certain circumstances, we sometimes offer an 
initial term, typically of a few months in duration, to new customers who may terminate their subscription at any time during this initial period 
before the fixed term contract commences. We have no assurance that the substantial time and money spent on our sales efforts will produce any 
sales. If our sales efforts result in a new customer subscription, the customer may terminate its subscription during the initial period, after we 
have incurred the expenses associated with entering the customer’s data in our platform and related training and support. If sales expected from a 
customer are not realized in the time period expected or not realized at all, or if a customer terminates during the initial period, our business, 
operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected.  

Material defects or errors in our software platform could harm our reputation, result in significant costs to us and impair our ability to sell 
our subscription services.  

The software applications underlying our subscription services are inherently complex and may contain material defects or errors, which 
may cause disruptions in availability, misallocation of advertising spend or other performance problems. Any such errors, defects, disruptions in 
service or other performance problems with our software platform could negatively impact our customers’ businesses or the success of their 
advertising campaigns and cause harm to our reputation. If we have any errors, defects, disruptions in service or other performance problems 
with our software platform, customers could elect not to renew or reduce their usage or delay or withhold payment to us, which could result in an 
increase in our provision for doubtful accounts or an increase in the length of collection cycles for accounts receivable. Errors, defects, 
disruptions in service or other performance problems could also result in customers making warranty or other claims against us, our giving 
credits to our customers toward future advertising spend or costly litigation. As a result, material defects or errors in our platform could have a 
material adverse impact on our business and financial performance.  

The costs incurred in correcting any material defects or errors in our software platform may be substantial and could adversely affect our 
operating results. After the release of new versions of our software, defects or errors may be identified from time to time by our internal team 
and by our customers. We implement bug fixes and upgrades as part of our regularly scheduled system maintenance. If we do not complete this 
maintenance according to schedule or if customers are otherwise dissatisfied with the frequency and/or duration of our maintenance services, 
customers could elect not to renew, or delay or withhold payment to us, or cause us to issue credits, make refunds or pay penalties.  

We derive our revenues from a single software platform and any factor adversely affecting subscriptions to our platform could harm our 
business and operating results.  

We derive our revenues from sales of a single software platform. As such, any factor adversely affecting subscriptions to our platform, 
including product release cycles, market acceptance, product competition, performance and reliability, reputation, price competition, and 
economic and market conditions, could harm our business and operating results.  

We primarily use a single third-party data center to deliver our services . Any disruption of service at this facility could harm our business.  

We manage a significant portion of our services and serve substantially all of our customers from a single third-party data center facility. 
While we control the actual computer, network and storage systems upon which  
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our platform runs, and deploy them to the data center facility, we do not control the operation of the facility. The owner of the facility has no 
obligation to renew the agreement with us on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. If we are unable to renew the agreement on commercially 
reasonable terms, we may be required to transfer to a new facility or facilities, and we may incur significant costs and possible service 
interruption in connection with doing so.  

The facility is vulnerable to damage or service interruption resulting from human error, intentional bad acts, earthquakes, hurricanes, 
floods, fires, war, terrorist attacks, power losses, hardware failures, systems failures, telecommunications failures and similar events. Moreover, 
while we have a disaster recovery plan in place, we do not maintain a “hot failover” instance of our software platform permitting us to 
immediately switch over in the event of damage or service interruption at our data center . The occurrence of a natural disaster or an act of 
terrorism, any outages or vandalism or other misconduct, or a decision to close the facility without adequate notice or other unanticipated 
problems could result in lengthy interruptions in our services.  

Any changes in service levels at the facility or any errors, defects, disruptions or other performance problems at or related to the facility 
that affect our services could harm our reputation and may damage our customers’ businesses. Interruptions in our services might reduce our 
revenues, subject us to potential liability, or result in reduced usage of our platform. In addition, some of our customer contracts require us to 
issue credits for downtime in excess of certain levels and in some instances give our customers the ability to terminate their subscriptions.  

We also depend on third-party Internet-hosting providers and continuous and uninterrupted access to the Internet through third-party 
bandwidth providers to operate our business. If we lose the services of one or more of our Internet-hosting or bandwidth providers for any reason 
or if their services are disrupted, for example due to viruses or “denial-of-service” or other attacks on their systems, or due to human error, 
intentional bad acts, power loss, hardware failures, telecommunications failures, fires, wars, terrorist attacks, floods, earthquakes, hurricanes, 
tornadoes or similar events, we could experience disruption in our ability to offer our solutions or we could be required to retain the services of 
replacement providers, which could increase our operating costs and harm our business and reputation.  

If we cannot efficiently implement our solutions for customers, we may lose customers.  

Our customers have a variety of different data formats, enterprise applications and infrastructure and our platform must support our 
customers’ data formats and integrate with complex enterprise applications and infrastructures. If our platform does not currently support a 
customer’s required data format or appropriately integrate with a customer’s applications and infrastructure, then we may choose to configure 
our platform to do so, which would increase our expenses . Additionally, we do not control our customers’ implementation schedules. As a 
result, as we have experienced in the past, if our customers do not allocate internal resources necessary to meet their implementation 
responsibilities or if we face unanticipated implementation difficulties, the implementation may be delayed. Further, in the past, our 
implementation capacity has at times constrained our ability to successfully implement our solutions for our customers in a timely manner, 
particularly during periods of high demand. If the customer implementation process is not executed successfully or if execution is delayed, we 
could incur significant costs, customers could become dissatisfied and decide not to increase usage of our platform, not to use our platform 
beyond an initial period prior to their term commitment and revenue recognition could be delayed. In addition, competitors with more efficient 
operating models with lower implementation costs could penetrate our customer relationships.  

Additionally, large customers may request or require specific features or functions unique to their particular business processes, which 
increase our upfront investment in sales and deployment efforts and the revenues resulting from the customers under our typical contract length 
may not cover the upfront investments. If prospective large customers require specific features or functions that we do not offer, then the market 
for our solution will be more limited and our business could suffer. In addition, supporting large customers could require us to devote significant 
development services and support personnel and strain our personnel resources and  
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infrastructure. If we are unable to address the needs of these customers in a timely fashion or further develop and enhance our solution, these 
customers may not renew their subscriptions, seek to terminate their relationship with us, renew on less favorable terms, or reduce their 
advertising spend on our platform. If any of these were to occur, our revenues may decline and our operating results could be adversely affected.  

If we are unable to maintain or expand our sales and marketing capabilities, we may not be able to generate anticipated revenues.  

Increasing our customer base and achieving broader market acceptance of our software platform will depend to a significant extent on our 
ability to expand our sales and marketing operations and activities. We expect to be substantially dependent on our sales force to obtain new 
customers. We currently plan to expand our sales team in order to increase revenues from new and existing customers and to further penetrate 
our existing markets and expand into new markets. Our solutions require a sophisticated sales force with specific sales skills and technical 
knowledge. Competition for qualified sales personnel is intense, and we may not be able to retain our existing sales personnel or attract, integrate 
or retain sufficient highly qualified sales personnel.  

Our ability to achieve revenue growth in the future will depend, in large part, on our success in recruiting, training and retaining sufficient 
numbers of sales personnel. These new employees require significant training and experience before they achieve full productivity. For internal 
planning purposes, we assume that it will take approximately three months before a newly hired sales representative is fully trained and 
productive in selling our solutions. This amount of time may be longer for sales personnel focused on new geographies or specific market 
segments. As a result, the cost of hiring and carrying new representatives cannot be offset by the revenues they produce for a significant period 
of time. Our recent hires and planned hires may not become productive as quickly as we would like, and we may not be able to hire or retain 
sufficient numbers of qualified individuals in the markets where we do business. Our business will be seriously harmed if these expansion efforts 
do not work as planned or generate a corresponding significant increase in revenues.  

Any failure to offer high-quality technical support services may adversely affect our relationships with our customers and harm our financial 
results.  

Our customers depend on our support organization to resolve any technical issues relating to our solutions. In addition, our sales process is 
highly dependent on the quality of our solutions, our business reputation and on strong recommendations from our existing customers. Any 
failure to maintain high-quality technical support, or a market perception that we do not maintain high-quality support, could harm our 
reputation, adversely affect our ability to sell our solutions to existing and prospective customers, and harm our business, operating results and 
financial condition.  

We offer technical support services with our solutions and may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term increases 
in customer demand for support services. We also may be unable to modify the format of our support services to compete with changes in 
support services provided by competitors. It is difficult to predict customer demand for technical support services and if customer demand 
increases significantly, we may be unable to provide satisfactory support services to our customers. Additionally, increased customer demand for 
these services, without corresponding revenues, could increase costs and adversely affect our operating results.  

If our security measures are breached or unauthorized access to customer data or our data is otherwise obtained, our solutions may be 
perceived as not being secure, customers may reduce the use of or stop using our solutions and we may incur significant liabilities.  

Security breaches could result in the loss of information, litigation, indemnity obligations and other liability. While we have security 
measures in place, our systems and networks are subject to ongoing threats and therefore these security measures may be breached as a result of 
third-party action, including cyber-attacks or other  
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intentional misconduct by computer hackers, employee error, malfeasance or otherwise. This could result in one or more third parties obtaining 
unauthorized access to our customers’ data or our data, including intellectual property and other confidential business information. Because 
techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or to sabotage systems change frequently and generally are not recognized until launched against a 
target, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures. Third parties may also attempt to 
fraudulently induce employees or customers into disclosing sensitive information such as user names, passwords or other information in order to 
gain access to our customers’ data or our data, including intellectual property and other confidential business information. If an actual or 
perceived breach of our security occurs, the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed, we could lose 
potential sales and existing customers or we could incur other liabilities, which could adversely affect our business.  

We must develop and introduce enhancements and new features that achieve market acceptance or that keep pace with technological 
developments to remain competitive in our evolving industry.  

We operate in a dynamic market characterized by rapidly changing technologies and industry and legal standards. The introduction of new 
Revenue Acquisition Management solutions by our competitors, the market acceptance of solutions based on new or alternative technologies, or 
the emergence of new industry standards could render our platform obsolete. Our ability to compete successfully, attract new customers and 
increase revenues from existing customers depends in large part on our ability to enhance and improve our existing Revenue Acquisition 
Management platform and to continually introduce or acquire new features that are in demand by the market we serve. We also must update our 
software to reflect changes in publishers’ APIs and terms of use. The success of any enhancement or new solution depends on several factors, 
including timely completion, adequate quality testing, appropriate introduction and market acceptance. Any new platform or feature that we 
develop or acquire may not be introduced in a timely or cost-effective manner, may contain defects or may not achieve the broad market 
acceptance necessary to generate significant revenues. If we are unable to anticipate or timely and successfully develop or acquire new offerings 
or features or enhance our existing platform to meet customer requirements, our business and operating results will be adversely affected.  

Our growth depends in part on the success of our strategic relationships with third parties.  

Our future growth will depend on our ability to enter into successful strategic relationships with third parties. For example, we are seeking 
to establish relationships with third parties to develop integrations with complementary technology and content. These relationships may not 
result in additional customers or enable us to generate significant revenues. Identifying partners and negotiating and documenting relationships 
with them require significant time and resources. Our contracts for these relationships are typically non-exclusive and do not prohibit the other 
party from working with our competitors or from offering competing services. If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintaining our 
relationships with these third parties, our ability to compete in the marketplace or to grow our revenues could be impaired and our operating 
results would suffer.  

As a result of our customers’ increased usage of our software platform, we will need to continually improve our hosting infrastructure to 
avoid service interruptions or slower system performance.  

We have experienced continued growth in the number of advertisers, transactions and data that our hosting infrastructure supports. We 
seek to maintain sufficient excess capacity in our infrastructure to meet the needs of all of our customers. We also seek to maintain excess 
capacity to facilitate the rapid provision of new customer deployments and the expansion of existing customer deployments. For example, if we 
secure a large customer or a group of customers that require significant amounts of bandwidth or storage, we may need to increase bandwidth, 
storage, power or other elements of our application architecture and our infrastructure, and our existing systems may not be able to scale in a 
manner satisfactory to our existing or prospective customers.  

The amount of infrastructure needed to support our customers is based on our estimates of anticipated usage. If we were to experience 
unforeseen increases in usage, we could be required to increase our infrastructure  
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investments resulting in increased costs or reduced gross margins, and if we do not accurately predict our infrastructure capacity requirements, 
our customers could experience service outages that may subject us to financial penalties and liabilities and result in customer losses. If our 
hosting infrastructure capacity fails to keep pace with increased sales, customers may experience service interruptions or slower system 
performance as we seek to obtain additional capacity, which could harm our reputation and adversely affect our revenue growth. As use of our 
software platform grows and as customers use it for more complicated tasks, we will need to devote additional resources to improving our 
application architecture and our infrastructure in order to maintain the performance of our software platform. We may need to incur additional 
costs to upgrade or expand our computer systems and architecture in order to accommodate increased demand if our systems cannot handle 
current or higher volumes of usage. In addition, increasing our systems and infrastructure in advance of new customers would cause us to have 
increased cost of revenues, which can adversely affect our gross margins until we increase revenues that are spread over the increased costs.  

Any failure to protect our intellectual property rights could impair our ability to protect our proprietary technology and our brand.  

Our success and ability to compete depend in part upon our intellectual property. We primarily rely on a combination of copyright, trade 
secret and trademark laws, as well as confidentiality procedures and contractual restrictions with our employees, customers, partners and others 
to establish and protect our intellectual property rights. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights may be inadequate 
or we may be unable to secure intellectual property protection for all of our solutions. In particular, we have two issued U.S. patents.  

If we are unable to protect our intellectual property, our competitors could use our intellectual property to market products and services 
similar to ours and our ability to compete effectively would be impaired. Moreover, others may independently develop technologies that are 
competitive to ours or infringe our intellectual property. The enforcement of our intellectual property rights depends on our legal actions against 
these infringers being successful, but we cannot be sure these actions will be successful, even when our rights have been infringed. In addition, 
defending our intellectual property rights might entail significant expense and diversion of management resources. Any of our intellectual 
property rights may be challenged by others or invalidated through administrative processes or litigation. Any patents issued in the future may 
not provide us with competitive advantages or may be successfully challenged by third parties.  

Furthermore, legal standards relating to the validity, enforceability and scope of protection of intellectual property rights are uncertain. 
Effective protection of our intellectual property may not be available to us in every country in which our solutions are available. The laws of 
some foreign countries may not be as protective of intellectual property rights as those in the United States, and mechanisms for enforcement of 
intellectual property rights may be inadequate. Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may be unable to prevent third parties from infringing upon 
or misappropriating our intellectual property.  

We might be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property rights, and our efforts to enforce our 
intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual 
property rights. Litigation to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be costly, time-consuming and distracting to management, 
whether or not it is resolved in our favor, and could ultimately result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property.  

We could incur substantial costs as a result of any claim of infringement of another party’s intellectual property rights.  

In recent years, there has been significant litigation in the United States involving patents and other intellectual property rights. Companies 
in the Internet and technology industries are increasingly bringing and  
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becoming subject to suits alleging infringement of proprietary rights, particularly patent rights, and our competitors may hold patents or have 
pending patent applications, which could be related to our business. These risks have been amplified by the increase in third parties, which we 
refer to as non-practicing entities, whose sole primary business is to assert such claims. We have received in the past, and expect to receive in the 
future, notices that claim we or our customers using our solutions have misappropriated or misused other parties’ intellectual property rights. If 
we are sued by a third party that claims that our technology infringes its rights, the litigation could be expensive and could divert our 
management resources. We do not currently have an extensive patent portfolio of our own, which may limit the defenses available to us in any 
such litigation.  

In addition, in most instances, we have agreed to indemnify our customers against certain claims that our subscription services infringe the 
intellectual property rights of third parties. Our business could be adversely affected by any significant disputes between us and our customers as 
to the applicability or scope of our indemnification obligations to them. The results of any intellectual property litigation to which we might 
become a party, or for which we are required to provide indemnification, may require us to do one or more of the following:  
   

   

   

   

If we are required to make substantial payments or undertake any of the other actions noted above as a result of any intellectual property 
infringement claims against us or any obligation to indemnify our customers for such claims, such payments or costs could have a material 
adverse effect upon our business and financial results.  

Our use of open source technology could impose limitations on our ability to commercialize our software platform.  

We use open source software in our platform. Some open source software licenses require users who distribute open source software as 
part of their software to publicly disclose all or part of the source code to such software and/or make available any derivative works of the open 
source code on unfavorable terms or at no cost. The terms of various open source licenses have not been interpreted by the U.S. courts, and there 
is a risk that such licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to market our 
software platform. While we monitor our use of open source software and try to ensure that none is used in a manner that would require us to 
disclose our source code or that would otherwise breach the terms of an open source agreement, such use could inadvertently occur and we may 
be required to release our proprietary source code, pay damages for breach of contract, re-engineer our applications, discontinue sales in the 
event re-engineering cannot be accomplished on a timely basis or take other remedial action that may divert resources away from our 
development efforts, any of which could cause us to breach customer contracts, harm our reputation, result in customer losses or claims, increase 
our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business and operating results.  

If the market for cloud-based software develops more slowly than we expect or declines, our business could be harmed.  

The cloud computing market is not as mature as the market for on-premise software, and it is uncertain whether cloud computing will 
achieve and sustain high levels of customer demand and market acceptance. If other cloud computing providers experience security incidents, 
loss of customer data, disruptions in delivery or other problems, the market for cloud computing as a whole, including our solution, may be 
negatively affected. If cloud computing does not achieve widespread adoption, or there is a reduction in demand for cloud computing  
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  •   cease offering or using technologies that incorporate the challenged intellectual property; 

  •   make substantial payments for legal fees, settlement payments or other costs or damages; 

  •   obtain a license, which may not be available on reasonable terms, to sell or use the relevant technology; or 

  •   redesign technology to avoid infringement. 
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caused by a lack of customer acceptance, technological challenges, weakening economic conditions, security or privacy concerns, competing 
technologies and products, decreases in corporate spending or otherwise, it could result in decreased revenues or increased expenses from 
development of alternative on-premise solutions and our business could be adversely affected.  

Because our long-term success depends, in part, on our ability to expand our sales to customers outside the United States, our business will 
be susceptible to risks associated with international operations.  

We currently maintain offices and/or have sales personnel in Australia, Canada, China, England, France, Germany, Ireland, Japan and 
Singapore, as well as the United States. As we continue to expand our customer base outside the United States, our business will be increasingly 
susceptible to risks associated with international operations. However, we have a limited operating history outside the United States, and our 
ability to manage our business and conduct our operations internationally requires considerable management attention and resources and is 
subject to particular challenges of supporting a rapidly growing business in an environment of diverse cultures, languages, customs, tax laws, 
legal systems, alternate dispute systems and regulatory systems. The risks and challenges associated with international expansion include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

We have limited experience marketing, selling and supporting our subscription services internationally, which increases the risk that any 
potential future expansion efforts that we may undertake will not be successful.  

Fluctuations in the exchange rate of foreign currencies could result in currency transactions losses.  

We currently have foreign sales denominated in Australian Dollars, British Pound Sterling, Canadian Dollars, Chinese Yuan, Euros, 
Japanese Yen and Singapore Dollars. In addition, we incur a portion of our operating expenses in the currencies of the countries where we have 
offices. We face exposure to adverse movements in currency exchange rates, which may cause our revenues and operating results to differ 
materially from expectations. A decline in the U.S. dollar relative to foreign currencies would increase our non-U.S. revenues when translated 
into U.S. dollars. Conversely, if the U.S. dollar strengthens relative to foreign currencies, our non-U.S. revenues would be adversely affected. 
Our operating results could be negatively impacted depending on the amount of expense denominated in foreign currencies. As exchange rates 
vary,  
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  •   the need to support and integrate with local publishers and partners; 

  •   continued localization of our platform, including translation into foreign languages and associated expenses; 

  •   competition with companies that have greater experience in the local markets than we do or who have pre-existing relationships with 
potential customers in those markets; 

  •   compliance with multiple, potentially conflicting and changing governmental laws and regulations, including employment, tax, 
privacy and data protection laws and regulations; 

  •   compliance with anti-bribery laws, including compliance with the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; 

  •   difficulties in invoicing and collecting in foreign currencies and associated foreign currency exposure; 

  •   difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations and the increased travel, infrastructure and legal compliance costs associated 
with international operations; 

  •   different or lesser protection of our intellectual property rights; 

  •   difficulties in enforcing contracts and collecting accounts receivable, longer payment cycles and other collection difficulties; 

  •   restrictions on repatriation of earnings; and 

  •   regional economic and political conditions. 
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revenues, cost of revenues, operating expenses and other operating results, when translated, may differ materially from expectations. In addition, 
our revenues and operating results are subject to fluctuation if our mix of U.S. and foreign currency denominated transactions or expenses 
changes in the future because we do not currently hedge our foreign currency exposure. Even if we were to implement hedging strategies to 
mitigate foreign currency risk, these strategies might not eliminate our exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations and would involve costs 
and risks of their own, such as ongoing management time and expertise, external costs to implement the strategies and potential accounting 
implications.  

If we fail to develop widespread brand awareness cost-effectively, our business may suffer.  

We believe that developing and maintaining widespread awareness of our brand in a cost-effective manner is critical to achieving 
widespread acceptance of our solution and attracting new customers. We expect sales and marketing expenses to increase as a result of our 
marketing and brand promotion activities. We may not generate customer awareness or increase revenues enough to offset the increased 
expenses we incur in building our brand. If we fail to successfully promote and maintain our brand, or incur substantial marketing and sales 
expenses, which are not offset by increased revenues, we may fail to attract or retain customers necessary to realize a sufficient return on our 
brand-building efforts, or to achieve the widespread brand awareness that is essential for broad customer adoption of our solution.  

Unfavorable conditions in the market for digital advertising or the global economy or reductions in digital advertising spend could limit our 
ability to grow our business and negatively affect our operating results.  

Revenue growth and potential profitability of our business depends on digital advertising spend by advertisers in the markets we serve. Our 
operating results may vary based on changes in the market for digital advertising or the global economy. To the extent that weak economic 
conditions cause our customers and potential customers to freeze or reduce their advertising budgets, particularly digital advertising, demand for 
our solution may be negatively affected.  

Historically, economic downturns have resulted in overall reductions in advertising spend. If economic conditions deteriorate, including as 
the result of concerns over future U.S. budgetary negotiations, our customers and potential customers may elect to decrease their advertising 
budgets or defer or reconsider software and service purchases, which would limit our ability to grow our business and negatively affect our 
operating results.  

Our business and operations have experienced rapid growth in recent periods, which has placed, and may continue to place, significant 
demands on our management and infrastructure. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, we may be unable to execute our business plan, 
maintain high levels of service or address competitive challenges adequately.  

We increased our number of full-time employees from 285 as of December 31, 2011 to 500 as of December 31, 2013. Our growth has 
placed, and may continue to place, a significant strain on our managerial, administrative, operational, financial and other resources. We intend to 
further expand our overall headcount and operations both domestically and internationally, with no assurance that our business or revenues will 
continue to grow. Creating a global organization and managing a geographically dispersed workforce will require substantial management effort, 
the allocation of valuable management resources and significant additional investment in our infrastructure. We will be required to continue to 
improve our operational, financial and management controls and our reporting procedures and we may not be able to do so effectively. Further, 
to accommodate our expected growth we must continually improve and maintain our technology, systems and network infrastructure. As such, 
we may be unable to manage our expenses effectively in the future, which may negatively impact our gross margins or operating expenses in any 
particular quarter. If we fail to manage our anticipated growth or change in a manner that does not preserve the key aspects of our corporate 
culture, the quality of our solutions may suffer, which could negatively affect our brand and reputation and harm our ability to retain and attract 
customers.  
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Our business depends on retaining and attracting qualified management and technical personnel.  

Our success depends upon the continued service of our founders and senior management team and key technical employees, as well as our 
ability to continue to attract and retain additional highly qualified management and operating personnel. We do not maintain key person life 
insurance policies on any of our employees. Each of our founders, executive officers, key technical personnel and other employees could 
terminate his or her relationship with us at any time. Our business also requires skilled technical and sales personnel, who are in high demand 
and are often subject to competing offers. As we expand into additional geographic markets, we will require personnel with expertise in these 
new areas. Competition for qualified employees is intense in our industry and particularly in San Francisco, California, where most of our 
technical employees are based. The loss of our founders or any other member of our senior management team or, even a few qualified 
employees, or an inability to retain, attract, relocate and motivate additional highly skilled employees required for the planned expansion of our 
business, could delay or prevent the achievement of our business objectives and could materially harm our business and our customer 
relationships.  

Domestic and foreign government regulation and enforcement of data practices and data tracking technologies is expansive, not clearly 
defined and rapidly evolving. Such regulation could directly restrict portions of our business or indirectly affect our business by constraining 
our customers’ use of our platform or limiting the growth of our markets.  

Federal, state, municipal and/or foreign governments and agencies have adopted and could in the future adopt, modify, apply or enforce 
laws, policies, and regulations covering user privacy, data security, technologies such as cookies that are used to collect, store and/or process 
data, the taxation of products and services, unfair and deceptive practices, and/or the collection, use, processing, transfer, storage and/or 
disclosure of data associated with a unique individual. The categories of data regulated under these laws vary widely and are often ill-defined 
and subject to new applications or interpretation by regulators. Our subscription services enable our customers to collect, manage and store data 
regarding the measurement and valuation of their digital advertising and marketing campaigns, which may include data that is directly or 
indirectly obtained or derived through the activities of online or mobile visitors. The uncertainty and inconsistency among these laws, coupled 
with a lack of guidance as to how these laws will be applied to current and emerging Internet and mobile analytics technologies, creates a risk 
that regulators, lawmakers or other third parties, such as potential plaintiffs, may assert claims, pursue investigations or audits, or engage in civil 
or criminal enforcement. These actions could limit the market for our subscription services or impose burdensome requirements on our services 
and/or customers’ use of our services, thereby rendering our business unprofitable.  

Some features of our subscription services use cookies, which trigger the data protection requirements of certain foreign jurisdictions, such 
as the EU Cookie Directive. In addition, although our subscription services do not involve the collection or use of personally identifiable 
information from visitors, our services collect anonymous data about visitors’ interactions with our advertiser clients that may be subject to 
regulation under current or future laws or regulations. If our privacy or data security measures fail to comply with these current or future laws 
and regulations in any of the jurisdictions in which we collect information, we may be subject to litigation, regulatory investigations, civil or 
criminal enforcement, audits or other liabilities in such jurisdictions, or our advertisers may terminate their relationships with us.  

This area of the law is currently under intense government scrutiny and many governments, including the U.S. government, are considering 
a variety of proposed regulations that would restrict or impact the conditions under which data obtained from or through the activities of visitors 
could be collected, processed or stored. In addition, regulators such as the Federal Trade Commission and the California Attorney General are 
continually proposing new regulations and interpreting and applying existing regulations in new ways. Changes to existing laws or new laws 
regulating the solicitation, collection or processing of personal and consumer information, truth-in-advertising and consumer protection could 
affect our customers’ utilization of digital advertising and marketing, potentially reducing demand for our subscription services, or impose 
restrictions that make it more difficult or expensive for us to provide our services.  
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If legislation dampens the growth in web and mobile usage or access to the Internet, our results of operations could be harmed.  

Legislation enacted in the future could dampen the growth in web and mobile usage and decrease its acceptance as a medium of 
communications and commerce or result in increased adoption of new modes of communication and commerce that may not be serviced by our 
products. In addition, government agencies or private organizations may begin to impose taxes, fees or other charges for accessing the Internet, 
which could result in slower growth or a decrease in ecommerce, use of social media and/or use of mobile devices. Any of these outcomes could 
cause demand for our platform to decrease, our costs to increase, and our results of operations and financial condition to be harmed.  

If our customers fail to abide by applicable privacy laws or to provide adequate notice and/or obtain consent from online or mobile visitors, 
we could be subject to litigation or enforcement action or reduced demand for our services. Industry self-regulatory standards or 
technologies may be implemented in the future that could affect demand for our platform and our ability to access data we use to provide our 
platform.  

Our customers utilize our services to support and measure their direct interactions with visitors and we must rely on our customers to 
implement and administer any notice or choice mechanisms required under applicable laws. If customers fail to abide by these laws, it could 
result in litigation or regulatory or enforcement action against our customers or against us directly.  

In addition, self-regulatory organizations (such as the Network Advertising Initiative) to which our customers may belong may impose opt-
in or opt-out requirements on our customers, which may in the future require our customers to provide various mechanisms for users to opt-in or 
opt-out of the collection of any data, including anonymous data, with respect to such users’ web or mobile activities. The online and/or mobile 
industries may adopt technical or industry standards or federal, state, local or foreign laws may be enacted that allow users to opt-in or opt-out of 
data that is necessary to our business. In particular, over the past three years, some government regulators and privacy advocates have suggested 
creating a “Do Not Track” standard that would allow users to express a preference, independent of cookie setting settings in their browser, not to 
have website browsing recorded. All the major internet browsers have implemented some version of a “Do Not Track” setting and the “Do-Not-
Track Online Act of 2013” was introduced in the United States Senate in February 2013. Furthermore, publishers may implement alternative 
tracking technologies that make it more difficult to access the data necessary to our business or make it more difficult for us to compete with the 
publisher’s own advertising management solutions. If any of these events were to occur in the future, it could have a material effect on our 
ability to provide services and for our customers to collect the data that is necessary to use our services.  

Our revenues may be adversely affected if we are required to charge sales taxes in additional jurisdictions or other taxes for our solutions.  

We collect or have imposed upon us sales or other taxes related to the solutions we sell in certain states and other jurisdictions. Additional 
states, countries or other jurisdictions may seek to impose sales or other tax collection obligations on us in the future, or states or jurisdictions in 
which we already pay tax may increase the amount of taxes we are required to pay. A successful assertion by any state, country or other 
jurisdiction in which we do business that we should be collecting sales or other taxes on the sale of our products and services could, among other 
things, create significant administrative burdens for us, result in substantial tax liabilities for past sales, discourage clients from purchasing 
solutions from us or otherwise substantially harm our business and results of operations.  

We may experience quarterly fluctuations in our operating results due to a number of factors which make our future results difficult to 
predict and could cause our operating results to fall below expectations or our guidance.  

Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate due to a variety of factors, many of which are outside of our control. As a result, comparing 
our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. You  
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should not rely on our past results as indicative of our future performance. If our revenues or operating results fall below the expectations of 
investors or securities analysts, or below any guidance we may provide to the market, the price of our common stock could decline substantially.  

In addition to other risk factors listed in this section, factors that may affect our quarterly operating results include the following:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Based upon all of the factors described above, we have a limited ability to forecast our future revenues, costs and expenses, and as a result, 
our operating results may from time to time fall below our estimates or the expectations of public market analysts and investors.  

We might require additional capital to support business growth, and this capital might not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.  

We intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional funds to respond to business 
challenges, including the need to develop new features or enhance our existing platform, improve our operating infrastructure or acquire 
complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. If we 
raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant 
dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. 
Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital raising activities and other financial and 
operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities, including potential 
acquisitions. In addition, we may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to us, if at all. If we are unable to obtain adequate 
financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to 
business challenges could be significantly impaired.  
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  •   the level of advertising spend managed through our platform for a particular quarter; 

  •   customer renewal rates, and the pricing and usage of our platform in any renewal term; 

  •   demand for our platform and the size and timing of our sales; 

  •   customers delaying purchasing decisions in anticipation of new releases by us or of new products by our competitors; 

  •   network outages or security breaches and any associated expenses; 

  •   changes in the competitive dynamics of our industry, including consolidation among competitors or customers; 

  •   market acceptance of our current and future solutions; 

  •   changes in spending on digital advertising or information technology and software by our current and/or prospective customers; 

  •   budgeting cycles of our customers; 

  •   our potentially lengthy sales cycle; 

  •   our ability to control costs, including our operating expenses; 

  •   the amount and timing of infrastructure costs and operating expenses related to the maintenance and expansion of our business, 
operations and infrastructure; 

  •   foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations; and 

  •   general economic and political conditions in our domestic and international markets. 



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

We will selectively pursue acquisitions of complementary businesses and technologies, which could divert our management’s attention, result 
in additional dilution to our stockholders and otherwise disrupt our operations and adversely affect our operating results.  

We will selectively pursue acquisitions of complementary businesses and technologies that we believe could complement or expand our 
applications, enhance our technical capabilities or otherwise offer growth opportunities. The pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert the 
attention of management and cause us to incur various expenses in identifying, investigating and pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or not 
they are consummated.  

In addition, we have never acquired another business. If we acquire businesses or technologies, we may not be able to integrate the 
acquired personnel, operations and technologies successfully, or effectively manage the combined business following the acquisition. We also 
may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the acquired business due to a number of factors, including:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

In addition, a significant portion of the purchase price of companies we acquire may be allocated to acquired goodwill and other intangible 
assets, which must be assessed for impairment at least annually. In the future, if our acquisitions do not yield expected returns, we may be 
required to take charges to our operating results based on this impairment assessment process, which could adversely affect our results of 
operations.  

Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt, which could adversely affect our operating 
results. In addition, if an acquired business fails to meet our expectations, our operating results, business and financial position may suffer.  

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may lose confidence in 
the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock may be negatively affected.  

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such 
internal control. Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) requires that we evaluate and determine the 
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and, beginning with our annual report for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2014, 
provide a  
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  •   inability to integrate or benefit from acquired technologies or services in a profitable manner; 

  •   unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the acquisition; 

  •   incurrence of acquisition-related costs; 

  •   difficulty integrating the accounting systems, operations and personnel of the acquired business; 

  •   difficulties and additional expenses associated with supporting legacy products and hosting infrastructure of the acquired business; 

  •   difficulty converting the customers of the acquired business onto our applications and contract terms, including disparities in the 
revenues, licensing, support or professional services model of the acquired company; 

  •   diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns; 

  •   adverse effects to our existing business relationships with business partners and customers as a result of the acquisition; 

  •   the potential loss of key employees; 

  •   use of resources that are needed in other parts of our business; and 

  •   use of substantial portions of our available cash to consummate the acquisition. 
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management report on the internal control over financial reporting, and a report by our independent registered public accounting firm to the 
extent we decide not to avail ourselves of the exemption provided to an emerging growth company, as defined by The Jumpstart Our Businesses 
Act of 2012 (the JOBS Act). If we have a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, we may not detect errors on a timely 
basis and our financial statements may be materially misstated. We are in the process of designing and implementing the internal control over 
financial reporting required to comply with this obligation, which process will be time consuming, costly, and complicated. If we identify 
material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, if we are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely 
manner, if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting are effective, or if our independent registered public 
accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose 
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock could be negatively affected, and 
we could become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, 
which could require additional financial and management resources.  

We are an emerging growth company and we cannot be certain if the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth 
companies will make our common stock less attractive to investors.  

For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting 
requirements that are applicable to other public companies including, but not limited to, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive 
compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on 
executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We cannot predict if investors 
will find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a 
result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.  

We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the end of the fiscal year in which the market value of our common 
stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30, (ii) the end of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenues 
of $1 billion or more during such fiscal year, (iii) the date on which we issue more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt in a three-year period 
or (iv) March 21, 2018.  

We may not be able to utilize a significant portion of our net operating loss or research tax credit carryforwards, which could adversely affect 
our profitability.  

As of December 31, 2013, we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards due to prior period losses, which if not utilized will 
begin to expire in 2026 and 2016 for federal and state purposes, respectively. We also have federal research tax credit carryforwards, which if 
not utilized will begin to expire in 2026. These net operating loss and research tax credit carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable 
to offset future income tax liabilities, which could adversely affect our profitability.  

In addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the Code), our ability to utilize net operating loss 
carryforwards or other tax attributes, such as research tax credits, in any taxable year may be limited if we experience an “ownership change.” A 
Section 382 “ownership change” generally occurs if one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who own at least 5% of our stock 
increase their ownership by more than 50 percentage points over their lowest ownership percentage within a rolling three-year period. Similar 
rules may apply under state tax laws.  

Future issuances of our stock could cause an “ownership change.” It is possible that any future ownership change could have a material 
effect on the use of our net operating loss carryforwards or other tax attributes, which could adversely affect our profitability.  
   

24  



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

Our reported financial results may be adversely affected by changes in accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  

Generally accepted accounting principles in the United States are subject to interpretation by the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(FASB), the SEC, and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change in these principles or 
interpretations could have a significant effect on our reported financial results, and could affect the reporting of transactions completed before 
the announcement of a change.  

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Common Stock  

The trading prices of the securities of technology companies have been highly volatile. Accordingly, the market price of our common stock 
has been, and is likely to continue to be, subject to wide fluctuations and could subject us to litigation.  

Factors affecting the market price of our common stock include:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

In addition, the stock market in general has experienced substantial price and volume volatility that is often seemingly unrelated to the 
operating results of any particular companies. Moreover, if the market for technology stocks, especially digital advertising management and 
cloud computing-related stocks, or the stock market in general experiences uneven investor confidence, the market price of our common stock 
could decline for reasons unrelated to our business, operating results or financial condition. The market price for our stock might also decline in 
reaction to events that affect other companies within, or outside, our industry, even if these events do not directly affect us. Some companies that 
have experienced volatility in the trading price of their stock have been subject of securities litigation. If we are the subject of such litigation, it 
could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources.  

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.  

We have never declared nor paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the 
operation and expansion of our business, and we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future. Consequently, 
stockholders must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future 
gains on their investment.  

Our directors, officers and their respective affiliates own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant control 
over matters subject to stockholder approval.  

As of December 31, 2013, our directors, officers and their respective affiliates, beneficially owned approximately 25.4% of our outstanding 
voting stock. As a result, these stockholders, acting together, will  
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  •   variations in our revenue, billings, gross margin, operating results, free cash flow, loss per share and how these results compare to 
analyst expectations; 

  •   forward looking guidance on billings, revenue, gross margin, operating results, free cash flow, and loss per share; 

  •   announcements of technological innovations, new products or services, strategic alliances, acquisitions or significant agreements by 
us or by our competitors; 

  •   disruptions in our cloud-based operations or services or disruptions of other prominent cloud-based operations or services; 

  •   the economy as a whole, market conditions in our industry, and the industries of our customers; and 

  •   any other factors discussed herein. 
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continue to have the ability to influence us through this ownership position. These stockholders may be able to determine all matters requiring 
stockholder approval. For example, these stockholders could be able to control elections of directors, amendments of our organizational 
documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited 
acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders.  

If there are substantial sales of shares of our common stock, the price of our common stock could decline.  

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that these sales might occur could 
depress the market price of our common stock and may make it more difficult for you to sell your common stock at a time and price that you 
deem appropriate. We are unable to predict the effect that sales may have on the prevailing market price of our common stock. In addition, as of 
December 31, 2013, the holders of an aggregate of 18.8 million shares of our common stock have rights, subject to some conditions, to require 
us to file registration statements covering their shares or to include their shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or our 
stockholders. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act would result in the shares becoming freely tradable without restriction under 
the Securities Act. Any sales of securities by existing stockholders could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.  

Delaware law and provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws could make a merger, tender offer, or proxy 
contest difficult, thereby depressing the trading price of our common stock.  

Our status as a Delaware corporation and the anti-takeover provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay, or 
prevent a change in control by prohibiting us from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years 
after the person becomes an interested stockholder, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our existing stockholders. In addition, our 
restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws contain provisions that may make the acquisition of our company more difficult, 
including the following:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price 
and trading volume could decline.  

The trading market for our common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about us 
or our business. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about 
our business, our common stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us 
regularly, demand for our common stock could decrease, which might cause our common stock price and trading volume to decline.  
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  •   our board of directors are classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms and directors can only be removed 
from office for cause; 

  •   only our board of directors has the right to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of our board of directors or the resignation, death 
or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors; 

  •   only our chairman of the board, our lead independent director, our chief executive officer, our president, or a majority of our board of 
directors is authorized to call a special meeting of stockholders; 

  •   certain litigation against us can only be brought in Delaware; 

  •   our restated certificate of incorporation authorizes undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which may be established, and shares of 
which may be issued, without the approval of the holders of common stock; and 

  •   advance notice procedures apply for stockholders to nominate candidates for election as directors or to bring matters before an annual 
meeting of stockholders. 
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None.  

   

Our corporate headquarters are located in San Francisco, California, where we occupy facilities totaling approximately 43,000 square feet 
under a lease which expires in March 2015. We use these facilities for administration, sales and marketing, research and development, 
engineering, customer support and professional services. We also lease office space in Austin, Baltimore, Chicago, Mountain View and New 
York in the United States, and Australia, England, France, Germany, Ireland, Japan, and Singapore, which we use principally for sales and 
marketing, administration, customer support and to deliver professional services locally. We also lease office space in Portland, Oregon and 
Shanghai, China, which we use principally for engineering. We operate two data centers at third-party facilities located in the United States and 
Ireland.  

We believe our facilities are in good condition and adequate for our current needs and for the foreseeable future. See Note 13 to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Contractual 
Obligations and Commitments” for information regarding our lease obligations.  

   

From time to time, we may become involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of our business. We are not presently a 
party to any legal proceedings that, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our 
business, operating results, financial condition or cash flows.  

   

Not applicable.  

PART II  
   

Market Price of Our Common Stock  

Our common stock has traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) since March 22, 2013, under the symbol MRIN. Prior to this 
date, there was no public market for our common stock. On February 21, 2014, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the NYSE 
was $[            ] per share. The following table set forth, for the periods, indicated, the high and low sales price of our common shares as reported 
by the NYSE.  
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT ’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

          High      Low   
Year Ended December 31, 2013           
First Quarter  

(since March 22, 2013)     March 22, 2013 – March 31, 2013    $ 19.95       $ 15.15    
Second Quarter     April 1, 2013 – June 30, 2013    $ 16.43       $ 8.75    
Third Quarter     July 1, 2013 – September 30, 2013    $ 14.37       $ 10.22    
Fourth Quarter     October 1, 2013 – December 31, 2013    $ 12.84       $ 8.50    
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Holders of our Common Shares  

As of January 31, 2014, there were 4,485 stockholders of record. The actual number of shareholders is greater than the number of record 
holders, and includes shareholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. The 
number of holders of record also does not include shareholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities  

Dividend Policy  

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to retain any future earnings and do not 
expect to pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the 
discretion of our board of directors and will be dependent on a number of factors, including our earnings, capital requirements and overall 
financial conditions. In addition, the terms of our equipment loan agreement with Silicon Valley Bank currently restrict our ability to pay 
dividends.  

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities  

We made no sales of unregistered securities during the quarter ended December 31, 2013.  

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stock  

There have been no material changes in our use of the proceeds from our initial public offering in March 2013.  

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  

The table below provides information with respect to repurchases of unvested shares of our common stock.  
   

   

Stock Performance Graph  

The following shall not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or incorporated by reference into any of our 
other filings under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference 
into such filing.  
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Period     

Total  
Number  

of  
Shares  

Purchased 
 

(1)      

Weighted  
Average Price 

 
Per Share      

Total Number 
 

of Shares  
Purchased  
as Part of  
Publicly  

Announced  
Plans  or  
Programs      

Maximum Number  
of Shares that  
May Yet be  

Purchased Under the Plans 
 

or Programs   
October 1 – October 31, 2013       1,500       $ 2.39         0         0    
November 1 – November 30, 

2013       1,592       $ 2.63         0         0    
December 1 – December 31, 

2013       0         N/A         0         0    

(1) Certain of our shares of employees are subject to vesting. Unvested shares are subject to a right of repurchase by us in the event the holder 
of such shares is no longer employed by us. All shares in the above table were shares repurchased as a result of our exercising this right 
and not pursuant to a publicly announced plan or program. 
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The following graph shows a comparison from March 22, 2013 (the date our common stock commenced trading on the NYSE) through 
December 31, 2013, of the cumulative total return for our common stock, the NYSE Composite Index, and the S&P 1500 Data Processing & 
Outsourced Services Index. The graph assumes an investment of $100 on March 22, 2013 and reinvestment of any dividends. The comparisons 
in the graph below are required by the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not intended to forecast or be indicative of possible future 
performance of our common shares.  

   

  
   

   

The following tables present selected historical financial data for our business. You should read this information together with 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements, related 
notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The selected consolidated financial data in this 
section are not intended to replace the consolidated financial statements and are qualified in their entirety by the consolidated financial 
statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

We derived the consolidated statements of operations data for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, and the consolidated 
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report. We 
derived the consolidated statements of operations data  
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     3/22/2013      3/31/2013      6/30/2013      9/30/2013      12/31/2013   
Marin Software Incorporated       100.00         117.36         73.14         89.64         73.14    
NYSE Composite Index       100.00         100.51         101.83         107.58         116.92    
S&P 1500 Data Processing & Outsourced Services Index       100.00         103.82         109.57         121.07         141.48    

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA 
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for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 from our 
audited financial statements not included in this report. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the 
future.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011     2010     2009   
     (in thousands, except per share data)   
Revenues, net     $ 77,315      $ 59,558      $ 36,121      $ 19,005      $ 7,527    
Cost of revenues (1)       31,109        24,764        18,691        11,040        5,101    

         
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Gross profit       46,206        34,794        17,430        7,965        2,426    
                                                   

Operating expenses             
Sales and marketing (1)       42,799        32,633        20,357        8,884        6,146    
Research and development (1)       20,715        14,014        7,071        4,568        3,410    
General and administrative (1)       17,028        13,432        6,679        5,195        2,171    

                                                   

Total operating expenses       80,542        60,079        34,107        18,647        11,727    
                                                   

Loss from operations       (34,336 )      (25,285 )      (16,677 )      (10,682 )      (9,301 )  
Interest expense, net       (453 )      (520 )      (378 )      (230 )      (212 )  
Other income (expenses), net       (571 )      (456 )      (229 )      78        (92 )  

                                                   

Loss before provision for income taxes       (35,360 )      (26,261 )      (17,284 )      (10,834 )      (9,605 )  
Provision for income taxes       (492 )      (221 )      (139 )      (23 )      (103 )  

                                                   

Net loss       (35,852 )      (26,482 )      (17,423 )      (10,857 )      (9,708 )  
Redemption of preferred stock in connection with the Series D financing 

and deemed dividend       —          —          —          (1,033 )      —      
                                                   

Net loss available to common stockholders     $ (35,852 )    $ (26,482 )    $ (17,423 )    $ (11,890 )    $ (9,708 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Net loss per share available to common stockholders, basic and diluted 
(2)     $ (1.36 )    $ (6.00 )    $ (4.29 )    $ (3.27 )    $ (2.74 )  

         

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share available to 
common stockholders, basic and diluted (2)       26,312        4,417        4,058        3,639        3,540    

                                                   

(1) Stock-based compensation included in the consolidated statements of operations data above was allocated as follows: 

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013      2012      2011      2010      2009   
     (in thousands)   
Cost of revenues     $ 887       $ 439       $ 165       $ 90       $ 66    
Sales and marketing       1,304         1,005         226         66         81    
Research and development       1,346         831         163         58         26    
General and administrative       1,681         2,673         143         1,172         19    

                                                       

   $ 5,218       $ 4,948       $ 697       $ 1,386       $ 192    
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(2) See Note 11 of the consolidated financial statements for an explanation of the calculations of basic and diluted net loss per share available 
to common stockholders. 

     As of December 31,   
     2013      2012     2011     2010     2009   
     (in thousands)   
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data              
Cash and cash equivalents     $ 104,407       $ 31,540      $ 1,719      $ 1,172      $ 5,132    
Property and equipment, net       14,417         9,224        4,909        3,113        1,271    
Total assets       137,377         57,224        18,297        10,653        9,144    
Debt, current and long-term       6,215         10,815        6,629        3,195        2,805    
Convertible preferred stock, net of issuance 

costs       —           105,710        51,514        35,580        24,974    
Total stockholders’  equity (deficit)       115,344         (72,706 )      (48,408 )      (32,578 )      (20,605 )  
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The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our 
consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains forward-
looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those forward-looking statements below. 
Factors that could cause or contribute to those differences include, but are not limited to, those identified below and those discussed in the 
section entitled “Risk Factors” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-
looking statements” within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These 
statements are often identified by the use of words such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “believe,” “antic ipate,” “intend,” “could,” “estimate,” or 
“continue,” and similar expressions or variations. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors that 
could cause actual results and the timing of certain events to differ materially from future results expressed or implied by such forward-looking 
statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified herein, and those discussed 
in the section titled “Risk Factors”, set forth in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except as required by law, we disclaim any 
obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements.  

Overview  

We provide a leading cloud-based digital advertising management platform that enables advertisers and agencies to improve performance 
of their online advertising campaigns, realize efficiencies and time savings, and make better business decisions. Our Revenue Acquisition 
Management platform is a software-as-a-service, or SaaS, analytics, workflow, and optimization solution for marketing professionals, enabling 
them to effectively manage their digital advertising spend across search, display, social and mobile advertising channels. Our software solution is 
designed to help our customers:  
   

   

   

In December 2013, our customers collectively managed $6.0 billion in annualized advertising spend on our platform and for the quarter 
ended December 31, 2013, we had 673 active advertisers using our solution globally across a wide range of industries. We market and sell our 
solutions to advertisers directly and through leading advertising agencies. We have achieved 19 consecutive quarters of revenue growth. For 
2013, 2012 and 2011, our revenues were $77.3 million, $59.6 million and $36.1 million, representing period-over-period growth of 30%, 65% 
and 90%, respectively. We had net losses of $35.9 million in 2013, $26.5 million in 2012, and $17.4 million in 2011.  

We generate revenues principally from subscription contracts under which we provide advertisers with access to our platform, either 
directly or through the advertiser’s relationship with an agency that has a contract with us. In accordance with the subscription contracts, we 
charge fees generally based upon the amount of advertising spend that our customers manage through our platform. Our contracts are generally 
one year or longer in length. Under our subscription contracts with most of our direct advertisers and some of our agency customers, customers 
are contractually committed to a monthly minimum fee, which is payable on a monthly basis over the duration of the contract and is generally 
greater than one-half of our estimated monthly revenues  
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

  •   measure the effectiveness of their advertising campaigns through our proprietary reporting and analytics capabilities; 

  
•   manage and execute campaigns through our intuitive user interface and underlying technology that streamlines and automates key 

functions, such as ad creation and bidding, across multiple publishers and channels; and 

  •   optimize campaigns across multiple publishers and channels in real time based on market and business data to achieve desired 
revenue outcomes using our predictive bid management technology. 
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from these customers, at the time the contract is signed. However, most of our subscription contracts with our advertising agency customers do 
not include a committed monthly minimum fee. Our contractual arrangement is with the advertising agency and the advertiser is not a party to 
the terms of the contract. Accordingly, most advertisers through our agency customers do not have a commitment to use our services and the 
advertisers may be added or removed from our platform at the discretion of the respective agency. We invoice the advertising agency the 
amounts due under the contract. Historically, approximately half of our revenues have been generated from advertising agency customers. Our 
subscription fee under most contracts is variable based upon the value of advertising spend that our customers manage through our platform. Our 
deferred revenues consist of the unearned portion of billed subscription fees.  

Our subscription contracts indicate the date at which we begin invoicing our customers, which is generally the first day of the month 
following the execution of the contract. We generally invoice the greater of the minimum fee or the percentage of advertising spend on our 
platform. The implementation process for new advertisers is typically four to six weeks; however, we generally do not charge a separate 
implementation fee under our subscription contracts.  

The majority of our revenues are derived from our customers in the United States. Customers from outside of the United States represented 
32%, 27% and 26% of total revenues for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Key Metrics  

We regularly review a number of metrics to evaluate growth trends, measure our performance, establish budgets and make strategic 
decisions. Our selected key metrics include revenue, gross margin, operating expenses, active advertisers, annualized advertising spend on our 
platform and revenue retention rate. We discuss revenue, gross margin and operating expenses below under “– Components of Results of 
Operations.” We monitor our key metrics to measure our success. Our revenues are generally based on the amount of advertising spend our 
customers manage on our platform in a period. As a result, revenues are an important metric to understanding the overall health of our business, 
and we use revenue trends to formulate financial projections and make strategic business decisions.  

Number of Active Advertisers  

We define an active advertiser as an advertiser from whom we recognized revenues in excess of $2,000 in at least one month in a period. 
We believe the $2,000 threshold best identifies advertisers who are actively using our platform. We focus on revenue in at least one month in a 
period to account for seasonality in advertising spend by our customers, some of whom may not run digital advertising campaigns in every 
month of a year but still represent an active advertiser on our platform. We count organizations within the same corporate structure as one 
advertiser, even if they have signed separate contracts with us for different brands or divisions, whether they are a direct advertiser or an 
advertiser through an agency. When our subscription contract is with an advertising agency, we include each advertiser whose advertising spend 
is managed by the agency through our platform as a different advertiser. Advertisers who have advertising spend managed by multiple agencies 
on our platform are counted as one advertiser. We believe that our ability to increase the number of active advertisers using our platform is a 
leading indicator of our ability to grow revenues. We had 673, 531 and 390 active advertisers in the quarters ending December 31, 2013, 2012 
and 2011, respectively. While our active advertiser count has increased over time, this metric can also fluctuate from quarter to quarter due to 
seasonality and timing and amount of revenue contribution from new active advertisers and therefore, there is not necessarily a direct correlation 
between the amount of increased revenues and the change in active advertisers in a particular period.  

Annualized Advertising Spend on our Platform  

We calculate annualized advertising spend as advertising spend in the last month of a period multiplied by 12. We believe that increases in 
annualized advertising spend on our platform have a strong correlation to our  
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ability to increase revenues. Our customers collectively managed $6.0 billion, $4.7 billion and $3.2 billion in annualized advertising spend on 
our platform in December 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. We believe that increases in annualized advertising spend generally lead to 
increases in revenues over time. However, we believe that other factors related to the terms of customer agreements and seasonality can make it 
difficult to directly correlate annual advertising spend to changes in revenues in a particular period .  

Revenue Retention Rate  

We believe our ability to retain and grow revenues from our existing advertisers is an indicator of the stability of our revenue base and the 
long-term value of our advertiser relationships. We assess our ability to retain and grow subscription revenues using a metric we refer to as 
revenue retention rate. We calculate our revenue retention rate metric by dividing retained revenues by retention base revenues. We define 
retention base revenues as revenues from all advertisers in the corresponding prior period, and we define retained revenues as revenues from all 
advertisers from the prior period that remain advertisers in the current period. This metric is calculated on a quarterly basis, and for annual 
periods, we use an average of the quarterly metrics. Although we have lost individual advertisers over time, advertisers who have remained on 
our platform have generally, in the aggregate, increased their advertising spend on our platform. At the same time, advertising spend on our 
platform may vary quarter to quarter, and as a result, quarterly revenue retention rates may fluctuate quarter to quarter. Our annual revenue 
retention rates were 97%, 114% and 109% in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Components of Results of Operations  

Revenues  

We generate revenues principally from subscription contracts under which we provide advertisers with access to our platform, either 
directly or through the advertiser’s relationship with an agency with whom we have a contract. Under our subscription contracts with most direct 
advertisers and some of our agency customers, customers contractually commit to a monthly minimum fee, which is generally greater than one-
half of our estimated monthly revenues from these customers, at the time the contract is signed. However, most of our subscription contracts 
with our advertising agency customers do not include a committed monthly minimum fee. Additionally, advertisers we serve through our 
arrangements with our advertising agencies generally do not have a minimum commitment to continue using our services. Our subscription fee 
under most contracts is variable based upon the value of advertising spend that our customers manage through our platform, although some 
customers pay a flat monthly rate over the term of their subscription contract. Our deferred revenues consist of the unearned portion of billed 
subscription fees.  

Cost of Revenues  

Cost of revenues primarily includes personnel costs, consisting of salaries, benefits, bonuses and stock-based compensation, for employees 
associated with our cloud infrastructure and global services for implementation and ongoing customer service organizations. Other costs of 
revenues include fees paid to contractors who supplement our support and data center personnel, expenses related to the use of a third-party data 
center, depreciation of data center equipment, amortization of capitalized internal-use software development costs and allocated overhead.  

We intend to continue to invest additional resources in our global services teams and in the capacity of our hosting service infrastructure. 
As we continue to invest in technology innovation through our research and development organization, we expect to have increased amortization 
of capitalized internal-use software development costs. We expect that this investment in technology should not only expand the breadth and 
depth of our Revenue Acquisition Management platform but also increase the efficiency of how we deliver these solutions, enabling us to 
improve our gross margin over time. The level and timing of investment in these areas could affect our cost of revenues in the future.  
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Sales and Marketing Expenses  

Sales and marketing expenses include personnel costs, sales commissions and other costs including travel and entertainment, marketing 
and promotional events, public relations, marketing activities, professional fees and allocated overhead. All of these costs are expensed as 
incurred, including sales commissions. Our commission plans provide that payment of commissions to our sales representatives are paid based 
on the actual amounts we invoice customers over a period that is generally between five to seven months following the execution of the 
applicable customer contract.  

We plan to continue investing in sales and marketing by increasing the number of sales and account management employees, expanding 
our domestic and international sales and marketing activities, building brand awareness and sponsoring additional marketing events, which we 
believe will enable us to add new customers and increase penetration within our existing customer base. We expect that, in the future, sales and 
marketing expenses will increase in absolute dollars and continue to be our largest operating expense category.  

Research and Development Expenses  

Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel costs for our product development and engineering employees and 
executives, including salaries, benefits, stock-based compensation expense and bonuses. Also included are non-personnel costs such as 
professional fees payable to third-party development resources and allocated overhead.  

Our research and development efforts are focused on enhancing our software architecture, adding new features and functionality to our 
platform and improving the efficiency with which we deliver these services to our customers. We expect that, in the future, research and 
development expenses will increase in absolute dollars, partially offset by the amount of capitalized internal-use software development costs. We 
believe that these investments are necessary to maintain and improve our competitive position.  

General and Administrative Expenses  

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel costs, including salaries, benefits, stock-based compensation expense 
and bonuses, for our administrative, legal, human resources, finance and accounting employees and executives. Also included are non-personnel 
costs, such as travel-related expenses, audit fees, tax services and legal fees, as well as professional fees, insurance and other corporate expenses, 
along with allocated overhead.  

We expect to incur incremental costs associated with supporting the growth of our business, both in terms of size and geographic 
expansion, and to meet the increased compliance requirements associated with our continued operation as a public company. Such costs include 
increases in our accounting and legal personnel, additional consulting, legal and audit fees, insurance costs, board of directors’ compensation and 
the costs of achieving and maintaining compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. As a result, we expect our general and administrative expenses 
to increase in absolute dollars in future periods but to decrease as a percentage of revenues over time.  

Total Other Expenses, Net  

Other expenses, net primarily consists of foreign currency transaction gains and losses and interest expense, net. Interest expense, net, 
consists primarily of interest income earned on our cash equivalents offset by the interest expense for our capital lease payments and borrowings 
under our equipment advances and revolving line of credit.  
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Provision for Income Taxes  

The provision for income taxes consists of federal, state and foreign income taxes. Due to recent losses, we maintain a valuation allowance 
against our deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2013. We consider all available evidence, both positive and negative, in assessing the extent 
to which a valuation allowance should be applied against our deferred tax assets.  

Results of Operations  

The following table is a summary of our consolidated statements of operations. The period-to-period comparisons of results are not 
necessarily indicative of results for future periods.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
     (in thousands)   
Revenues, net     $ 77,315      $ 59,558      $ 36,121    
Cost of revenues (1)       31,109        24,764        18,691    

                               

Gross profit       46,206        34,794        17,430    
                               

Operating expenses         
Sales and marketing (1)       42,799        32,633        20,357    
Research and development (1)       20,715        14,014        7,071    
General and administrative (1)       17,028        13,432        6,679    

                               

Total operating expenses       80,542        60,079        34,107    
         

  
        

  
        

  

Loss from operations       (34,336 )      (25,285 )      (16,677 )  
Interest expense, net       (453 )      (520 )      (378 )  
Other income (expenses), net       (571 )      (456 )      (229 )  

         
  

        
  

        
  

Loss before provision for income taxes       (35,360 )      (26,261 )      (17,284 )  
Provision for income taxes       (492 )      (221 )      (139 )  

                               

Net loss available to common stockholders     $ (35,852 )    $ (26,482 )    $ (17,423 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

(1) Stock-based compensation included in the consolidated statements of operations data above was as follows: 

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013      2012      2011   
     (in thousands)   
Cost of revenues     $ 887       $ 439       $ 165    
Sales and marketing       1,304         1,005         226    
Research and development       1,346         831         163    
General and administrative       1,681         2,673         143    

                                 

   $ 5,218       $ 4,948       $ 697    
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The following table sets forth our consolidated results of operations for the specified periods as a percentage of our revenues for those 
periods. Percent of revenue figures are rounded and therefore may not subtotal exactly.  
   

The following tables set forth our consolidated revenues by geographic area:  
   

Adjusted EBITDA  

Adjusted EBITDA is a financial measure that is not calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United 
States (U.S. GAAP). We define Adjusted EBITDA as net loss, adjusted for stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization, 
capitalized internal-use software development costs, interest expense, net, provision for income taxes and other income (expenses), net. Adjusted 
EBITDA is a financial measure that is not calculated in accordance with GAAP. We believe Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors in 
evaluating our operating performance for the following reasons:  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
Revenues, net       100 %      100 %      100 %  
Cost of revenues       40        42        52    

         
  

        
  

        
  

Gross profit       60        58        48    
                               

Operating expenses         
Sales and marketing       55        55        56    
Research and development       27        24        20    
General and administrative       22        23        18    

                               

Total operating expenses       104        101        94    
                               

Loss from operations       (44 )      (42 )      (46 )  
Interest expense       (1 )      (1 )      (1 )  
Other income (expenses), net       (1 )      (1 )      (1 )  

                               

Loss before provision for income taxes       (46 )      (44 )      (48 )  
Provision for income taxes       (1 )      —          —      

                               

Net loss       (46 )%      (44 )%      (48 )%  
         

  

        

  

        

  

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
     (in thousands)   
Revenues, net by geography         

United States of America     $ 52,725      $ 43,429      $ 26,673    
International       24,590        16,129        9,448    

                               

Total revenues, net     $ 77,315      $ 59,558      $ 36,121    
         

  

        

  

        

  

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
Revenues, net by geography         

United States of America       68 %      73 %      74 %  
International       32        27        26    

                               

Total revenues, net       100 %      100 %      100 %  
         

  

        

  

        

  

  
•   Adjusted EBITDA is widely used by investors and securities analysts to measure a company’s operating performance without regard 

to items, such as stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization, capitalized internal-use software development 
costs, interest expense,  
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We understand that, although Adjusted EBITDA is frequently used by investors and securities analysts in their evaluations of companies, 
Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results of 
operations as reported under GAAP. These limitations include:  
   

   

   

   

The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss, the most comparable GAAP measure, to Adjusted EBITDA for each of the 
periods indicated:  
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  net, provision for income taxes and other income or expense, net, that can vary substantially from company to company depending 
upon their financing, capital structures and the method by which assets were acquired;  

  
•   Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA in conjunction with GAAP financial measures for planning purposes, including the 

preparation of our annual operating budget, as a measure of operating performance and the effectiveness of our business strategies 
and in communications with our board of directors concerning our financial performance; and 

  
•   Adjusted EBITDA provides consistency and comparability with our past financial performance, facilitates period-to-period 

comparisons of operations and also facilitates comparisons with other peer companies, many of which use similar non-GAAP 
financial measures to supplement their GAAP results. 

  •   Depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, and the assets being depreciated or amortized will often have to be replaced in 
the future; Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for these replacements; 

  •   Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs or contractual commitments; 

  •   Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash requirements for income taxes and the cash impact of other income or expense; and 

  •   Other companies may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure. 

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
     (in thousands)   
Net loss     $ (35,852 )    $ (26,482 )    $ (17,423 )  

Depreciation and amortization       5,878        3,167        1,800    
Interest expense, net       453        520        378    
Provision for income taxes       492        221        139    

                               

EBITDA       (29,029 )      (22,574 )      (15,106 )  
Other (income) expenses, net       571        456        229    
Capitalized internal-use software development costs       (3,216 )      (1,743 )      (1,028 )  
Stock-based compensation       5,218        4,948        697    

                               

Adjusted EBITDA     $ (26,456 )    $ (18,913 )    $ (15,208 )  
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Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2013 and 2012  

Revenues  
   

Revenues increased $17.8 million, or 30%, for 2013 as compared to 2012. This increase was driven by growth in revenues from both new 
and existing advertisers in all geographies as our ongoing investment in sales and marketing resources resulted in increased demand for our 
platform worldwide. During 2013, we generated $11.1 million of revenue from new advertisers and $6.7 million of additional revenue from our 
existing advertisers. We define a new advertiser as an advertiser from whom we earned revenue during the current fiscal period and from whom 
we did not earn any revenue during the previous corresponding period. There were no customers that accounted for greater than 10% of our 
revenues in 2013 or 2012.  

Revenues in 2013 from the United States and international locations represented 68% and 32%, respectively, of revenues, and in 2012, 
revenues from the United States and international locations represented 73% and 27%, respectively, of revenues.  

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin  
   

Cost of revenues increased $6.3 million, or 26%, as compared to 2012. This reflected an increase in the average number of global services 
and platform infrastructure personnel from 118 employees during 2012 to 135 employees during 2013, resulting in an increase of $2.7 million in 
compensation and benefits expenses and $0.1 million of allocated overhead. During 2013, we also experienced increases of $2.2 million in 
depreciation and amortization expense, $0.9 million in hosting costs, $0.3 million of equipment-related expenses, and $0.2 million of 
professional fees to support the increased use of our hosted platform.  

Our gross margin increased to 60% during 2013 from 58% during 2012. This increase was due to the achievement of greater operational 
efficiency from personnel dedicated to our cloud infrastructure and global services precipitated by upgraded functionality and capabilities 
delivered by our engineering team. Compensation for these personnel was 23% of revenues during 2013, as compared to 25% during 2012.  

Sales and Marketing  
   

Sales and marketing expenses increased $10.2 million, or 31%, as compared to 2012. The increases were primarily due to an increase our 
average global sales and marketing headcount from 123 employees during 2012  
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       Years Ended December 31,        Change   
         2013              2012          $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Total revenues, net     $ 77,315       $ 59,558       $ 17,757         30 %  

       Years Ended December 31,       Change   
         2013             2012         $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Cost of revenues     $ 31,109      $ 24,764      $ 6,345         26 %  
Gross profit       46,206        34,794        11,412         33    
Gross margin       60 %      58 %       

       Years Ended December 31,       Change   
         2013             2012         $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Sales and marketing     $ 42,799      $ 32,633      $ 10,166         31 %  

Percent of revenues, net       55 %      55 %       
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to 161 employees during 2013, contributing to an increase of $8.2 million in personnel-related costs, consisting primarily of increased employee 
compensation, benefits and travel costs associated with our sales force. Stock-based compensation during 2013 did not include $0.4 million in 
stock-based compensation incurred in 2012 directly attributable to the redemption of common shares from an employee for an amount above the 
fair value at the time of the redemption. Allocated overhead increased $0.8 million and recruiting fees increased $0.1 million, also due to the 
growth in headcount relative to the rest of the company. Marketing event and technology costs increased $0.7 million due to our continued 
marketing efforts and professional fees also increased $0.3 million during 2013.  

Research and Development  
   

Research and development expenses increased $6.7 million, or 48%, as compared to 2012. This reflected an increase in average research 
and development headcount from 88 employees during 2012 to 130 employees during 2013, resulting in an increase of $4.9 million in 
compensation expense. Stock-based compensation for 2013 did not include $0.3 million in stock-based compensation incurred in 2012 directly 
attributable to the redemption of common shares from two employees for an amount above the fair value at the time of the redemption. Allocated 
overhead also increased $1.1 million due to the increase in headcount. Professional fees increased $0.3 million to supplement our employees’ 
efforts to enhance our software architecture. Recruiting, equipment, and travel expenses increased $0.3 million in total to support the opening of 
our new office in Shanghai.  

General and Administrative  
   

General and administrative expenses increased $3.6 million, or 27%, respectively, as compared to 2012. Included in this balance during 
2012 is $1.9 million in stock-based compensation directly associated with the redemption of common shares from two employees for an amount 
above the fair value at the time of the redemption. As a result, stock-based compensation for general and administrative employees decreased 
$1.0 million during 2013. Excluding stock-based compensation, general and administrative expenses increased $4.6 million. Compensation, 
benefits and other employee-related expenses exclusive of stock-based compensation increased by $2.3 million, as we added employees to 
support the growth of our business and as we became a public company. Professional fees and insurance expenses increased $0.6 million and 
$0.4 million, respectively, to support our global expansion and as we completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) and became a public company 
during the March 2013. Allocated overhead and recruiting fees increased $0.4 million and $0.2 million, respectively, to support our growth in 
headcount. Expenses for non-income based taxes increased $0.2 million as we became a public company. Banking fees also increased $0.2 
million as we continued our international expansion.  
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       Years Ended December 31,       Change   
         2013             2012         $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Research and development     $ 20,715      $ 14,014      $ 6,701         48 %  

Percent of revenues, net       27 %      24 %       

       Years Ended December 31,       Change   
         2013              2012     $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
General and administrative     $ 17,028       $ 13,432      $ 3,596         27 %  

Percent of revenues, net       22 %       23 %       
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Total Other Expenses, Net  
   

Other expenses, net primarily consists of foreign currency transaction gains and losses and interest expense. Interest expense decreased 
$0.1 million in 2013, as we paid off the balance on our revolving line of credit. Foreign currency transaction losses increased $0.1 million due to 
the growth of our international operations.  

Provision for Income Taxes  
   

Provision for income increased $0.3 million as a result of increased profits generated in foreign jurisdictions by our wholly-owned 
subsidiaries.  

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2012 and 2011  

Revenues  
   

Revenues increased $23.4 million, or 65%, for 2012 as compared to 2011. This increase was driven by growth in revenues from both new 
and existing advertisers in all geographies as our ongoing investment in sales and marketing resources resulted in increased demand for our 
platform worldwide. During 2012, we generated $10.7 million of revenue from new advertisers and $12.7 million of additional revenue from our 
existing advertisers. There were no customers that accounted for greater than 10% of our revenues in 2011 or 2012.  

Revenues in 2012 from the United States and international locations represented 73% and 27%, respectively, of revenues, and in 2011, 
revenues from the United States and international locations represented 74% and 26%, respectively, of revenues.  

Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin  
   

Cost of revenues increased $6.1 million, or 32%, for 2012 as compared to 2011. This reflected an increase in the number of global services 
and platform infrastructure personnel, resulting in a $3.1 million increase in  
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       Years Ended December 31,       Change   
         2013             2012         $     %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Other income (expenses), net     $ (1,024 )    $ (976 )    $ (48 )      5 %  

     Years Ended December 31,      Change   
         2013              2012          $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Provision for income taxes     $ 492       $ 221       $ 271         123 %  

     
Years Ended  
December 31,      Change   

     2012      2011      $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Revenues     $ 59,558       $ 36,121       $ 23,437         65 %  

     
Years  

EndedDecember 31,     Change   
     2012     2011     $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Cost of revenues     $ 24,764      $ 18,691      $ 6,073         32 %  
Gross profit       34,794        17,430        17,364         100    
Gross margin       58 %      48 %       
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compensation expense and a $1.4 million increase in allocated overhead due to opening of new offices in Europe and Asia. We also experienced 
increases of $1.0 million in hosting costs and $1.0 million of depreciation and amortization expense, partially offset by a $0.2 million decrease in 
both professional fees and equipment expenses.  

Our gross margin increased to 58% during 2012 from 48% during 2011. This increase was due to the achievement of greater operational 
efficiency from personnel dedicated to our cloud infrastructure and global services precipitated by upgraded functionality and capabilities 
delivered by our engineering team. Compensation for these personnel was 25% of revenues during 2012, as compared to 33% during the same 
period in 2011. Additional costs related to professional fees, travel and equipment expenses represented 2% of our revenues during 2012, as 
compared to 4% during 2011.  

Sales and Marketing  
   

Sales and marketing expenses increased $12.3 million, or 60%, for 2012 as compared to 2011. The increase was primarily due to an 
increase in global sales and marketing headcount from 93 employees as of December 31, 2011 to 136 employees as of December 31, 2012, 
contributing to a $9.5 million increase in personnel-related costs, consisting primarily of increased employee compensation, benefits and travel 
costs associated with our sales force and including $0.4 million in stock-based compensation directly attributable to the redemption of common 
shares from an employee for an amount above the fair value at the time of the redemption. Equipment expenses for our sales and marketing team 
increased $0.3 million to support our growth and professional fees increased $0.2 million. Allocated overhead increased $1.6 million due to the 
opening of new offices in Europe and Asia. Marketing and event costs increased $0.5 million due to our continued efforts to generate sales leads 
and build brand awareness.  

Research and Development  
   

Research and development expenses increased $6.9 million, or 98%, for 2012 as compared to 2011. This reflected an increase in the 
number of research and development personnel from 52 employees as of December 31, 2011 to 105 employees as of December 31, 2012, 
resulting in a $5.7 million increase in compensation expense. Included in this amount was $0.3 million in stock-based compensation directly 
attributable to the redemption of common shares from two employees for an amount above the fair value at the time of the redemption. Allocated 
overhead increased $1.1 million and employee travel expenses increased $0.1 million due to the increase in headcount.  
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Years Ended  
December 31,     Change   

     2012     2011     $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Sales and marketing     $ 32,633      $ 20,357      $ 12,276         60 %  
Percent of revenues       55 %      56 %       

     
Years Ended  
December 31,     Change   

     2012     2011     $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Research and development     $ 14,014      $ 7,071      $ 6,943         98 %  
Percent of revenues       24 %      20 %       
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General and Administrative  
   

General and administrative expenses increased $6.8 million, or 101%, for 2012 as compared to 2011. Our general and administrative 
headcount increased from 28 employees as of December 31, 2011 to 51 employees as of December 31, 2012. As a result, compensation and 
other employee-related expenses increased by $4.6 million as we added employees to support the growth of our business and as we prepared to 
become a public company. Included in this amount is $1.9 million in stock-based compensation directly attributable to the redemption of 
common shares from two employees for an amount above the fair value at the time of the redemption. Professional fees increased $1.6 million to 
support our global expansion and as we took certain steps to prepare ourselves to be a public company. Recruiting fees increased $0.3 million to 
support our growth in headcount. Allocated overhead increased by $0.2 million due to the increase in headcount.  

Other Expenses, Net  
   

Other expenses, net primarily consists of foreign currency transaction gains and losses and interest expense. The increase of $0.4 million 
was primarily due to an increase of $0.3 million in the fair value of the preferred stock warrant liability and a $0.2 million increase in interest 
expense as a result of additional borrowings under our credit facility.  

Provision for Income Taxes  
   

Provision for income taxes increased by approximately $0.1 million for 2012 as compared to 2011 as a result of increased profits generated 
in foreign jurisdictions by our wholly-owned subsidiaries.  
   

43  

     
Years Ended  
December 31,     Change   

     2012     2011     $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
General and administrative     $ 13,432      $ 6,679      $ 6,753         101 %  
Percent of revenues       23 %      18 %       

     
Years Ended  
December 31,     Change   

     2012     2011     $     %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Other expenses, net     ($ 976 )    ($ 607 )    ($ 369 )      61 %  

     
Years Ended  
December 31,      Change   

     2012      2011      $      %   
     (dollars in thousands)   
Provision for income taxes     $ 221       $ 139       $ 82         59 %  
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Quarterly Results of Operations  

The following table sets forth our unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations data for each of the eight quarters in the period 
ended December 31, 2013. We have prepared the quarterly data on a basis consistent with our audited annual financial statements, including, in 
the opinion of management, all normal recurring adjustments necessary for the fair statement of the financial information contained in these 
statements. The historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial 
statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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    Three Months Ended   

    

December 31, 
 

2013     

September 30, 
 

2013     
June 30, 

2013     

March 31, 
 

2013     

December 31, 
 

2012     

September 30, 
 

2012     
June 30, 

2012     

March 31, 
 

2012   
    (in thousands)   
Revenues, net    $ 21,829      $ 20,113      $ 18,218      $ 17,155      $ 17,051      $ 15,501      $ 14,032      $ 12,974    
Cost of revenues (1)      8,097        7,944        7,696        7,372        7,036        6,485        5,989        5,254    

                                                                                

Gross profit      13,732        12,169        10,522        9,783        10,015        9,016        8,043        7,720    
                                                                                

Operating expenses (1)                  
Sales and marketing      11,709        10,281        10,350        10,459        9,018        8,742        8,021        6,852    
Research and development      5,660        5,072        4,904        5,079        4,363        3,606        3,078        2,967    
General and administrative      4,273        4,681        4,026        4,048        3,431        3,091        2,517        4,393    

                                                                                

Total operating expenses      21,642        20,034        19,280        19,586        16,812        15,439        13,616        14,212    
                                                                                

Loss from operations      (7,910 )      (7,865 )      (8,758 )      (9,803 )      (6,797 )      (6,423 )      (5,573 )      (6,492 )  
Interest income (expense), net      (78 )      (82 )      (109 )      (184 )      (171 )      (137 )      (102 )      (110 )  
Other income (expenses), net      (66 )      (16 )      (81 )      (408 )      (234 )      (25 )      (94 )      (103 )  

                                                                                

Loss before provision for income taxes      (8,054 )      (7,963 )      (8,948 )      (10,395 )      (7,202 )      (6,585 )      (5,769 )      (6,705 )  
Provision for income taxes      (7 )      (230 )      (149 )      (106 )      (54 )      (63 )      (55 )      (49 )  

                                                                                

Net loss    $ (8,061 )    $ (8,193 )    $ (9,097 )    $ (10,501 )    $ (7,256 )    $ (6,648 )    $ (5,824 )    $ (6,754 )  
        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

Net loss per share available to common stockholders, 
basic and diluted    $ (0.25 )    $ (0.25 )    $ (0.28 )    $ (1.43 )    $ (1.59 )    $ (1.51 )    $ (1.37 )    $ (1.59 )  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

        

  

(1) Stock-based compensation included in the consolidated statements of operations data above was as follows: 

    Three Months Ended   

    

December 31, 
 

2013     

September 30, 
 

2013     

June 30, 
 

2013     

March 31, 
 

2013     

December 31, 
 

2012     

September 30, 
 

2012     

June 30, 
 

2012     

March 31, 
 

2012   
    (in thousands)   
Cost of revenues    $ 198      $ 239      $ 245      $ 205      $ 147      $ 121      $ 115      $ 56    
Sales and marketing      301        349        361        293        188        261        124        432    
Research and development      356        379        303        308        183        152        132        364    
General and administrative      411        451        400        419        183        295        156        2,039    

                                                                                

Total stock-based compensation    $ 1,266      $ 1,418      $ 1,309      $ 1,225      $ 701      $ 829      $ 527      $ 2,891    
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The following table sets forth our consolidated results of operations for the specified periods as a percentage of our revenues for those 
periods. Percent of revenue figures are rounded and therefore may not subtotal exactly.  
   

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Since our incorporation in March 2006, we have relied primarily on sales of our capital stock to fund our operating activities. From 
incorporation through 2012, we raised $105.7 million, net of related issuance costs, in funding through private placements of our preferred stock. 
Additionally, we have, from time to time, utilized equipment lines to fund capital purchases. In March and April 2013, we raised net proceeds of 
$109.3 million from our IPO. As of December 31, 2013, our principal sources of liquidity were our cash and cash equivalents of $104.4 million 
and access to borrowing under our revolving credit facility and our capital lease arrangement. Our primary operating cash requirements include 
the payment of compensation and related costs, as well as costs for our facilities and information technology infrastructure.  

We presently maintain minimal cash balances in our foreign subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2013, we had $104.4 million of cash and 
cash equivalents, of which only $2.1 million was held by our foreign subsidiaries. In the future, we plan to increase the invoicing and remittance 
of proceeds from our international operations in our foreign subsidiaries’ bank accounts. We plan to re-invest the cash earned by our foreign 
subsidiaries to finance the growth of our foreign operations.  

Based on our current level of operations and anticipated growth, we believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to 
fund our operations for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue 
growth, the expansion of our sales and marketing activities, and the timing and extent of spending to support product development efforts and 
expansion into new territories, and the timing of introductions of new features and enhancements to our platform. Although we are not currently 
a party to any agreement or letter of intent with respect to potential investments in, or acquisitions of, complementary businesses, services or 
technologies, we may enter into these types of arrangements in the future, which could also require us to seek additional equity financing or use 
our cash resources. We have no present understandings, commitments or agreements to enter into any such acquisitions. To the extent that 
existing cash and cash equivalents are insufficient to fund our future activities, we may need to raise additional funds through public or private 
equity or debt financing.  
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    Three Months Ended   

    

December 31, 
 

2013     

September 30, 
 

2013     

June 30, 
 

2013     

March 31, 
 

2013     

December 31, 
 

2012     

September 30, 
 

2012     

June 30, 
 

2012     

March 31, 
 

2012   
    (as a % of revenues, net)   
Revenues, net      100 %      100 %      100 %      100 %      100 %      100 %      100 %      100 %  
Cost of revenues      37        39        42        43        41        42        43        40    

                                                                                

Gross profit      63        61        58        57        59        58        57        60    
                                                                                

Operating expenses                  
Sales and marketing      54        51        57        61        53        56        57        53    
Research and 

development      26        25        27        30        26        23        22        23    
General and 

administrative      20        23        22        24        20        20        18        34    
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  
        

  

Total operating 
expenses      99        99        106        115        99        99        97        110    

                                                                                

Loss from 
operations      (36 )      (38 )      (48 )      (58 )      (40 )      (41 )      (40 )      (50 )  

Interest income 
(expense), net      —          —          (1 )      (1 )      (1 )      (1 )      (1 )      (1 )  

Other income 
(expenses), net      —          —          —          (2 )      (1 )      —          (1 )      (1 )  

                                                                                

Loss before 
provision for 
income taxes      (37 )      (38 )      (49 )      (61 )      (42 )      (42 )      (42 )      (52 )  

Provision for income 
taxes      —          (1 )      (1 )      (1 )      —          —          —          —      

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Net loss      (37 )%      (39 )%      (50 )%      (62 )%      (42 )%      (42 )%      (42 )%      (52 )%  
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Summary of Cash Flows  

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:  
   

Operating Activities  

Cash used in operating activities is primarily influenced by the amount of cash we invest in personnel and infrastructure to support the 
anticipated growth of our business and the increase in the number of advertisers using our platform. Cash used in operating activities has 
typically been affected by net losses and further increased by changes in our operating assets and liabilities, particularly in the areas of accounts 
receivable and accrued liabilities, adjusted for non-cash expense items such as depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation.  

Cash used in operating activities in 2013 of $23.4 million was the result of a net loss of $35.9 million, partially offset by non-cash 
expenses of $12.0 million, which included depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation expense. These non-cash expenses 
increased due to capital expenses and headcount growth, primarily related to continued investment in our business. These uses of funds were 
offset by a $0.5 million net change in working capital items, most notably an increase in deferred revenue of $1.9 million due to our efforts to 
invoice the total minimum fees due under the term of our subscription agreements at the start of the agreement, and an increase in accrued 
liabilities of $2.2 million, related to the growth of our operations and timing of related disbursements. These working capital changes were 
partially offset by a $0.9 million increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets and a $2.4 million increase in accounts receivable, also 
related to the growth of our operations and timing of related disbursements.  

Cash used in operating activities in 2012 of $19.1 million was the result of a net loss of $26.5 million, offset by non-cash expenses of 
$9.1 million, which included depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation expense. These non-cash expenses increased due to 
capital expenses and headcount growth, primarily related to continued investment in our business. The remaining use of funds of $1.7 million 
was from the net change in working capital items, most notably an increase in accounts receivable of $3.7 million resulting from our revenue 
growth and an increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $0.6 million primarily related to the timing of payments for insurance 
premiums and software subscriptions. These were partially offset by an increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $2.6 million, 
related to the growth of our operations and timing of related disbursements.  

Cash used in operating activities in 2011 of $16.5 million was the result of a net loss of $17.4 million, offset by non-cash expenses of 
$3.2 million, which included depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation expense. These non-cash expenses increased due to 
capital expenses and headcount growth, primarily related to continued investment in our business. The remaining use of funds of $2.3 million 
was from the net change in working capital items, most notably an increase in accounts receivable of $5.5 million resulting from our revenue 
growth, partially offset by an increase in accrued liabilities of $3.5 million related to the growth of our operations and the timing of 
compensation and other general expenses.  

Investing Activities  

During 2013, 2012 and 2011, investing activities consisted of purchases of property and equipment, including technology hardware and 
software to support our growth as well as capitalized internal-use software  
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     Year Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
     (in thousands)   
Net cash used in operating activities     $ (23,397 )    $ (19,095 )    $ (16,490 )  
Net cash used in investing activities       (8,239 )      (7,250 )      (3,360 )  
Net cash provided by financing activities       104,503        56,166        20,397    

         
  

        
  

        
  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents     $ 72,867      $ 29,821      $ 547    
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development costs. Purchases of property and equipment may vary from period-to-period due to the timing of the expansion of our operations 
and the development cycles of our internal-use hosted software platform. We expect to continue to invest in property and equipment and 
developing our software platform for the foreseeable future.  

Financing Activities  

Our financing activities have consisted primarily of the issuance of preferred stock purchases of common stock, and borrowings and 
repayments under our credit facility.  

Cash provided by financing activities in 2013 was $104.5 million. This consisted of proceeds from our IPO, net of paid offering costs, of 
$109.4 million as well as $3.0 million of proceeds from the exercise of stock options and contributions to our employee stock purchase plan. 
These amounts were partially offset by $8.0 million in net repayments under our credit facility and capital lease arrangement.  

Cash provided by financing activities in 2012 was $56.2 million. This consisted of $54.2 million of net proceeds from the issuance of our 
Series F and F-1 preferred stock, net borrowings under our credit facility of $4.3 million during this period, and $2.1 million of proceeds from 
the exercise of stock options and issuance of common stock. These inflows were partially offset by $4.5 million paid to redeem common stock 
during the period and $0.1 million paid for direct costs associated with our IPO.  

Cash provided by financing activities in 2011 was $20.4 million. This consisted of $15.9 million of net proceeds from the issuance of our 
Series E preferred stock, $3.5 million of net proceeds from activity under our credit facility and $1.0 million from the exercise of employee stock 
options and common stock warrants.  

Contractual Obligations and Commitments  

Our principal commitments consist of obligations under operating leases for office space and our data center as well as debt obligations 
under our credit facility with Silicon Valley Bank. As of December 31, 2013, the future minimum payments under these commitments, as well as 
obligations under our credit facility, were as follows:  
   

The amounts in the table above are associated with agreements that are enforceable and legally binding, which specify significant terms 
including payment terms, related services and the approximate timing of the transaction. Obligations under contracts that we can cancel without 
a significant penalty are not included in the table.  

During the ordinary course of business, we include indemnification provisions within certain of our contracts. Pursuant to these 
arrangements, we may be obligated to indemnify, hold harmless and agree to reimburse the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred by 
the indemnified party, generally parties with which we have commercial relations, in connection with certain intellectual property infringement 
claims by any third party with respect to our software. To date, there have not been any costs incurred in connection with such indemnification 
arrangements and therefore, there is no accrual for such amounts as of December 31, 2013.  
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     Payments Due By Period   

     Total      

Less Than 
 

1 Year      
1-

3 Years      
3-

5 Years      

More Than 
 

5 Years   
     (in thousands)   
Debt obligations     $ 6,369       $ 3,253       $ 3,116       $ —         $ —      
Interest expense payments       139         105         34         —           —      
Operating leases       9,536         5,690         2,987         859         —      

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Total     $ 16,044       $ 9,048       $ 6,137       $ 859       $ —      
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In addition to the obligations in the table above, approximately $0.1 million of unrecognized tax benefits have been recorded as liabilities 
as of December 31, 2013. It is uncertain as to if or when such amounts may be settled.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

During the periods presented, we did not have, nor do we currently have, any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial 
partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the 
purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. We are therefore not exposed to any 
financing, liquidity, market or credit risk that could arise if we had engaged in those types of relationships.  

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates  

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, as well as the reported revenues and expenses 
during the reporting periods. These items are monitored and analyzed by us for changes in facts and circumstances, and material changes in these 
estimates could occur in the future.  

We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, 
the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. If actual results or events differ 
materially from those contemplated by us in making these estimates, our reported financial condition and results of operations for future periods 
could be materially affected. See “Risk Factors” for certain matters that may affect these estimates or our future financial condition or results of 
operations. An accounting policy is deemed to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made based on assumptions about matters 
that are uncertain at the time the estimate is made, if different estimates reasonably could have been used, or if the changes in estimate that are 
reasonably likely to occur could materially impact the financial statements.  

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K, and we believe that the accounting policies discussed below involve the greatest degree of complexity and exercise of judgment by our 
management. The methods, estimates and judgments that we use in applying our accounting policies have a significant impact on our results of 
operations and, accordingly, we believe the policies described below are the most critical for understanding and evaluating our financial 
condition and results of operations.  

Revenue Recognition  

We generate revenues principally from subscriptions to our platform either directly with advertisers or with advertising agencies. Our 
subscription agreements are generally one year or longer in length. Our subscription fee under most contracts is variable based on the value of 
the advertising spend that our advertisers manage through the platform and is generally invoiced on a monthly basis. Contracts with direct 
advertisers and certain contracts with advertising agencies also include a minimum monthly fee that is payable over the duration of the contract. 
Our customers do not have the right to take possession of the software supporting the application service at any time, nor do the arrangements 
contain general rights of return. We commence revenue recognition for both direct advertisers and advertising agencies when all of the following 
conditions are met:  
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  •   persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; 
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We recognize the minimum fee for both direct advertisers and advertising agencies, where applicable, over the duration of the contract, 
commencing on the date that the platform is made available to the customer, provided revenues recognized do not exceed amounts that are 
invoiced and due. The variable fee, which is based on a percentage of the value of the advertising spend managed through the platform, is 
recognized once the amount is fixed or determinable, which is generally on a monthly basis concurrent with the issuance of the customer 
invoice. Signed contracts are used as evidence of an arrangement. We assess collectability based on a number of factors such as past collection 
history with the customer and creditworthiness of the customer. Certain agreements with advertising agencies also contain sequential liability 
provisions, which provide that the agency has no obligation to pay us until the agency receives payment from its customers. In these 
circumstances, we evaluate the credit worthiness of the agency’s customers, in addition to the agency itself, to conclude whether or not 
collectability is reasonably assured. If we determine collectability is not reasonably assured, we defer the revenue recognition until collectability 
becomes reasonably assured.  

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ratified authoritative accounting guidance regarding revenue 
recognition for arrangements with multiple deliverables effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after June 15, 2010. We adopted the new 
guidance on a prospective basis for fiscal 2011. Professional services and training, when sold with the platform subscription services, are 
accounted for separately when those services have standalone value. In determining whether professional services and training services can be 
accounted for separately from subscription services, we consider the following factors: availability of the services from other vendors; the nature 
of the services; the dependence of the subscription services on the customer’s decision to buy the professional services; and whether we sell the 
subscription services without professional services. If the deliverables have stand-alone value, we account for each deliverable separately and 
revenues are recognized for the respective deliverables as they are delivered. If one or more of the deliverables do not have stand-alone value, 
the deliverables that do not have stand-alone value are combined with the final deliverables within the arrangement and treated as a single unit of 
accounting. Revenues for arrangements treated as a single unit of accounting are recognized over the period of the contract commencing upon 
delivery of the final deliverable. As of December 31, 2013, we did not have stand-alone value for the professional services and training services. 
This is because we include professional services and training services with our subscription services and those services are not available from 
other vendors.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

We measure and recognize expense for stock-based compensation based on the grant date fair value of the award and generally recognize 
the expense, net of estimated forfeitures, on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period.  

Prior to our IPO, we estimated the fair value of our common stock for purposes of determining the fair value of our option awards. 
Subsequent to the IPO, we use the closing stock price on the date of grant. Determining the fair value of stock-based awards at the grant date 
requires judgment. We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of our stock option awards. The determination of 
the grant date fair value of our stock option awards using an option pricing model is affected by the estimated fair value per share of the common 
stock underlying those options as well as assumptions regarding a number of other complex and subjective variables. These variables include our 
expected stock price volatility over the expected term of the options, stock option exercise and cancellation behaviors, risk-free interest rates and 
expected dividends, which are estimated as follows:  
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  •   the platform is made available to the customer; 

  •   the fee is fixed or determinable, and; 

  •   collection is reasonably assured. 

  •   Expected Volatility . As our common stock has been publicly traded less than a year, there is a lack of company-specific historical 
and implied volatility data. Accordingly, we have estimated the expected  
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We used the following assumptions in our application of the Black-Scholes option pricing model for the periods presented in the table 
below:  
   

In addition, ASC 718 requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual 
forfeitures differ from those estimates. We apply an estimated forfeiture rate based on our historical forfeiture experience.  

Future expense amounts for any particular period could be affected by changes in our assumptions or changes in market conditions.  

Stock-based compensation expense included in the consolidated financial statement line items is as follows:  
   

Costs for equity instruments issued in exchange for the receipt of goods or services from non-employees are measured at the fair market 
value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, whichever is more reliably measurable. The value of equity 
instruments issued for consideration other than employee services is determined on the earlier of the date on which there first exists a firm 
commitment for performance by the provider of goods or services or on the date performance is complete, using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model.  
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stock price volatility for our common stock by taking the average historic price volatility for industry peers based on daily price 
observations over a period equivalent to the expected term of the stock option grants. Industry peers consist of public companies in 
the technology industry, primarily in the subscription software business. We intend to continue to consistently apply this process 
using the same or similar public companies until a sufficient amount of historical information regarding the volatility of our own 
common stock share price becomes available, or unless circumstances change such that the identified companies are no longer 
similar to us, in which case, more suitable companies whose share prices are publicly available would be utilized in the calculation.  

  •   Risk-Free Interest Rate . The risk-free interest rate assumption used is based on observed market interest rates appropriate for the 
term of employee options. 

  
•   Expected Term . We estimated the expected term for a “plain vanilla” option using the simplified method allowed under current 

guidance, which uses the midpoint between the graded vesting period and the contractual termination date since we do not have 
sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term. 

  •   Dividend Yield . We have never declared or paid any cash dividends and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the 
foreseeable future. Consequently, we used an expected dividend yield of zero. 

     
Years Ended  
December 31,   

     2013     2012     2011   
Dividend yield       0 %      0 %      0 %  
Expected volatility       55 %      57 %      57 %  
Risk-free interest rate       1.27 %      0.95 %      2.02 %  
Expected term (in years)       6.25        6.25        6.25    

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013      2012      2011   
     (in thousands)   
Cost of revenues     $ 887       $ 439       $ 165    
Sales and marketing       1,304         1,005         226    
Research and development       1,346         831         163    
General and administrative       1,681         2,673         143    

                                 

   $ 5,218       $ 4,948       $ 697    
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Prior to our IPO, we were required to estimate the fair value of the common stock underlying our share-based awards when performing the 
fair value calculations with the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The fair value of the common stock underlying our share-based awards was 
determined by our board of directors, with input from management and contemporaneous third-party valuations. Our board of directors 
determined the fair value of our common stock on the date of grant based on a number of factors including:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

In valuing our common stock, our board of directors determined the equity value of our business generally using the income approach and 
market comparable approach valuation methods. When applicable, due to a recent preferred stock offering, the prior sale of company stock 
method was also utilized. The income approach estimates value based on the expectation of future cash flows that a company will generate, such 
as cash earnings, cost savings, tax deductions and the proceeds from a disposition. These future cash flows are discounted to their present values 
using a discount rate derived from an analysis of the cost of capital of comparable publicly traded companies in our industry or similar lines of 
business as of each valuation date and is adjusted to reflect the risks inherent in our cash flows. In addition, we also considered an appropriate 
discount adjustment to recognize the lack of marketability due to being a closely held entity.  

The market comparable approach estimates value based on a comparison of the subject company to comparable public companies in a 
similar line of business. From the comparable companies, a representative market value multiple is determined and then applied to the subject 
company’s operating results to estimate the value of the subject company. In our valuations, the multiple of the comparable companies was 
determined using a ratio of the market value of invested capital less cash to each of the last twelve month revenues and the forecasted future 
twelve month revenues. The estimated value was then discounted by a non-marketability factor due to the fact that stockholders of private 
companies do not have access to trading markets similar to those enjoyed by stockholders of public companies which impacts liquidity. To 
determine our peer group of companies, we considered public enterprise cloud-based application providers and selected those that are similar to 
us in size, stage of life cycle and financial leverage.  

The prior sales of company stock method estimates value by considering any prior arm’s length sales of the subject company’s equity. 
When considering prior sales of the company’s equity, the valuation considers the size of the equity sale, the relationship of the parties involved 
in the transaction, the timing of the equity sale, and the financial condition of the company at the time of the sale.  

Provision for Income Taxes  

As a result of our current net operating loss position in the United States, income tax expense consists primarily of corporate income taxes 
resulting from profits generated in foreign jurisdictions by wholly-owned subsidiaries, along with state income taxes payable in the United 
States. As we have incurred operating losses in all periods to date and recorded a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets (except 
for deferred tax assets associated with our subsidiary in the United Kingdom), we have not historically recorded a provision for  
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  •   our performance, growth rate and financial condition at the approximate time of the option grant; 

  •   the value of companies that we consider peers based on a number of factors including, but not limited to, similarity to us with respect 
to industry, business model, stage of growth, financial risk or other factors; 

  •   changes in our business and our prospects since the last time the board approved option grants and made a determination of fair 
value; 

  •   amounts recently paid by investors for our convertible preferred stock in arm’s-length transactions; 

  •   the rights, preferences and privileges of preferred stock relative to those of our common stock; 

  •   future financial projections; and 

  •   valuation analyses. 
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federal income taxes. Realization of any of our deferred tax assets depends upon future earnings, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. 
We consider all available evidence, both positive and negative, in assessing the extent to which a valuation allowance should be applied against 
our deferred tax assets.  

Utilization of our net operating losses may be subject to substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change limitations provided by 
the Code and similar state provisions. An analysis was conducted through December 31, 2013 to determine whether an ownership change had 
occurred since inception. The analysis indicated that because an ownership change occurred in a prior year, $0.2 million of each of our federal 
and state net operating losses were significantly limited pursuant to IRC Section 382. In the event we have subsequent changes in ownership or 
profitability is delayed, net operating losses and research and development credit carryovers could be further limited and may expire unutilized.  

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

We assess collectability based on a number of factors, including credit worthiness of the customer along with past transaction history; in 
addition, we perform periodic evaluations of our customers’ financial condition. Certain contracts with advertising agencies contain sequential 
liability provisions, where the agency does not have an obligation to pay until payment is received from the agency’s customers. In these 
circumstances, we evaluate the credit worthiness of the agency’s customers, in addition to the agency itself. Credit losses historically have not 
been material, which is directly attributable to our subscription-based services model, enabling us to immediately discontinue the availability of 
the services in question in the event of non-payment. Through December 31, 2013, we have not experienced any significant credit losses.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

See “Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, regarding the impact of certain recent accounting pronouncements on our consolidated financial statements.  

   

We have operations both within the United States and internationally and we are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our 
business. These risks primarily include interest rate, foreign exchange and inflation risks, as well as risks relating to changes in the general 
economic conditions in the countries where we conduct business. To reduce certain of these risks, we monitor the financial condition of our large 
customers and limit credit exposure by setting credit limits as we deem appropriate. In addition, our investment strategy has been to invest in 
financial instruments that are highly liquid and readily convertible into cash, with maturity dates within three months from the date of purchase. 
To date, we have not used derivative instruments to mitigate the impact of our market risk exposures. We have also not used, nor do we intend to 
use, derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.  

Interest Rate Risk  

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates. Our investments are considered cash equivalents and primarily consist of 
money market funds. As of December 31, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $104.4 million. The carrying amount of our cash and cash 
equivalents reasonably approximates fair value, due to the short maturities of these investments. The primary objectives of our investment 
activities are the preservation of capital, the fulfillment of liquidity needs and the fiduciary control of cash and investments. We do not enter into 
investments for trading or speculative purposes. Our investments are exposed to market risk due to a fluctuation in interest rates, which may 
affect our interest income and the fair market value of our investments. Due to the short-term nature of our investment portfolio, we believe only 
dramatic fluctuations in interest rates would have a material effect on our investments. As such we do not expect our operating results or cash 
flows to be materially affected by a sudden change in market interest rates.  
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk. 
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As of December 31, 2013 we had borrowings outstanding in the aggregate of $6.4 million. Our outstanding long-term borrowings consist 
of fixed and variable interest rate financial instruments. The interest rates of our borrowings range from 3.0% to 6.0%. A hypothetical 10% 
increase or decrease in interest rates relative to our current interest rates would not have a material impact on the fair values of all of our 
outstanding borrowings. Changes in interest rates would, however, affect operating results and cash flows, because of the variable rate nature of 
our borrowings. A hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in interest rates relative to interest rates as of December 31, 2013 would result in an 
insignificant impact to interest expense for 2014.  

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk  

We have foreign currency risks related to our revenues and operating expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar, 
primarily the Euro, British Pound Sterling, Canadian Dollar, Singapore Dollar, Japanese Yen, Chinese Yuan, and Australian Dollar. Revenues 
outside of the United States as a percentage of consolidated revenues were 32%, 27% and 26% during 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. 
Changes in exchange rates may negatively affect our revenues and other operating results as expressed in U.S. Dollars.  

Aggregate foreign currency transaction losses included in determining net loss were not significant during 2013, 2012 and 2011. 
Transaction gains and losses are included in other income (expenses), net.  

As our international operations grow, our risks associated with fluctuation in currency rates will become greater, and we will continue to 
reassess our approach to managing this risk. In addition, currency fluctuations or a weakening U.S. Dollar can increase the costs of our 
international expansion. To date, we have not entered into any foreign currency hedging contracts, since exchange rate fluctuations have not had 
a material impact on our operating results and cash flows. Based on our current international structure, we do not plan on engaging in hedging 
activities in the near future.  

Inflation Risk  

We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Nonetheless, if our 
costs were to become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. 
Our inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

   

The information in response to this item is included in our consolidated financial statements, together with the report thereon of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, beginning on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in Item 7 under the heading Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.  

   

None.  
   

53  

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

Regulations under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, require public companies, including us, to maintain 
“disclosure controls and procedures,” which are defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) to mean a company’s controls and other 
procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is 
recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and 
procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed 
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial 
officer, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required or necessary disclosures. In 
designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how 
well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures 
are met. Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in 
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and procedures. Our chief executive officer and chief financial officer 
have concluded, based on the evaluation of the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures by our management as of December 31, 
2013, that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level for this purpose.  

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting  

Regulations under the Exchange Act require public companies, including our company, to evaluate any change in our “internal control 
over financial reporting” as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. In connection with their evaluation 
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report, our chief executive officer and chief 
financial officer did not identify any change in our internal control over financial reporting during the most recent fiscal quarter that materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.  

Management’s annual Report on Internal control over Financial Reporting  

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial 
reporting or an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by the rules of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission for emerging growth companies.  

   

We intend to hold our 2014 annual meeting of stockholders on May 14, 2014, with a record date of March 25, 2014. The deadline for 
submitting proposals for agenda items for the 2014 Annual Meeting will be March 10, 2014.  

PART III  
   

The information required by this item concerning our directors, executive officers, Section 16 compliance and corporate governance 
matters will be set forth under the headings “Directors and Executive Officers” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership compliance” in the 
definitive Proxy Statement for our 2014 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) and is incorporated into this report by 
reference.  

   

The information required by this item regarding executive compensation will be set forth under the headings “Executive Compensation” in 
the Proxy Statement and is incorporated into this report by reference.  
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The information required by this item regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related stockholder 
matters will be set forth under the headings “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the Proxy Statement and is 
incorporated into this report by reference.  

   

The information required by this item regarding related party transactions and director independence will be set forth under the headings 
“Board of Directors and Committees of the Board,” “Related Party Transactions” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated into this report by 
reference.  

   

The information required by this item regarding principal accounting fees and services will be set forth under the headings “Ratification of 
Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated into this report by reference.  

PART IV  
   

(a)  

(1) Financial Statements  

The list of consolidated financial statements and schedules set forth in the accompanying Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements at 
page F-1 of this annual report is incorporated herein by reference. Such consolidated financial statements and schedules are filed as part of this 
annual report.  

(2) Financial Statement Schedules  

All schedules have been omitted because the required information is not present or not present in amounts sufficient to require submission 
of the schedules, or because the information required is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or notes thereto.  

(b)  

(3) Exhibits  

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Index to Exhibits in Item 15(b) below are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this annual 
report on Form 10-K. See Exhibit Index immediately following the Signature Pages.  
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of  
Marin Software Incorporated  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, convertible 
preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Marin Software 
Incorporated and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) at December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for 
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
San Jose, California  

February 28, 2014  
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Marin Software Incorporated  
Consolidated Balance Sheets  

(dollars and share numbers in thousands, except per share data)  
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
   

F-3  

     December 31,   
     2013     2012   
Assets       
Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 104,407      $ 31,540    
Accounts receivable, net       14,921        13,133    
Prepaid expenses and other current assets       2,695        1,814    

                     

Total current assets       122,023        46,487    
Property and equipment, net       14,417        9,224    
Other noncurrent assets       937        1,513    

                     

Total assets     $ 137,377      $ 57,224    
         

  

        

  

Liabilities, Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’  (Deficit) Equity       
Current liabilities       

Accounts payable     $ 1,018      $ 1,268    
Accrued payroll and other expenses       10,950        9,661    
Deferred revenue       2,566        618    
Current portion of long-term debt       3,253        1,572    

                     

Total current liabilities       17,787        13,119    
Long-term debt, less current portion       2,962        9,243    
Other long-term liabilities       1,284        1,858    

                     

Total liabilities       22,033        24,220    
         

  
        

  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)       
Convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs $0.001 par value – 10,000 and 18,804 shares 

authorized, 0 and 18,753 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 
(liquidation preferences of $0 and $106,519 as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively)       —          105,710    

Stockholders’  (deficit) equity       
Common stock, $0.001 par value – 500,000 and 36,000 shares authorized, 33,133 and 4,942 shares 

issued, 32,953, and 4,658 outstanding at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively;       33        5    
Additional paid-in capital       228,512        4,638    
Accumulated deficit       (113,201 )      (77,349 )  

                     

Total stockholders’  (deficit) equity       115,344        (72,706 )  
                     

Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock, and stockholders’  (deficit) equity     $ 137,377      $ 57,224    
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Marin Software Incorporated  
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss  

(dollars and share numbers in thousands, except per share data)  
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
Revenues, net     $ 77,315      $ 59,558      $ 36,121    
Cost of revenues       31,109        24,764        18,691    

                               

Gross profit       46,206        34,794        17,430    
                               

Operating expenses         
Sales and marketing       42,799        32,633        20,357    
Research and development       20,715        14,014        7,071    
General and administrative       17,028        13,432        6,679    

         
  

        
  

        
  

Total operating expenses       80,542        60,079        34,107    
                               

Loss from operations       (34,336 )      (25,285 )      (16,677 )  
Interest expense, net       (453 )      (520 )      (378 )  
Other income (expenses), net       (571 )      (456 )      (229 )  

                               

Loss before provision for income taxes       (35,360 )      (26,261 )      (17,284 )  
Provision for income taxes       (492 )      (221 )      (139 )  

                               

Net loss       (35,852 )      (26,482 )      (17,423 )  
Other comprehensive income (loss)       —          —          —      

                               

Comprehensive loss     $ (35,852 )    $ (26,482 )    $ (17,423 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

Net loss per share available to common stockholders, basic and diluted     $ (1.36 )    $ (6.00 )    $ (4.29 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per share available to common stockholders, basic 
and diluted       26,312        4,417        4,058    

         

  

        

  

        

  

Stock-based compensation is allocated as follows (Note 9):         
Cost of revenues     $ 887      $ 439      $ 165    
Sales and marketing       1,304        1,005        226    
Research and development       1,346        831        163    
General and administrative       1,681        2,673        143    
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Marin Software Incorporated  
Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit  

(dollars and share numbers in thousands, except per share data)  
   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Convertible  

Preferred Stock         Common Stock     
Additional 

 
Paid-In  
Capital    

  

Accumulated 
Deficit    

  

Accumulated 
 

Other  
Compre-  

hensive Loss   

  Total  
Stockholders’

Deficit        Shares     Amount         Shares     Amount           
Balances at December 31, 2010      12,726        35,580            3,808        4        862        (33,444 )      —          (32,578 )  
Issuance of Series E preferred stock for cash, net of 

issuance costs of $102      1,744        15,934            —          —          —          —          —          —      
Issuance of common stock from exercise of vested stock 

options and vesting of early exercised options      —          —              574        1        552        —          —          553    
Issuance of common stock from exercise of warrant      —          —              57        —          155        —          —          155    
Stock-based compensation expense      —          —              —          —          697        —          —          697    
Compensation expense from issuance of warrants      —          —              —          —          49        —          —          49    
Issuance of warrants in connection with debt agreement      —          —              —          —          139        —          —          139    
Net loss and comprehensive loss      —          —              —          —          —          (17,423 )      —          (17,423 )  

        
  

        
  

            
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

        
  

Balances at December 31, 2011      14,470        51,514            4,439        5        2,454        (50,867 )      —          (48,408 )  
Issuance of Series F preferred stock for cash, net of 

issuance costs of $194      2,805        34,294            —          —          —          —          —          —      
Issuance of Series F-1 preferred stock for cash, net of 

issuance costs of $98      1,478        19,902            —          —          —          —          —          —      
Issuance of common stock from exercise of vested stock 

options and vesting of early exercised options      —          —              500        —          759        —          —          759    
Issuance of common stock from stock purchase 

agreements      —          —              84        —          500        —          —          500    
Redemption of common stock      —          —              (365 )      —          (4,488 )      —          —          (4,488 )  
Stock-based compensation expense      —          —              —          —          4,948        —          —          4,948    
Compensation expense from issuance of warrants      —          —              —          —          60        —          —          60    
Issuance of warrants in connection with debt agreement      —          —              —          —          213        —          —          213    
Stock-based compensation tax benefits      —          —              —          —          192        —          —          192    
Net loss and comprehensive loss      —          —              —          —          —          (26,482 )      —          (26,482 )  

                                                                                    

Balances at December 31, 2012      18,753        105,710            4,658        5        4,638        (77,349 )      —          (72,706 )  
Issuance of common stock in connection with initial 

public offering, net of issuance costs of $11,451      —          —              8,625        8        109,299        —          —          109,307    
Conversion of convertible preferred stock into common 

stock      (18,753 )      (105,710 )          18,753        19        105,691        —          —          105,710    
Conversion of warrant to purchase convertible preferred 

stock into warrant to purchase common stock      —          —              —          —          745        —          —          745    
Issuance of common stock from exercise of vested stock 

options and vesting of early exercised options      —          —              703        1        1,571        —          —          1,572    
Issuance of common stock from cashless exercise of 

warrants      —          —              68        —          —          —          —          —      
Issuance of common stock under employee stock 

purchase plan      —          —              146        —          1,231        —          —          1,231    
Stock-based compensation      —          —              —          —          5,218        —          —          5,218    
Stock-based compensation tax benefits      —          —              —          —          119        —          —          119    
Net loss and comprehensive loss      —          —              —          —          —          (35,852 )      —          (35,852 )  

                                                                                    

Balances at December 31, 2013      —        $ —              32,953      $ 33      $ 228,512      $ (113,201 )    $ —        $ 115,344    
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
Operating activities         
Net loss     $ (35,852 )    $ (26,482 )    $ (17,423 )  
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities         

Depreciation       4,722        2,642        1,344    
Amortization of internal-use software       1,156        525        456    
Loss (gain) on disposal of property and equipment       10        (7 )      65    
Noncash interest expense related to warrants issued in connection with debt       251        159        56    
Noncash expense related to warrants issued in connection with service agreement       —          60        49    
Change in the valuation of outstanding preferred stock warrants       238        362        73    
Stock-based compensation related to stock option grants       5,218        2,358        697    
Stock-based compensation related to preferred stock financing       —          2,590        —      
Provision for bad debt       359        296        289    
Deferred income tax benefit       (91 )      (108 )      —      
Excess tax benefits from stock-based award activities       (119 )      (192 )      —      
Other noncash expenses       245        292        211    
Changes in operating assets and liabilities         

Accounts receivable       (2,392 )      (3,674 )      (5,452 )  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets       (881 )      (550 )      (58 )  
Other assets       (524 )      (55 )      (291 )  
Accounts payable       75        (208 )      (54 )  
Deferred revenue       1,948        445        (46 )  
Accrued expenses and other liabilities       2,240        2,452        3,594    

                               

Net cash used in operating activities       (23,397 )      (19,095 )      (16,490 )  
                               

Investing activities         
Purchases of property and equipment       (5,023 )      (5,507 )      (2,332 )  
Capitalization of internally developed software       (3,216 )      (1,743 )      (1,028 )  

                               

Net cash used in investing activities       (8,239 )      (7,250 )      (3,360 )  
                               

Financing activities         
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in initial public offering, net of issuance costs       109,414        (107 )      —      
Proceeds from issuance of note payable, net of issuance costs       1,667        8,631        5,529    
Repayment of note payable       (9,660 )      (4,334 )      (2,012 )  
Redemption of common stock       —          (4,488 )      —      
Redemption of unvested shares subject to repurchase       (77 )      (48 )      —      
Proceeds from issuance of convertible, preferred stock, net of issuance costs       —          54,196        15,934    
Proceeds from common stock purchase agreements       —          500        —      
Proceeds from exercise of common stock warrants       —          —          155    
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options       1,541        1,624        791    
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan       1,499        —          —      
Excess tax benefits from stock-based award activities       119        192        —      

                               

Net cash provided by financing activities       104,503        56,166        20,397    
         

  
        

  
        

  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       72,867        29,821        547    
Cash and cash equivalents         
Beginning of period       31,540        1,719        1,172    

                               

End of period     $ 104,407      $ 31,540      $ 1,719    
         

  
        

  
        

  

Supplemental disclosures of other cash flow information         
Cash paid for interest     $ 201      $ 453      $ 264    
Cash paid for taxes       276        176        8    
Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities         
Conversion of convertible preferred stock to common stock     $ 105,710      $ —        $ —      
Acquisition of equipment through capital lease       3,167        —          —      
Conversion of warrant to purchase convertible preferred stock to common stock warrant       745        —          —      
Accounts payable related purchases of property and equipment       208        533        301    
Accrued but unpaid debt issuance costs       38        57        —      
Unpaid deferred initial public offering costs       —          944        —      
Other receivables for stock option exercises       —          49        —      
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1. Background  

Marin Software Incorporated (the “Company”) was incorporated in Delaware in March 2006. The Company provides a leading cloud-
based Revenue Acquisition Management platform, offering an integrated digital advertising management solution for search, display, social and 
mobile advertising channels. The Company’s platform helps advertisers and agencies improve financial performance, realize efficiencies and 
time savings, and make better business decisions. The Company’s corporate headquarters are located in San Francisco, California, and the 
Company has additional offices in the following locations: New York, Chicago, Austin, Portland, Mountain View, London, Dublin, Hamburg, 
Paris, Tokyo, Singapore, Sydney, and Shanghai.  

On March 27, 2013, the Company closed its initial public offering (“IPO”) of 7,500 shares of its common stock sold by the Company. The 
public offering price of the shares sold in the IPO was $14.00 per share. The total gross proceeds from the IPO to the Company were $105,000. 
After deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and IPO expenses payable by the Company, the aggregate net proceeds totaled 
$94,659. On April 11, 2013, the underwriters of the IPO fully exercised the over-allotment option granted to them. As a result, the Company 
issued an additional 1,125 shares for net proceeds of $14,648.  

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Principles of Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts 
and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.  

Accounting Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) 
requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying 
notes. The Company is subject to uncertainties such as the impact of future events, economic and political factors and changes in the Company’s 
business environment; therefore, actual results could differ from these estimates. Accordingly, the accounting estimates used in the preparation 
of the Company’s financial statements will change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional information is obtained 
and as the Company’s operating environment changes. Changes in estimates are made when circumstances warrant. Such changes in estimates 
and refinements in estimation methodologies are reflected in reported results of operations and if material, the effects of changes in estimates are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. Significant estimates and assumptions by management affect the allowances for doubtful 
accounts and customer credits, the carrying value of long-lived assets, the useful lives of long-lived assets, the provision for income taxes and 
related deferred taxes, stock-based compensation and the fair value of the Company’s common stock and preferred stock warrants.  

Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties  

The Company operates in a rapidly changing environment that involves a number of risks, some of which are beyond the Company’s 
control that could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results, and financial condition. These risks include, 
among others, the Company’s: history of losses and ability to achieve profitability in the future; highly competitive environment; ability to 
maintain and increase usage rate of the Company’s platform; and ability to increase demand for its solutions.  
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Concentration of Credit Risk  

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash, cash equivalents and accounts 
receivable. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are placed with high-credit-quality financial institutions and issuers, and at times exceed 
federally insured limits. The Company limits its concentration of risk in cash equivalents and short-term investments by diversifying its 
investments among a variety of industries and issuers and by limiting the average maturity to one year or less. The Company has not experienced 
any loss relating to cash and cash equivalents in these accounts. The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers and 
generally does not require collateral.  

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, no single customer accounted for greater than 10% of net accounts receivable. No single customer 
accounted for greater than 10% of consolidated revenues during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original or remaining maturity from the Company’s date of purchase of 90 
days or less to be cash equivalents. Deposits held with financial institutions are likely to exceed the amount of insurance on these deposits. Cash 
equivalents consist of money market funds, which are readily convertible into cash and are stated at cost, which approximates fair market value. 
Cash equivalents were $98,987 and $19,930 as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

The Company’s financial instruments, including cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable are carried at cost, which 
approximates fair value because of the short-term nature of those instruments. The carrying value of the preferred stock warrant liability (Note 5) 
represents fair value. Based on borrowing rates available to the Company for loans with similar terms and maturities, the carrying value of 
borrowings approximates fair value (Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy).  

The Company measures and reports certain financial assets at fair value on a recurring basis, including its investments in money market 
funds. The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into three broad levels:  
   

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement.  

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Revenue Credits  

The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects the Company’s best estimate of probable losses inherent in the Company’s receivables 
portfolio determined on the basis of historical experience, specific allowances for known troubled accounts and other currently available 
evidence. The Company has not experienced significant credit losses from its accounts receivable. The Company performs a regular review of its 
customers’ payment histories  
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Level 1     Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2  
   

Inputs are quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly through market corroboration, for substantially the full term of the financial instrument. 

Level 3     Inputs are unobservable inputs based on the Company’s assumptions. 
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and associated credit risks and it does not require collateral from its customers. Certain contracts with advertising agencies contain sequential 
liability provisions whereby the agency does not have an obligation to pay the Company until payment is received from the agency’s customers. 
In these circumstances, the Company evaluates the credit worthiness of the agency’s customers, in addition to the agency itself. As of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company recorded an allowance for doubtful accounts in the amount of $417 and $277, respectively. The 
following are changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts during 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  
   

From time to time, the Company provides credits to customers and an allowance is made based on historical credit activity. As of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company recorded an allowance for potential customer credits in the amount of $389 and $452, respectively.  

Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are 
computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.  

The useful lives of the property and equipment are as follows:  
   

Upon retirement or sale, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss is 
reflected in operations. Major additions and improvements are capitalized while repairs and maintenance that do not extend the life of the asset 
are charged to operations as incurred. Depreciation and amortization expense is allocated to both cost of revenues and operating expenses.  

Internal Use Software  

Costs incurred in the development phase are capitalized and amortized over the product’s estimated useful life, which is three years. The 
Company expenses all costs incurred that relate to planning and post implementation phases of development. Capitalized costs related to internal 
use software under development are treated as construction in progress until the program, feature or functionality is ready for its intended use, at 
which time amortization commences. For 2013, 2012 and 2011 the Company capitalized $3,216, $1,743, and $1,028 of software development 
costs related to software for internal use, respectively. Amortization of software developed for internal use was $1,156, $525, and $456 for 2013, 
2012 and 2011, respectively. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 unamortized internal use software development costs totaled $4,236 and 
$2,176, respectively. Amortization of internal use software is reflected in cost of revenues. Costs associated with minor enhancements and 
maintenance are expensed as incurred.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
Balances at beginning of period     $ 277      $ 196      $ —      
Additions       359        296        289    
Write-offs       (219 )      (215 )      (93 )  

                               

Balances at end of period     $ 417      $ 277      $ 196    
         

  

        

  

        

  

Computer equipment     3 to 5 years 
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures     3 to 5 years 
Software     3 years 
Leasehold improvements     Shorter of useful life or lease term 
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As of January 1, 2012, the Company revised the estimated useful life of internal use software from two years to three years based on an 
evaluation of the change in use, maintenance and replacement practices of the Company’s internally developed software and the duration over 
which the software is expected to be utilized. As compared to amortization over a two year period, the revision resulted in a reduction of the 
amortization of internal use software recorded in cost of revenues of $303 (or $0.07 per share, basic and diluted) during 2012.  

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets  

The Company evaluates long-lived assets for potential impairment whenever adverse events or changes in circumstances or business 
climate indicate that expected undiscounted future cash flows related to such long-lived assets may not be sufficient to support the net book 
value of such assets. An impairment exists when the carrying value of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. An impairment loss is recognized 
only if the carrying value of a long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. The carrying value of a long-lived asset is not 
recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset. There were 
no such impairment losses during 2013, 2012 or 2011.  

Operating Leases  

The Company’s operating lease agreements include provisions for tenant improvement allowances, certain rent holidays and escalations in 
the base price of the rent payment. The Company defers tenant improvement allowances and amortizes the balance as a reduction to rent expense 
over the lease term. The Company records rent holidays and rent escalations on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Deferred rent is included 
in accrued payroll and other expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  

Freestanding Preferred Stock Warrants  

Upon the consummation of the Company’s IPO, freestanding warrants related to the Company’s convertible preferred stock converted into 
warrants to purchase common stock. The preferred stock warrants were classified as liabilities on the Company’s December 31, 2012 
consolidated balance sheet. Upon conversion, the liability recorded for the preferred stock warrants was reclassified to additional paid-in capital. 
When classified as liabilities, the preferred stock warrants were subject to reassessment at each balance sheet date, and any change in fair value 
was recognized as a component of other income (expenses), net. The Company adjusted the liability for changes in fair value until the preferred 
stock warrants were converted into warrants to purchase common stock.  

Revenue Recognition  

The Company generates revenues principally from subscriptions to its platform either directly with advertisers or with advertising 
agencies. The Company’s subscription agreements are generally one year or longer in length. The Company’s subscription fee under most 
contracts is variable based on the value of the advertising spend that the Company’s advertisers manage through the Company’s platform and is 
generally invoiced on a monthly basis. Contracts with direct advertisers and certain contracts with advertising agencies also include a minimum 
monthly fee that is payable over the duration of the contract. The Company’s customers do not have the right to take possession of the software 
supporting the application service at any time, nor do the arrangements contain general rights of return. The Company commences revenue 
recognition for both direct advertisers and advertising agencies when all of the following conditions are met:  
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  •   persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; 
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The Company recognizes the minimum fee for both direct advertisers and advertising agencies, where applicable, over the duration of the 
contract, commencing on the date that the Company’s platform is made available to the customer, provided revenues recognized do not exceed 
amounts that are invoiced and due. The variable fee, which is based on a percentage of the value of the advertising spend managed through the 
Company’s platform, is recognized once the amount is fixed or determinable, which is generally on a monthly basis concurrent with the issuance 
of the customer invoice. Signed contracts are used as evidence of an arrangement. The Company assesses collectability based on a number of 
factors such as past collection history with the customer and creditworthiness of the customer. Certain agreements with advertising agencies also 
contain sequential liability provisions, which provide that the agency has no obligation to pay the Company until the agency receives payment 
from its customers. In these circumstances, the Company evaluates the credit worthiness of the agency’s customers, in addition to the agency 
itself, to conclude whether or not collectability is reasonably assured. If the Company determines collectability is not reasonably assured, the 
Company defers the revenue recognition until collectability becomes reasonably assured.  

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ratified authoritative accounting guidance regarding revenue 
recognition for arrangements with multiple deliverables effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after June 15, 2010. The Company adopted 
the new guidance on a prospective basis for fiscal 2011. Professional services and training, when sold with the Company’s platform subscription 
services, are accounted for separately when those services have standalone value. In determining whether professional services and training 
services can be accounted for separately from subscription services, the Company considers the following factors: availability of the services 
from other vendors; the nature of the services; the dependence of the subscription services on the customer’s decision to buy the professional 
services; and whether the Company sells the Company’s subscription services without professional services. If the deliverables have stand-alone 
value, the Company accounts for each deliverable separately and revenues are recognized for the respective deliverables as they are delivered. If 
one or more of the deliverables do not have stand-alone value, the deliverables that do not have stand-alone value are combined with the final 
deliverables within the arrangement and treated as a single unit of accounting. Revenues for arrangements treated as a single unit of accounting 
are recognized over the period of the contract commencing upon delivery of the final deliverable. As of December 31, 2013, the Company did 
not have stand-alone value for the professional services and training services. This is because the Company includes professional services and 
training services with the Company’s subscription services and those services are not available from other vendors.  

Cost of Revenues  

Cost of revenues primarily consists of costs related to hosting the Company’s cloud-based platform, providing implementation and 
ongoing customer support, data communications expenses, salaries and benefits of operations and support personnel, software license fees, 
allocated overhead, amortization expense associated with capitalized internal use software and property and equipment depreciation.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

Stock-based compensation is measured at grant date based on the fair value of the award and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the 
requisite service period.  
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  •   the Company’s platform is made available to the customer; 

  •   the fee is fixed or determinable, and; 

  •   collection is reasonably assured. 
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Fair values of share-based payment awards are determined on the date of grant using an option-pricing model. The Company has selected 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of its stock options awards to employees and non-employees. In applying the 
Black-Scholes option pricing model, the Company’s determination of the fair value of the share-based payment award on the date of grant is 
affected by the Company’s estimated fair value of Common Stock, as well as assumptions regarding a number of subjective variables. These 
variables include, but are not limited to, the Company’s expected stock price volatility over the term of the stock options and the optionholders’ 
actual and projected stock option exercise and pre-vesting employment termination behaviors.  

For awards with graded vesting, the Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period using the 
straight-line method, based on awards ultimately expected to vest. The Company estimates future forfeitures at the date of grant and revises the 
estimates, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates.  

Stock options issued to non-employees such as consultants are recorded at their fair value on the measurement date. The measurement of 
stock-based compensation is subject to periodic adjustment as the underlying equity instruments vest. The fair value of options granted to 
consultants is expensed when vested. The non-employee stock-based compensation expense was not material for all periods presented.  

See Note 9 for further information.  

Research and Development  

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred, except for certain internal use software development costs, which may be 
capitalized as noted above. Research and development costs include salaries, stock-based compensation expense, benefits and other operating 
costs such as outside services, supplies and allocated overhead costs.  

Advertising  

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and included in sales and marketing expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations. Advertising expense totaled $785, $632, and $359 for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Foreign Currency Transactions and Remeasurement  

For non-U.S. subsidiaries whose functional currency is the U.S. Dollar, transactions in foreign currencies are remeasured into U.S. Dollars 
at the rates of exchange in effect at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in non-U.S. currencies are re-
measured to U.S. dollars using current exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date. Nonmonetary assets and liabilities are re-measured to 
U.S. dollars using historical exchange rates. Other accounts are re-measured to U.S. dollars using average exchange rates in effect during each 
period. Transaction gains and losses were not material for all periods presented and are included in other income (expenses), net, in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  

Income Taxes  

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based on differences between the financial statement and tax basis of  
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assets and liabilities and net operating loss and credit carryforwards using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are 
expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts expected to be realized.  

The Company accounts for unrecognized tax benefits using a more-likely-than-not threshold for financial statement recognition and 
measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The Company establishes a liability for tax-related uncertainties based 
on estimates of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. The Company records an income tax liability, if any, for the 
difference between the benefit recognized and measured and the tax position taken or expected to be taken on the Company’s tax returns. To the 
extent that the assessment of such tax positions changes, the change in estimate is recorded in the period in which the determination is made. The 
liability is adjusted in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the outcome of a tax audit. The provision for income taxes includes the 
impact of liability provisions and changes to the liability that are considered appropriate. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related 
to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. As the Company maintained a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets in the 
United States, the adjustments resulted in no additional tax expense in 2013. Based on the Company’s assessment of many factors, the Company 
does not expect that changes in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits for the next twelve months will have a significant impact on the 
Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

In July 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued a new accounting standard update on the financial statement 
presentation of unrecognized tax benefits. The new guidance provides that a liability related to an unrecognized tax benefit would be presented 
as a reduction of a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward if such settlement is 
required or expected in the event the uncertain tax position is disallowed. The new guidance becomes effective for the Company on January 1, 
2014 and it will be applied prospectively to unrecognized tax benefits that exist at the effective date with retrospective application permitted. The 
Company is currently assessing the impact of this new guidance.  

3. Balance Sheet Components  

The following table shows the components of property and equipment as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:  
   

Depreciation and amortization expense for 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $5,878, $3,167, and $1,800, respectively.  
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     December 31,   
     2013     2012   
Computer equipment     $ 16,314      $ 8,958    
Software       7,690        4,268    
Office equipment       571        457    
Furniture, fixtures and leasehold improvements       1,861        1,742    

                     

     26,436        15,425    
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization       (12,019 )      (6,201 )  

                     

   $ 14,417      $ 9,224    
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The following table shows the components of accrued payroll and other expenses as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:  
   

4. Fair Value Measurements  

Account balances measured at fair value on a recurring basis include the following as of December 31, 2013 and 2012:  
   

The following table presents the changes in the preferred stock warrant obligation measured and recorded at fair value on a recurring basis, 
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during 2013, 2012 and 2011:  
   

The Company’s cash equivalents as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 consisted of money market funds with original maturity dates of less 
than three months from the date of their respective purchase. Cash equivalents are classified as Level 1. The fair value of the Company’s money 
market funds approximated amortized cost and, as such, there were no unrealized gains or losses on money market funds as of December 31, 
2013 and 2012. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, amounts of $5,420 and $11,610, respectively, were held in bank deposits.  

5. Debt  

In connection with a Loan and Security Agreement entered into with Silicon Valley Bank in 2008, the Company issued a warrant to 
purchase 51 shares of Series B preferred stock at $2.7563 per share. This warrant was to expire on the later date of October 30, 2018, or five 
years from the closing of the Company’s initial public offering. The fair value of the warrant was estimated at an aggregate of $72 using the 
Black-Scholes valuation  
   

F-14  

     December 31,   
     2013      2012   
Accrued salary and payroll related expenses     $ 6,675       $ 4,771    
Accrued accounts payable       2,773         3,882    
Income tax payable       434         109    
Sales and use tax payable       466         365    
Other       602         534    

                      

   $ 10,950       $ 9,661    
         

  

         

  

     December 30,   
     2013      2012   
     Level 1      Level 2      Level 3      Level 1      Level 2      Level 3   
Cash equivalents                    
Money market funds     $ 98,987       $ —         $ —         $ 19,930       $ —         $ —      
Long-term liabilities                    
Preferred stock warrant obligation       —           —           —           —           —           507    

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012      2011   
Balances at beginning of period     $ 507      $ 145       $ 72    
Change in unrealized loss included in earnings       238        362         73    
Conversion to common stock warrant       (745 )      —           —      

         
  

        
  

         
  

Balances at end of period     $ —        $ 507       $ 145    
         

  

        

  

         

  



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

Marin Software Incorporated  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

(dollars and share numbers in thousands, except per share data)  
   
   

model with the following assumptions: expected volatility of 53%, risk free interest rate of 4.85%, expected life of 10 years and no dividends. 
The fair value of the warrant was recorded as a discount to the loan and was amortized to interest expense over the loan term.  

In January 2010, the Company signed an amendment to the Loan and Security Agreement, which provided for a revolving credit facility 
(the “Revolving Credit Facility”). In January 2011, the Company entered into an amendment to the Revolving Credit Facility pursuant to which 
Silicon Valley Bank agreed to extend an equipment advance facility of $2,000 (the “Equipment Advance Facility”). The Equipment Advance 
Facility may only be used to finance the purchase of equipment, accrues interest at a fixed per annum rate of 5.5%, will be repayable in 36 
consecutive monthly installments of principal and interest and will expire on December 1, 2014. In December 2011, the Company entered into 
another amendment to its existing Revolving Credit Facility pursuant to which Silicon Valley Bank agreed to extend an additional equipment 
advance facility of $2,000 (the “Additional Equipment Advance Facility”). The Additional Equipment Advance Facility may only be used to 
finance the purchase of equipment. The Additional Equipment Advance Facility accrues interest at a fixed per annum rate of 5.5% and will be 
repayable in 36 consecutive monthly installments of principal and interest. The additional equipment advance facility expires September 1, 2015. 
As of December 31, 2013, the Company had withdrawn the full amount available under the Additional Equipment Advance Facility. In 
connection with the amendment, the Company issued a warrant to Silicon Valley Bank to purchase 37 shares of common stock at $2.70 per 
share. This warrant would expire on November 30, 2021. The fair value of the warrant was estimated at an aggregate of $139 using the Black-
Scholes valuation model with the following assumptions: expected volatility of 57%; risk-free interest rate of 2.1%; expected life of 10 years; 
and no dividends. The fair value of the warrant was recorded as a discount to the loan and was amortized to interest expense over the loan term.  

In December 2012, the Company entered into an amendment to its existing Revolving Credit Facility and Equipment Advance Facility 
pursuant to which Silicon Valley Bank agreed to extend an additional equipment advance facility of $3,000 (the “Supplemental Equipment 
Advance”). The Supplemental Equipment Advance may only be used to finance the purchase of equipment. The Supplemental Equipment 
Advance accrues interest at a fixed per annum rate of 3.0% and will be repayable in 33 consecutive monthly installments of principal and 
interest. The Supplemental Equipment Advance expires March 1, 2016. As of December 31, 2013, the Company had withdrawn the full amount 
available under the Supplemental Equipment Advance. In connection with the amendment, the Company issued a warrant to Silicon Valley Bank 
to purchase 27 shares of common stock at $12.15 per share. This warrant was to expire in December 2022.  

The fair value of the warrant was estimated at an aggregate of $213 using the Black-Scholes valuation model with the following 
assumptions: expected volatility of 57%; risk-free interest rate of 1.65%; expected life of 10 years; and no dividends. The fair value of the 
warrant was recorded as a discount to the Revolving Credit Facility and will be amortized to interest expense over the facility term. Together 
with the Series B convertible preferred stock warrant and the common stock warrants issued, a total of $251, $159, and $56 was recognized as 
interest expense for 2013, 2012 and 2012, respectively, as a result of the amortization of the loan discounts. In May 2013, Silicon Valley Bank 
exercised the preferred stock warrant and common stock warrants using the cashless exercise feature, resulting in the net issuance of 68 shares of 
common stock.  

In September 2013, the Company entered into an amendment to the Revolving Credit Facility pursuant to which Silicon Valley Bank 
agreed to increase the Revolving Credit Facility to the lesser of $15,000 or 80% of the Company’s eligible accounts receivable. Also, the 
expiration date of the Revolving Credit Facility was extended to July 31, 2015 and the annual interest rate was amended to 0.25% over the Prime 
Rate, payable on a monthly basis. Additionally, the Company’s obligation to meet certain financial covenants will be waived when the 
Company’s unrestricted cash balance exceeds $50,000. As of December 31, 2013, $12.0 million was  
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available for withdrawal under the Revolving Credit Facility. The Revolving Credit Facility and Equipment Advance Facilities are all 
collateralized with all of the personal property of the Company, excluding shares of controlled foreign corporations, patents and copyrights.  

In February 2013, the Company entered into a capital lease arrangement with an equipment manufacturer to finance the acquisition of 
computer equipment. The lease has an effective interest rate of 6.0% and is repayable in 36 consecutive equal monthly installments of principal 
and interest. At the end of the lease period, the Company has the option to purchase the equipment at the estimated fair market value. As of 
December 31, 2013, the net book value of the equipment under the capital lease was $2,495 and the remaining principal balance payable was 
$2,876. The capital lease is collateralized by the underlying computer equipment.  

The Company’s outstanding balances under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Equipment Advance Facilities and the capital lease as of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follows:  
   

The maturities of debt as of December 31, 2013 are as follows:  
   

Outstanding warrants to purchase the Company’s Series B preferred stock were classified as liabilities which were adjusted to fair value at 
each reporting period until the earlier of their exercise or expiration on the later date of October 30, 2018 or five years from the closing of the 
Company’s initial public offering, or the completion of a liquidation event, including the completion of an initial public offering, at which time 
the preferred stock warrant liability was automatically converted into a warrant to purchase shares of common stock and was reclassified to 
stockholders’ equity (deficit). The Company recorded a loss of $238, $362, and $73 for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively, within other income 
(expenses), net to adjust the warrant liability to fair value. The fair values were determined using Level 3 inputs under the GAAP fair value 
hierarchy.  
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     December 31,   
     2013     2012   
Capital lease     $ 2,598      $ —      
Revolving Credit Facility       —          7,225    
Equipment Advance Facilities       3,771        3,970    

                     

     6,369        11,195    
Discount on long-term debt       (154 )      (380 )  

                     

   $ 6,215      $ 10,815    
         

  

        

  

Years Ending     
2014     $ 3,253    
2015       2,464    
2016       652    

           

     6,369    
Less:     

Current portion       (3,253 )  
Discount on long-term debt       (154 )  

           

Noncurrent portion of debt     $ 2,962    
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6. Convertible Preferred Stock  

Immediately prior to the close of the Company’s IPO, the Company’s outstanding convertible preferred stock (“Series A Stock”, “Series 
A-1 Stock”, “Series B Stock”, “Series C Stock”, “Series D Stock,” “Series E Stock,” “Series F Stock” and “Series F-1 Stock”) automatically 
converted at a rate of 1:1 into common stock. The following table summarizes information related to the Company’s convertible preferred stock 
prior to conversion into common stock:  
   

Dividends  

No dividends on the convertible preferred stock were declared by the Board of Directors from inception through their conversion into 
common stock.  

Issuance of Preferred Stock  

Concurrent with primary issuance of Series F Stock in January 2012, the Company also entered into an agreement with certain executives 
of the company to repurchase certain common stock held by them, whereby the Company repurchased 365 shares of their common stock in the 
Company at the Series F preferred stock issuance price of $12.30 per share for an aggregate price of $4,488. At the date of the repurchase, the 
aggregate estimated fair value of the repurchased common stock was $1,898. As a result of this arrangement, the Company recorded stock-based 
compensation expense of $2,590 during 2012. Of this amount, $364, $317 and $1,909 were recorded as sales and marketing, research and 
development and general and administrative expenses, respectively, in the accompanying statement of comprehensive loss for the year ended 
December 31, 2012.  

7. Common Stock  

On February 12, 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a Restated Certificate of Incorporation, which became effective upon 
the consummation of the Company’s initial public offering. The Restated Certificate of Incorporation amends the authorized share capital to 
500,000 shares of common stock ($0.001 par value per share) and 10,000 shares of blank-check preferred stock ($0.001 par value per share).  
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Shares  

Authorized      
Shares  

Outstanding      

Liquidation 
 

Amount      

Proceeds  
Net of  

Issuance  
Cost   

Series A       2,009         2,009       $ 2,248       $ 2,208    
Series A-1       1,400         1,400         2,329         2,273    
Series B       2,673         2,622         7,227         7,146    
Series C       4,673         4,673         12,999         12,915    
Series D       2,022         2,022         11,192         11,038    
Series E       1,744         1,744         16,036         15,934    
Series F       2,805         2,805         34,488         34,294    
Series F-1       1,478         1,478         20,000         19,902    

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

     18,804         18,753       $ 106,519       $ 105,710    
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As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, reserved shares of common stock are as follows:  
   

During 2012, the Company entered into common stock purchase agreements (“CSPAs”) with two members of the Board of Directors. In 
connection with the CSPAs, the Company sold 84 shares of common stock for a cumulative purchase price of $500. The underlying shares vest 
ratably on a monthly basis over 24 months. The CSPAs include a repurchase feature which provides the Company the option, but not the 
obligation, to repurchase any unvested shares upon termination at the original purchase price. As of December 31, 2013, 11 common shares 
issued under the CSPAs were unvested.  

8. Equity Award Plans  

In April 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted and the stockholders approved the 2006 Stock Option Plan (“2006 Plan”). The 
2006 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options under the federal tax laws and nonstatutory stock options. Only employees may 
receive incentive stock options, but nonstatutory stock options may be granted to employees, nonemployee directors and consultants. The stock 
options are exercisable at a price equal to the market value of the underlying shares of common stock on the date of the grant as determined by 
the Company’s board of directors. The term of options granted under the 2006 Plan may not exceed ten years. Certain options are eligible for 
exercise prior to vesting. Exercised but unvested shares are subject to repurchase by the Company at the initial exercise price upon termination of 
the optionee. The proceeds from the shares subject to repurchase are classified as a liability and reclassified to equity as the shares vest. Under 
the 2006 Plan’s early exercise feature, the Company may have had the opportunity to repurchase 180 and 214 shares as of December 31, 2013 
and 2012, respectively. The Company records cash received from the exercise of unvested stock options as a long-term liability. As of 
December 31, 2013 and 2012, $1,215 and $1,332, respectively, has been recorded as a long-term liability on the condensed consolidated balance 
sheets.  

In February 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted and stockholders approved the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (“2013 Plan”), 
under which 4,500 shares have been reserved for issuance. Additionally, all reserved and unissued shares under the 2006 Plan at the time the 
2013 Plan became effective are eligible for issuance under the 2013 Plan. The 2013 Plan became effective on March 21, 2013, at which time the 
Company ceased to grant equity awards under the 2006 Plan. The 2013 Equity Incentive Plan authorizes the award of stock options, restricted 
stock awards, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units, performance awards and stock bonuses to the Company’s employees, directors, 
consultants, independent contractors and advisors. On January 1 of each of the first 10 calendar years through 2023, the number of shares 
reserved under the 2013 Plan will automatically increase by an amount equal to 5% of the total outstanding shares as of the immediately 
preceding December 31, or such lesser number of shares as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors.  

Under the 2006 Plan and the 2013 Plan, the term of options granted may not exceed ten years. Unless the terms of an optionee’s stock 
option agreement provide otherwise, if an optionee’s service relationship with the  
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     December 31,   
     2013      2012   
Common stock issuable upon exercise of warrants       —           114    
Options available for future grant under stock option plans       4,585         724    
Options outstanding under stock option plans       4,855         4,314    
Shares available for future issuance under ESPP       854         —      
Conversion of convertible preferred stock       —           18,804    

                      

     10,294         23,956    
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Company, or any of its affiliates, ceases for any reason other than disability or death, the optionee may exercise the vested portion of any options 
for three months after the date of such termination. If an optionee’s service relationship with the Company, or any of its affiliates, ceases due to 
disability or death (or an optionee dies within a certain period following cessation of service), the optionee or a beneficiary may exercise any 
vested options for a period of 12 months. In no event, however, may an option be exercised beyond the expiration of its term.  

A summary of activity under the 2006 Plan and the 2013 Plan is as follows:  
   

The intrinsic value of options exercised during 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $5,693, $2,266, and $545, respectively. The total estimated fair 
value of options vested during 2013, 2011 and 2012 was $3,110, $1,572, and $559, respectively.  
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     Options Outstanding   

     

Number of 
 

Shares     

Weighted 
 

Average  
Exercise 

Price      

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining 
Contractual 

 
Term  

(in Years)       

Aggregate 
 

Intrinsic  
Value   

Balances at December 31, 2010       2,486      $ 1.14         5.54       $ 3,174    
                 

  

Options granted       1,399        2.53         7.23       
Options exercised       (607 )      1.31         —         
Options forfeited and cancelled       (278 )      1.65         —         

                                   

Balances at December 31, 2011       3,000        1.71         6.23       $ 10,575    
                 

  

Options granted       2,046        7.48         8.34       
Options exercised       (518 )      3.23         —         
Options forfeited and cancelled       (214 )      3.66         —         

                                   

Balances at December 31, 2012       4,314        4.17         7.11       $ 34,439    
                 

  

Options granted       1,594        11.98         9.26       
Options exercised       (618 )      2.42         —         
Options forfeited and cancelled       (435 )      8.60         —         

         
  

        
  

         
  

   

Balances at December 31, 2013       4,855      $ 6.56         7.85       $ 20,593    
         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

Options exercisable as of December 31, 2013       4,067      $ 5.75         7.58       $ 19,974    
         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

Options vested as of December 31, 2013       2,199      $ 3.32         6.78       $ 15,321    
         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

Options vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 
2013       4,637      $ 6.40         7.80       $ 20,279    
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The following table summarizes information about shares subject to stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2013:  
   

In February 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders approved the 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“2013 ESPP”), 
under which 1,000 shares have been reserved for issuance. The 2013 ESPP became effective on March 22, 2013. The 2013 ESPP provides 
generally for six-month purchase periods and the purchase price for shares of stock purchased under the 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 
will be 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the common stock on (i) the first trading day of the applicable offering period and (ii) the 
last trading day of each purchase period in the applicable offering period. On January 1 of each of the first 10 calendar years following the first 
offering date, the number of shares reserved under the 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan will automatically increase by an amount equal to 
1% of the total outstanding shares as of immediately preceding December 31, but not to exceed 700 shares, unless the Board of Directors, in its 
discretion, determines to make a smaller increase. During 2013, 146 shares were issued under the 2013 ESPP.  

9. Stock-Based Compensation  

For stock options and offerings under the 2013 ESPP granted by the Company, stock-based compensation cost is measured at grant date 
based on the fair value of the award and is expensed over the requisite service period. The Company recorded stock-based compensation of 
$5,218, $4,948, and $697 for 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimate the fair value of options. This model requires the input of highly 
subjective assumptions including the expected term of the option, expected stock price volatility and expected forfeitures. The Company used the 
following assumptions:  
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     Options Outstanding   

Range of Exercise Prices    
Number  

Outstanding      

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining  
Contractual  

Life (in years)   
$0.14 – $0.82       676         4.89    
$2.39 – $2.70       1,245         7.07    
$5.20 – $7.55       1,381         8.40    
$9.61 – $11.82       333         9.61    
$12.12 – $14.18       1,220         9.11    

         
  

   

     4,855       
         

  

   

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   

Dividend yield       —          —          —      
Expected volatility       55.0 %      57.0 %      56.7 %  
Risk-free interest rate       1.27 %      0.95 %      2.02 %  
Expected life of options (in years)       6.25        6.25        6.25    
Forfeiture rate  

     7.0 %      
3.2% –

 7.0 %      
3.0% –

 8.0 %  
Weighted-average grant-date fair value     $ 6.41      $ 4.37      $ 1.61    
Weighted-average grant-date exercise price     $ 11.98      $ 7.48      $ 2.53    
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As the Company has limited historical option exercise data, the expected term of the stock options granted to employees under the 2006 
Plan was calculated based on the simplified method. Under the simplified method, the expected term is equal to the average of an option’s 
weighted-average vesting period and its contractual term. Pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) Staff Accounting 
Bulletin (“SAB”) No. 110, the Company is permitted to continue using the simplified method until sufficient information regarding exercise 
behavior, such as historical exercise data or exercise information from external sources, becomes available. The Company estimates the expected 
volatility of its common stock on the date of grant based on the historical stock volatilities of similar publicly-traded entities over a period equal 
to the expected terms of the options, as the Company does not have sufficient trading history to use the volatility of its own common stock. The 
Company has no history or expectation of paying cash dividends on its common stock. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury 
yield for a term consistent with the expected life of the options in effect at the time of grant.  

Cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options were $1,541, $1,624, and $791 during 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.  

Compensation expense is recognized ratably over the requisite service period. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, there was $11,597 and 
$8,563, respectively, of unrecognized compensation cost related to options, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period 
of 2.7 and 2.9 years, respectively.  

Prior to the consummation of the IPO, given the lack of an active public market for the Company’s outstanding Common and preferred 
stock, the Company’s Board of Directors established an estimate of fair value for these securities as well as for options and warrants to purchase 
these securities. The fair value of the Company’s common stock as used in the determination of the exercise price of stock options was estimated 
by the Board of Directors based on factors such as the liquidation preference, dividends and other rights of the outstanding preferred stock; 
recent financial and operating performance; the status of the Company’s development and sales efforts, revenue growth and additional 
objectives; the likelihood and proximity of an initial public offering; and the valuation of comparable companies that are publicly traded.  

For awards that are expected to result in a tax deduction, a deferred tax asset is established as the Company recognizes compensation 
expense. If the tax deduction exceeds the cumulative recorded compensation expense, the tax benefit associated with the excess deduction is 
considered a windfall benefit. The excess tax benefit from share compensation plans is recorded in additional paid-in capital and classified as a 
financing cash flow on the consolidated statements of cash flows. The Company has elected to use the “with and without” approach as described 
in ASC 740-20, “Intraperiod Tax Allocation,” in determining the order in which tax attributes are utilized. As a result, the Company will only 
recognize a tax benefit from stock-based awards in additional paid-in capital if an incremental tax benefit is realized after all other tax attributes 
currently available to the Company have been utilized.  

Employee Stock Purchase Plan  

The Company estimates the fair value of purchase rights under the ESPP using the Black-Scholes valuation model. The fair value of each 
purchase right under the ESPP was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model and the straight-line 
attribution approach with the following assumptions:  
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Dividend yield       —      
Expected volatility       51% – 56%    
Risk-free interest rate       0.81% – 1.64%    
Expected life of options (in years)       0.50 – 0.65    
Forfeiture rate       7.0%    



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

Marin Software Incorporated  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  

(dollars and share numbers in thousands, except per share data)  
   
   

10. Income Taxes  

The components of the Company’s loss before provision for income taxes were as follows:  
   

The components of the provision for income taxes were as follows:  
   

The Company has incurred operating losses and has recorded a full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets (except for the 
deferred tax assets associated with the Company’s subsidiary in the United Kingdom) for all periods to date and, accordingly, has not recorded a 
provision for income taxes for any of the periods presented other than provisions for foreign and state income taxes.  

The differences in the total provision for income taxes that would result from applying the 34% federal statutory rate to loss before 
provision for income taxes and the reported provision for income taxes were as follows:  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
United States of America     $ (24,197 )    $ (27,423 )    $ (17,791 )  
International       (11,163 )      1,162        507    

                               

   $ (35,360 )    $ (26,261 )    $ (17,284 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
Current income tax provision         

Federal     $ —        $ —        $ —      
State       26        19        8    
Foreign       557        310        131    

                               

Total current income tax provision       583        329        139    
                               

Deferred income tax provision (benefit)         
Federal       —          —          —      
State       —          —          —      
Foreign       (91 )      (108 )      —      

                               

Total deferred income tax provision (benefit)       (91 )      (108 )      —      
         

  
        

  
        

  

Provision for income taxes     $ 492      $ 221      $ 139    
         

  

        

  

        

  

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
Tax benefit at U.S. statutory rate     $ (12,022 )    $ (8,929 )    $ (5,877 )  
State income taxes, net of federal benefit       19        19        8    
Foreign income and withholding taxes       4,382        (184 )      (41 )  
Stock-based compensation       863        458        171    
Change in valuation allowance       4,437        9,082        5,839    
Research and development credits       (776 )      (823 )      —      
Uncertain tax positions       1,499        —          —      
Provision to return adjustments       1,894        328        —      
Other       196        270        39    

                               

   $ 492      $ 221      $ 139    
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Major components of the Company’s deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 are as follows:  
   

As a result of certain realization requirements of accounting guidance for stock compensation, the table of deferred tax assets and liabilities 
shown above does not include certain deferred tax assets at December 31, 2013, and 2012 that arose directly from tax deductions related to 
equity compensation in excess of compensation recognized for financial reporting. Additional paid-in capital will be increased by $1,204 if and 
when such benefits are ultimately realized and reduce taxes payable.  

The Code, as amended, imposes restrictions on the utilization of net operating losses in the event of an “ownership change” of a 
corporation. Accordingly, a company’s ability to use net operating losses may be limited as prescribed under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 
(“IRC Section 382”). Events which may cause limitations in the amount of the net operating losses that the Company may use in any one year 
include, but are not limited to, a cumulative ownership change of more than 50% over a three-year period. Utilization of the federal and state net 
operating losses may be subject to substantial annual limitation due to the ownership change limitations provided by the IRC Section 382 and 
similar state provisions. An analysis was conducted through December 31, 2013 to determine whether an ownership change had occurred since 
inception. The analysis indicated that because an ownership change occurred in a prior year, federal and state net operating losses of $184 and 
$214, respectively, were significantly limited pursuant to IRC Section 382. In the event the Company has subsequent changes in ownership, net 
operating losses and research and development credit carryovers could be further limited and may expire unutilized.  

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $77,156 and $66,666, 
respectively. The federal net operating loss carryforward will begin expiring in 2026 and the state net operating loss carryforward will begin 
expiring in 2016. As of December 31, 2013, the  
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     December 31,   
     2013     2012   
Current       

Accruals and reserves     $ 1,816      $ 1,509    
Stock-based compensation       151        64    
Other       (64 )      41    

                     

Current deferred tax assets       1,903        1,614    
Valuation allowance       (1,853 )      (1,578 )  

                     

Total current deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance       50        36    
                     

Noncurrent       
Net operating loss       27,355        25,901    
Accruals and reserves       149        81    
Research and development credits       3,391        1,622    
Stock-based compensation       452        192    
Property and equipment       914        552    
Other       94        —      

                     

Noncurrent deferred tax assets       32,355        28,348    
Valuation allowance       (32,205 )      (28,276 )  

                     

Total non-current deferred tax asset, net of valuation allowance     $ 150      $ 72    
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Company had federal and state research and development credits of approximately $2,816 and $2,418, respectively. The federal research and 
development credits will begin expiring in 2026. The state research and development credits are not currently subject to expiration. On 
January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law. As part of the act, the research and development credit was 
retroactively extended. Accordingly, the Company did not record a federal research and development credit for 2012. While the applicable credit 
for 2012 was considered in 2013, no financial statement benefit was recorded as the Company applies a valuation allowance against the credit 
generated.  

The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance against its otherwise recognizable deferred income tax assets as of December 31, 
2013 and 2012 (except for the deferred income tax assets associated with the Company’s subsidiary in the United Kingdom). The Company has 
determined, after evaluating all positive and negative historical and prospective evidence, that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax 
assets will not be realized. The valuation allowance increased by $4,205, $10,951, and $6,840 during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 
and 2011, respectively.  

The Company files U.S. state and foreign income tax returns in jurisdictions with varying statutes of limitations. In the normal course of 
business, the Company is subject to examination by taxing authorities throughout the world. These audits include questioning the timing and 
amount of deduction, the nexus of income among various tax jurisdictions and compliance with state, local and foreign tax laws. The Company 
is not currently under any examination by the U.S. state or foreign tax authorities. Because of net operating loss and credit carry forwards, all of 
the Company’s tax years dating to inception in 2006 remain open to examination.  

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company did not have any unrecognized tax benefits that if recognized would impact the annual 
effective tax rate. During 2013, 2012 and 2011, the Company did not recognize any interest or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits. The 
aggregate changes in the balance of gross unrecognized tax benefits were as follows:  
   

The Company does not anticipate that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits relating to tax positions existing at December 31, 2013 will 
significantly increase or decrease within the next twelve months.  

U.S. income taxes and foreign withholding taxes associated with the repatriation of earnings of foreign subsidiaries were not provided for 
on a cumulative total of $1,184 of undistributed earnings for certain foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013. The Company intends to 
reinvest these earnings indefinitely in its foreign subsidiaries. If these earnings were distributed to the United States in the form of dividends or 
otherwise, or if the shares of the relevant foreign subsidiaries were sold or otherwise transferred, the Company would be subject to additional 
U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits) and foreign withholding taxes. Determination of the amount of unrecognized 
deferred income tax liability related to these earnings is not practicable.  

11. Net Loss Per Share Available to Common Stockholders  

Basic net loss per share available to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss available to common stockholders by the 
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period.  
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Beginning balance as of January 1, 2013     $  508    
Increase in balances related to tax positions taken during the current period       580    

           

Ending balance as of December 31, 2013     $ 1,088    
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Net loss available to common stockholders is calculated using the two class method as net loss less the preferred stock dividend for the period 
less the amount of net loss, if any, allocated to the preferred stock based on weighted preferred stock outstanding during the period relative to 
total stock outstanding during the period. As the Company’s convertible preferred stockholders do not have the contractual obligations to share 
in the losses of the Company, no loss has been allocated to the convertible preferred stockholders in the determination of net loss available to 
common stockholders. The weighted-average number of shares of common stock used to calculate the Company’s basic net loss per share 
available to common stockholders excludes those shares subject to repurchase related to unvested common shares and stock options that were 
exercised prior to vesting as these shares are not deemed to be outstanding for accounting purposes until they vest. The diluted net loss per share 
of common stock is computed by dividing the net loss using the weighted-average number of shares of common stock, excluding common stock 
subject to repurchase, and, if dilutive, potential shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Potential shares of common stock consist 
of common stock subject to repurchase and stock options to purchase common stock and warrants to purchase convertible preferred stock (using 
the treasury stock method) and the conversion of the Company’s convertible preferred stock (using the “if converted” method).  

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net loss per share:  
   

The following table presents the potential common shares outstanding that were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per 
share available to common stockholders for the periods presented because including them would have been anti-dilutive:  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013     2012     2011   
Numerator:         

Net loss available to common stockholders     $ (35,852 )    $ (26,482 )    $ (17,423 )  
                               

Denominator:         
Weighted average number of shares, basic and diluted       26,312        4,417        4,058    

                               

Net loss per share available to common stockholders         
Basic and diluted net loss per common share available to 

common stockholders     $ (1.36 )    $ (6.00 )    $ (4.29 )  
         

  

        

  

        

  

     
Years Ended  
December 31,   

     2013      2012      2011   
Convertible preferred stock       —           18,753         14,470    
Options to purchase common stock       4,855         4,314         3,000    
Common stock subject to repurchase       180         284         291    
Convertible preferred stock warrants       —           51         51    
Common stock warrants       —           63         37    

                                 

     5,035         23,465         17,849    
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12. Segment Reporting  

The Company defines the term “chief operating decision maker” to be the Chief Executive Officer. The Chief Executive Officer reviews 
the financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and evaluation of financial performance. 
Accordingly, the Company has determined that it operates as a single operating segment.  

Revenues by geographic area, based on the billing location of the customer, were as follows:  
   

Long-lived assets by geographic area were as follows:  
   

13. Commitments and Contingencies  

Operating Leases  

Rent expense for 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $6,811, $4,741, and $2,373, respectively.  

The Company has leased office space in San Francisco, London, Austin, Texas, Chicago, Dublin, Hamburg, Mountain View, California, 
New York, Paris, Portland, Oregon, Singapore, Sydney, Tokyo and Shanghai under noncancelable operating leases, which expire between 2014 
and 2018. Additionally, the Company leases the space utilized for data center operations.  

Future minimum lease payments for significant operating leases as of December 31, 2013 were as follows:  
   

Legal Matters  

From time to time, the Company may be involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceedings, consisting of intellectual property, 
commercial, employment and other matters, which arise in the ordinary course  
   

F-26  

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2013      2012      2011   
United States of America     $ 52,725       $ 43,429       $ 26,673    
International       24,590         16,129         9,448    

                                 

Total revenues, net     $ 77,315       $ 59,558       $ 36,121    
         

  

         

  

         

  

     December 31,   
     2013      2012   
United States of America     $ 14,050       $ 8,839    
International       367         385    

                      

Total long-lived assets, net     $ 14,417       $ 9,224    
         

  

         

  

Years Ended     
2014     $ 5,690    
2015       2,270    
2016       717    
2017       735    
2018       124    

           

   $ 9,536    
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of business. In accordance with GAAP, the Company records a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount 
of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These provisions are reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impact of negotiations, 
settlements, ruling, advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. Litigation is inherently 
unpredictable. If any unfavorable ruling were to occur in any specific period or if a loss becomes probable and estimable, there exists the 
possibility of a material adverse impact on the Company’s results of operations, financial position or cash flows.  

Indemnification  

The Company enters into standard indemnification agreements in the ordinary course of business. Pursuant to the agreements, each party 
may indemnify, defend and hold the other party harmless with respect to such claim, suit or proceeding brought against it by a third party 
alleging that the indemnifying party’s intellectual property infringes upon the intellectual property of the third party, or results from a breach of 
the indemnifying party’s representations and warranties or covenants, or that results from any acts of negligence or willful misconduct. The term 
of these indemnification agreements is generally perpetual any time after execution of the agreement. The maximum potential amount of future 
payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited. Historically, the Company has not been 
obligated to make significant payments for these obligations and no liabilities have been recorded for these obligations on the consolidated 
balance sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.  

The Company also indemnifies its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while the officer or 
director is or was serving at the Company’s request in such capacity. The maximum amount of potential future indemnification is unlimited; 
however, the Company has a Directors and Officers insurance policy that limits its exposure and enables the Company to recover a portion of 
any future amounts paid. Historically, the Company has not been obligated to make any payments for these obligations and no liabilities have 
been recorded for these obligations on the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012.  

Other Contingencies  

The Company is subject to claims and assessments from time to time in the ordinary course of business. The Company’s management does 
not believe that any such matters, individually or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows.  

14. Employee Benefit Plans  

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined contribution plan covering all employees in the United States. The Board of Directors determines 
contributions made by the Company annually. The Company made no contributions under this plan for 2013, 2012 and 2011.  

15. Related Party Transactions  

In October 2013, the Company appointed James Barrese to the Board of Directors. Mr. Barrese is the Chief Technology Officer of PayPal, 
Inc,, which is a customer of the Company. During 2013 and 2012, the Company recorded total revenues of $163 and $79, respectively, through 
its subscription agreements with PayPal, Inc. and their affiliate eBay Inc. No revenue was recorded though subscription agreements with these 
entities during 2011.  
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16. Subsequent Events  

Option Grants  

Under the terms of the 2013 Plan and the 2013 ESPP, the shares available for issuance increased by 1,648 and 329, respectively, on 
January 1, 2014. In January and February 2014, the Board of Directors granted stock options to purchase 86 shares of common stock at an 
exercise price equal to the closing trading price per share on the date of the Board’s approval. The stock options generally vest over four years.  
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 28, 2014.  
   

POWER OF ATTORNEY  

KNOW ALL BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Christopher A. Lien and 
John A. Kaelle, and each of them, as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, each with the full power of substitution, for him and in his 
name, place or stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this report, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other 
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of 
them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as 
fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or 
their or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities 
and on the date indicated:  
   

MARIN SOFTWARE INCORPORATED 

By:   /s/ JOHN A. KAELLE 

  
John A. Kaelle  

Chief Financial Officer  

Name    Title   Date 

/s/ Christopher A. Lien 
   

Chief Executive Officer  
(principal executive officer)    

February 28, 2014 

/s/ John A. Kaelle 
   

Chief Financial Officer (principal  
financial and accounting officer)    

February 28, 2014 

/s/ Paul Auvil    Director    February 28, 2014 

/s/ L. Gordon Crovitz    Director    February 28, 2014 

/s/ Bruce Dunlevie    Director    February 28, 2014 

/s/ Donald Hutchison    Director    February 28, 2014 

/s/ James Barrese    Director    February 28, 2014 

/s/ Allan Leinwand    Director    February 28, 2014 
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Herewith      Description of Document     Form    File No.    Exhibit    Filing Date    

3.1    Restated Certificate of Incorporation.    10-Q    001-35838    3.1    5/9/2013    

3.2    Restated Bylaws.    10-Q    001-35838    3.2    5/9/2013    

4.1    Form of Common Stock Certificate.    S-1    333-186669    4.1    3/15/2013    

4.2 

   

Amended and Restated Investors Rights’ Agreement, dated as of 
January 25, 2012, by and among the Registrant and certain of its 
stockholders, as amended.    

S-1 

   

333-186669 

   

4.2 

   

2/13/2013 

   

10.1    Form of Indemnification Agreement.    S-1    333-186669    10.1    3/4/2013    

10.2# 
   

2006 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of stock option agreement and 
stock option exercise agreement.    

S-1 
   

333-186669 
   

10.2 
   

2/13/2013 
   

10.3# 

   

2013 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of stock option agreement, stock 
option exercise agreement, restricted stock agreement, and restricted 
stock unit award agreement.    

S-1 

   

333-186669 

   

10.3 

   

3/4/2013 

   

10.4# 
   

2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and form of subscription 
agreement.    

S-1 
   

333-186669 
   

10.4 
   

3/4/2013 
   

10.5 
   

Office Lease, dated as of January 7, 2011, by and between the 
Registrant and 123 Mission, LLC, as amended.    

S-1 
   

333-186669 
   

10.6 
   

2/13/2013 
   

10.6 
   

Master Services Agreement, dated as of August 3, 2009, by and 
between the Registrant and Switch Communications Group L.L.C.    

S-1 
   

333-186669 
   

10.7 
   

2/13/2013 
   

10.7 

   

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of 
December 9, 2011, by and among the Registrant, Marin Software 
Limited and Silicon Valley Bank, as amended.    

10-Q 

   

001-35838 

   

10.8 

   

11/7/2013 

   

10.8# 
   

Form of Severance and Change in Control Agreement between the 
Registrant and each of the executive officers.    

S-1 
   

333-186669 
   

10.9 
   

3/11/2013 
   

10.9# 
   

Offer Letter, dated as of February 15, 2011, by and between the 
Registrant and John Kaelle                

  X    

21.1    Subsidiaries of the Registrant.                  X    

23.1    Consent of independent registered public accounting firm.                  X    

31.1 
   

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), as 
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.                

  X    
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Filed  
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Filing  
Date    

31.2 
   

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a), 
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002                

  X    

32.1* 

   

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002.                

  X    

32.2* 

   

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002.                

  X    

101.INS    XBRL Instance Document                  X    

101.SCH    XBRL Taxonomy Schema Linkbase Document                  X    

101.CAL    XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document                  X    

101.DEF    XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document                  X    

101.LAB    XBRL Taxonomy Labels Linkbase Document                  X    

101.PRE    XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document                  X    

* As contemplated by SEC Release No. 33-8212, these exhibits are furnished with this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are not deemed filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission and are not incorporated by reference in any filing of the Registrant under the Securities Act of 
1933 or the Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in 
such filings. 

# Represents a management contract or compensatory plan. 
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February 15, 2011  

Mr. John Kaelle  

Offer of Employment by Marin Software Incorporated  

Dear John:  

I am very pleased to confirm our offer to you of employment with Marin Software Incorporated (the “ Company ”) in the position of Executive 
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. In this position you will report to me in my role as Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Your 
start date shall be as you and I mutually agree. I ask that you decide to accept our offer on or before February 16, 2011. The terms of our offer 
and the benefits currently provided by the Company are as follows:  

1. Salary . Your starting salary will be at the annualized rate of $225,000 (less normal payroll deductions and withholdings). Your base 
salary shall be reviewed on an annual basis. In addition, you shall be eligible for an annual performance-based bonus. For 2011, your on-target 
bonus shall be $67,500 based on your attainment of mutually agreed business goals that we put in place by June 30, 2011, prorated for your 
months of actual employment in 2011. For bonuses in subsequent years, we shall put in place mutually agreed business goals by March 31 of 
each respective year. To the extent earned, your annual bonus will be payable in the first payroll date of the following fiscal year provided you 
are continuously employed with the Company through such payment date. For example, assuming continuous employment with the Company, 
your 2011 bonus to the extent earned would be payable on the first payroll date in 2012 (i.e., January 2012).  

2. Benefits . In addition, you will be eligible to participate in regular health, vision and dental insurance, 401(k), and other employee 
benefit plans established by the Company for its employees from time to time. Except as expressly provided herein, the Company reserves the 
right to change or otherwise modify, in its sole discretion, the preceding terms of employment, as well as any of the terms set forth herein at any 
time in the future. The Company agrees to provide you with 20 days per year of paid time off (PTO) in addition to regular Company holidays. 
The Company also reimburses 50% of monthly parking expenses if you choose to drive to work or 50% of monthly commuting expenses if you 
do not drive (bus, train or ferry expenses as the case may be). In addition, the Company will reimburse you for the business use of your cell 
phone or other similar device including data service as well as all other agreed business expenses.  

3. Confidentiality . As an employee of the Company, you will have access to certain confidential information of the Company and you 
may, during the course of your employment, develop certain information or inventions that will be the property of the Company. To protect the 
interests of the Company, you will need to sign the Company’s standard “Employee Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement” as a 
condition of your employment. We wish to impress upon you that we do not want you to, and we hereby direct you not to, bring with you any 
confidential or proprietary material of any former employer or to violate any other obligations you may have to any former employer. During the 
period that you render services to the Company, you agree to not engage in any employment, business or activity that is in any way competitive 
with the business or proposed business of the Company. You will not assist any other person or organization in competing with the Company or 
in preparing to engage in competition with the business or proposed business of the Company. You  



  

Mr. John Kaelle  
February 15, 2011  
Page 2 of 6  
   
represent that your signing of this offer letter and the Company’s Employee Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement and your 
commencement of employment with the Company will not violate any agreement currently in place between yourself and current or past 
employers.  

4. Severance .  

If your employment by the Company is Terminated without Cause (as defined below) you will be eligible to receive the following 
severance benefits (subject to the conditions below):  

(1) a severance payment in the amount equal to six (6) months of your final base pay rate, and less applicable withholding taxes and 
regular deductions (“Severance”);  

(2) the post-termination exercise period for your Company stock options will be extended from three (3) months to twelve (12) months 
following your termination date; and  

(3) if you are covered under the Company’s group health plan as of the termination date and timely elect to continue your group coverage 
under COBRA, the Company will reimburse you upon submission of written proof of premium payment for up to six (6) months of the 
applicable COBRA premiums as COBRA is provided in accordance with the terms of the applicable plans and the law, beginning on the first of 
the month following the Company’s receipt of your COBRA election notice and ending on the earlier of (i) the date you become covered under 
another group or individual health plan, or (ii) the last day of the six-month period described above. You will be solely responsible for making 
your premium payments pursuant to COBRA in order to maintain such coverage, and the Company shall not be responsible for making any 
direct payments to any health care or insurance provider on your behalf.  

Your receipt of the foregoing severance benefits is conditioned on you having first executed, and not revoked, a non-disparagement 
agreement and general release of claims in favor of the Company (in a form prescribed by the Company) (“ Release ”) and the return of all 
Company property. The Severance will be paid in six (6) equal monthly installments in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll 
procedures, commencing on the sixtieth (60th) day following your “separation from service,” as defined under Section 409A of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ”) (subject to a six-month delay if you are a “specified employee” as defined under the Treasury 
Regulations under Section 409A of the Code and such delay is required to avoid the penalty taxes that otherwise may be imposed by 
Section 409A of the Code), provided the Release is effective at such time and the first Severance installment payment shall include all amounts 
accrued up to the date of the first installment payment. For purposes of this letter, a termination of employment will be determined consistent 
with the rules relating to a “separation from service” as defined in Section 409A of the Code and the regulations thereunder (“Section 409A”). 
To the extent that any provision of this letter is ambiguous as to its compliance with Section 409A, the provision will be read in such a manner 
so that all payments hereunder comply with Section 409A. Payments pursuant to this letter are intended to constitute separate payments for 
purposes of Section 1.409A-2(b)(2) of the Treasury Regulations. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, to the extent any expense 
reimbursement or the provision of any in-kind benefit under this letter is determined to be subject to Section 409A of the Code, the amount of 
any such expenses eligible for reimbursement, or the provision of any in-kind benefit, in one calendar year shall not affect the expenses eligible 
for reimbursement in any other taxable year (except for any lifetime or other aggregate limitation applicable to medical expenses), in no  
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event shall any expenses be reimbursed after the last day of the calendar year following the calendar year in which you incurred such expenses, 
and in no event shall any right to reimbursement or the provision of any in-kind benefit be subject to liquidation or exchange for another benefit.  

5. Options .  

(a) We will recommend to the Board of Directors of the Company that you be granted, under the Company’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, 
as amended (the “ Plan ”), an option to purchase that number of shares equal to 1.0% of the Company’s fully diluted capitalization immediately 
following the earlier of (i) the closing of the Company’s next preferred stock financing (which is anticipated to involve the offer and sale of 
Series E Preferred Stock of the Company), or (ii) August 15, 2011 (the “ Shares ”), with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the 
Company’s Common Stock as determined by the Board of Directors on the date of grant, which is expected to be following the receipt of a 
current valuation of the Company’s Common Stock after the closing of the above financing. The Shares subject to the option will, for so long as 
you remain continuously employed by the Company, become vested according to the following four-year schedule (subject to adjustment as 
described below); (i) 25.0% of the shares will be vested as of one year from your employment start date (the “ First Vesting Date ”); and 
(ii) thereafter at the end of each full succeeding calendar month, 2.0833% of the total shares will become vested.  

(b) Stock Option Agreements . Following approval by the Board of Directors of the above option, the Company will provide you with a 
stock option agreement, which will govern the terms of the option. Subject to approval of the Board of Directors, the Company’s standard stock 
option agreement shall be amended to provide you with certain Change of Control benefits as described below. For avoidance of doubt, this 
language shall be incorporated into your stock option agreement and is as follows:  

Change of Control Benefits . In the event that, within twelve (12) months following the closing of a Change of Control (as defined 
below), your continuous status as an employee of the Company is Terminated without Cause or is Constructively Terminated (as defined 
below), and conditioned on you having first executed, and not revoked, a Release, the vesting of fifty percent (50%) of your unvested stock 
options (including the Shares) shall immediately accelerate as of the effectiveness of such termination and (2) you shall receive the 
Severance in accordance with paragraph 4 above.  

For purposes of this letter, a “ Change of Control ” means a (i) consolidation, reorganization or merger of the Company with or into any 
other entity or entities in which the holders of the Company’s outstanding shares immediately before such consolidation, reorganization or 
merger do not, immediately after such consolidation, reorganization or merger, retain stock or other ownership interests representing a 
majority of the voting power of the surviving entity or entities as a result of their shareholdings in the Company immediately before such 
consolidation, reorganization or merger; or (ii) a sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets that is followed by a distribution of 
the proceeds to the Company’s stockholders.  

For purposes of this letter, your employment by the Company or any successor entity to the Company shall be deemed to have been “ 
Terminated without Cause ” in the event that your employment by the Company or any such successor entity is terminated other than by 
you for  
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any reason other than any one or more of the following reasons: (i) your continued refusal or material failure to perform your material 
duties reasonably expected of you in connection with your arrangement to provide services to the Company or any parent, subsidiary or 
successor entity to the Company, as applicable, after you are given notice and a reasonable opportunity to cure (not to exceed 15 days); 
(ii) unprofessional, unethical or fraudulent conduct or conduct that materially discredits Company or any parent, subsidiary or successor 
entity to the Company, as applicable, or is materially detrimental to the reputation, character or standing of Company or any parent, 
subsidiary or successor entity to the Company, as applicable; (iii) dishonest conduct with respect to a material matter, or a deliberate 
attempt to do an injury to Company or any parent, subsidiary or successor entity to the Company, as applicable; (iv) your material breach 
of any material term of this letter or any other agreement between you and the Company or any parent, subsidiary or successor entity to the 
Company, as applicable; (v) a criminal act which would reflect badly on Company or any parent, subsidiary or successor entity to the 
Company, as applicable; or (vi) your death or total disability (for these purposes you shall be deemed totally disabled if, in the judgment of 
a licensed physician, you are physically or mentally incapacitated or disabled or otherwise unable to fully discharge your duties as a 
service provider to the Company or any parent, subsidiary or successor entity to the Company, as applicable, for a period of 90 consecutive 
days or for 90 days in any 180 calendar day period).  

For purposes of this letter, your employment by the Company or any successor entity to the Company shall be deemed to have been “ 
Constructively Terminated ” in the event that your employment by the Company or any such successor entity is terminated by you within 
30 days of and for any one or more of the following reasons: (a) a material reduction in your annual compensation, including base salary 
and bonus, unless (i) you consent thereto in your discretion, or (ii) the minimum annual salaries of all Company executive officers are 
similarly reduced; (b) a material reduction in your responsibilities not agreed to by you; (c) the failure by the Company or any successor 
entity to the Company to comply in any material respect with any material term of this letter or (d) a requirement that you relocate your 
primary workplace to an office more than 45 miles from the Company’s current headquarters, provided, however, in the event of the 
occurrence of a condition listed above constituting Constructively Terminated, you must provide notice to the Company within ninety 
(90) days of the occurrence of such condition listed above and allow the Company thirty (30) day in which to cure such condition. 
Additionally, in the event the Company fails to cure the Constructively Terminated condition within the cure period provided, you must 
terminate employment with the Company within thirty (30) days of the end of the cure period.  

(c) Board Approval Required . The grant by the Company of the stock option specified above is subject to the Board of Directors’ 
approval, and the references to the recommendation for such approval is not a promise of compensation and, prior to such approval, is not 
intended to create an obligation on the part of the Company.  

6. At Will Employment . While we look forward to a profitable relationship, should you decide to accept our offer, you will be an at-will 
employee of the Company, which means the employment or other relationship can be terminated by either of us for any reason, at any time, with 
or without prior notice and with or without cause. You should regard any statements or representations to the contrary (and, indeed, any 
statements contradicting any provision in this letter) as ineffective. Further, your participation in any stock option or benefit program is not to be 
regarded as assuring you  



  

Mr. John Kaelle  
February 15, 2011  
Page 5 of 6  
   
of continuing employment or service for any particular period of time. Any modification or change in your at-will employment status may only 
occur by way of a written employment agreement signed by you and an authorized officer of the Company (other than you), and approved by the 
Company’s Board of Directors.  

7. Authorization to Work . Please note that because of employer regulations adopted in the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986, 
within three (3) business days of starting your new position you will need to present documentation demonstrating that you have authorization to 
work in the United States.  

8. Arbitration . You and the Company shall submit to mandatory and exclusive binding arbitration of any controversy or claim arising out 
of, or relating to, this letter or any breach hereof, provided , however , that the parties retain their right to, and shall not be prohibited, limited or 
in any other way restricted from, seeking or obtaining equitable relief from a court having jurisdiction over the parties. Such arbitration shall be 
governed by the Federal Arbitration Act and conducted through the American Arbitration Association in the State of California, San Francisco 
County, before a single neutral arbitrator, in accordance with the National Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes of the American 
Arbitration Association in effect at that time. The parties may conduct only essential discovery prior to the hearing, as defined by the AAA 
arbitrator. The arbitrator shall issue a written decision that contains the essential findings and conclusions on which the decision is based. You 
shall bear only those costs of arbitration you would otherwise bear had you brought a claim covered by this letter in court. Judgment upon the 
determination or award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. In addition to any other award, the 
arbitrator shall award the prevailing party attorneys’ fees, costs and arbitration costs, incurred by the prevailing party as a result of the 
arbitration.  

9. Successors, Binding Agreement . This letter shall not automatically be terminated by the voluntary or involuntary dissolution of the 
Company or by any merger or consolidation, whether or not the Company is the surviving or resulting corporation, or upon any transfer of all or 
substantially all of the assets of the Company. In the event of any such merger, consolidation or transfer of assets, the provisions of this letter 
shall bind and inure to the benefit of the surviving or resulting corporation, or the corporation to which such assets shall have been transferred, as 
the case may be; provided, however, that the Company will require any successor to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the 
Company, by agreement in form and substance satisfactory to you, to expressly assume and agree to perform this letter in the same manner and 
to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform it if no such succession had taken place.  

10. Miscellaneous . This letter shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of California without giving effect 
to California’s choice of law rules. No waiver of any term of this letter constitutes a waiver of any other term of this letter. This letter may be 
amended only in writing by an agreement specifically referencing this letter which is signed by both you and the Company. In the event that a 
court or other trier of fact invalidates one or more terms of this letter, all the other terms of this letter shall remain valid and enforceable.  



  

Mr. John Kaelle  
February 15, 2011  
Page 6 of 6  
   

11. Acceptance . If you decide to accept our offer, and I hope you will, please sign the enclosed copy of this letter in the space indicated 
and return it to me. Your signature will acknowledge that you have read and understood and agreed to the terms and conditions of this offer letter 
and the attached documents, if any. Should you have anything else that you wish to discuss, please do not hesitate to email me or to call me at 
(415) 399-2585 (or my mobile at (415) 828-1010 including any time over the weekend).  

John, we look forward to your joining Marin’s leadership team.  

Very truly yours,  
   

I have read and understood this offer letter and hereby acknowledge, accept and agree to the terms as set forth above and further acknowledge 
that no other commitments were made to me as part of my employment offer except as specifically set forth herein.  
   

/s/ Christopher Lien      
Christopher Lien, Founder and CEO       

/s/ John Kaelle      
John Kaelle       Date signed: 2/15/11 



Exhibit 21.1 

List of Subsidiaries of Marin Software Incorporated  
   
Wholly-Owned Subsidiary    Jurisdiction 

Marin Software Irish Holding Limited    Ireland 
Marin Software Limited    Ireland 
Marin Software Limited (United Kingdom)    United Kingdom 
Marin Software GmbH    Germany 
Marin Software SARL    France 
Marin Software K.K.    Japan 
Marin Software Pte. Ltd.    Singapore 
Marin Software Pty Ltd.    Australia 
Marin Software (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.    People’s Republic of China 



Exhibit 23.1 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-187459) of Marin Software 
Incorporated of our report dated February 28, 2014 relating to the financial statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
San Jose, California  
February 28, 2014  



EXHIBIT 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER UNDER SECTION 302 OF  

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, Christopher A. Lien, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Marin Software Incorporated; 

  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
the period covered by this report; 

  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report; 

  4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

  
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure con trols and procedures to be designed under 

our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

  
c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

  
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

  
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 



Date: February 28, 2014  
   

  
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/ Christopher A. Lien  
Christopher A. Lien 
Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer)  



EXHIBIT 31.2 

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER UNDER SECTION 302 OF  

THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, John A. Kaelle, certify that:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

  1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Marin Software Incorporated; 

  
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 

to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to 
the period covered by this report; 

  
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 

respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
report; 

  4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have: 

  
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

  
b. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 

about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and 

  
c. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

  
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions): 

  
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 



Date: February 28, 2014  
   

  
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/ John A. Kaelle  
John A. Kaelle 
Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer ) 



EXHIBIT 32.1 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, Christopher A. Lien, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 
that:  
   

   

Date: February 28, 2014  
   

  (1) the Annual Report of Marin Software Incorporated on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (the “ Report ”) fully 
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

  (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
Marin Software Incorporated. 

By:   /s/ Christopher A. Lien  
  Christopher A. Lien 
  Chief Executive Officer 
  (Principal Executive Officer) 



EXHIBIT 32.2 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER  

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, John A. Kaelle, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  
   

   

Date: February 28, 2014  
   

   
   
   
   

  (1) the Annual Report of Marin Software Incorporated on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013 (the “ Report ”) fully 
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

  (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
Marin Software Incorporated. 

By:   /s/ John A. Kaelle  
  John A. Kaelle 
  Chief Financial Officer 
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 


